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Extensive presence in 
Central and Eastern Europe

Austria
Branches: 766
Customers: 4.2 million
Employees: 16,188

Croatia
Branches: 131
Customers: 1.3 million
Employees: 3,291

Hungary
Branches:  98
Customers: 1.0 million
Employees: 3,359

Serbia
Branches: 87
Customers: 0.5 million
Employees: 1,310

Czech Republic
Branches: 366
Customers: 4.5 million
Employees: 9,829

Romania
Branches: 322
Customers: 2.8 million
Employees: 5,444

Slovakia
Branches:  178
Customers: 2.0 million
Employees: 3,520

Core markets of Erste Group
Indirect presence in CEE



 

Income statement (in EUR million) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Net interest income 47468 47748 49757 59506 72279 
Net fee and commission income 20001 19768 23037 24524 26396 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL 2938 1995 2318 -473 4486 
Operating income 72559 71551 77420 85706 105516 
Operating expenses  -42833 -42205 -43065 -45749 -50196 
Operating result   29727 29346 34355 39958 55320 
Impairment result from financial instruments -392 -12948 -1588 -2995 -1278 
Other operating result -6282 -2783 -3105 -3985 -4679 
Pre-tax result from continuing operations 23297 13680 29334 32224 47948 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 14701 7831 19234 21647 29976 
            
Net interest margin (on average interest-bearing assets) 218% 208% 205% 221% 250% 
Cost/income ratio  590% 590% 556% 534% 476% 
Provisioning ratio (on average gross customer loans) 002% 078% 009% 015% 006% 
Tax rate 180% 250% 179% 173% 182% 
Return on tangible equity 112% 51% 127% 138% 172% 
Earnings per share (in EUR) 323 157 417 483 680 

Balance sheet (in EUR million) Dec 19 Dec 20 Dec 21 Dec 22 Dec 23 

Cash and cash balances 10693 35839 45495 35685 36685 
Trading financial assets 44295 46849 53211 59833 63690 
Loans and advances to banks 23055 21466 21001 18435 21432 
Loans and advances to customers 160270 166050 180268 202109 207828 
Intangible assets 1368 1359 1362 1347 1313 
Miscellaneous assets 6012 5830 6090 6456 6206 
Total assets 245693 277394 307428 323865 337155 
Financial liabilities held for trading 2421 2625 2474 3264 2304 
Deposits from banks 13141 24771 31886 28821 22911 
Deposits from customers 173846 191070 210523 223973 232815 
Debt securities issued 30371 30676 32130 35904 43759 
Miscellaneous liabilities 5437 5840 6902 6599 6864 
Total equity 20477 22410 23513 25305 28502 
Total liabilities and equity 245693 277394 307428 323865 337155 
            
Loan/deposit ratio 922% 869% 856% 902% 893% 
NPL ratio 25% 27% 24% 20% 23% 
NPL coverage ratio (based on AC loans ex collateral) 771% 886% 909% 946% 851% 
Texas ratio 199% 203% 183% 164% 166% 
Total own funds (CRR final in EUR million) 21961 23643 24758 26184 29094 
CET1 capital ratio (CRR final) 137% 142% 145% 142% 157% 
Total capital ratio (CRR final) 185% 197% 191% 182% 199% 

About the share 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Shares outstanding at the end of the period 429800000 429800000 429800000 429800000 421662859 
Weighted average number of outstanding shares 426565097 426324725 426246662 427019261 425951928 
Market capitalisation (in EUR billion)   144 107 178 129 158 
High (in EUR)   3707 356 4195 4498 3723 
Low (in EUR)   2823 1534 2480 2166 2819 
Closing price (in EUR)   3356 2494 4135 2990 3673 
Price/earnings ratio   98 137 92 59 52 
Dividend per share (in EUR)   000 150 160 190 270 
Payout ratio   00% 964% 387% 396% 393% 
Dividend yield   00% 60% 39% 64% 74% 
Book value per share (in EUR) 329 340 367 398 456 
Price/book ratio   10 07 11 08 08 

Additional information Dec 19 Dec 20 Dec 21 Dec 22 Dec 23 

Employees (full-time equivalents) 47284 45690 44596 45485 45723 
Branches 2373 2193 2091 2029 1948 
Customers (in million) 166 161 161 161 162 

CRR: Capital Requirements Regulation  

Shares outstanding include Erste Group shares held by savings banks that are members of the Haftungsverbund (cross-guarantee system). At year-end 2023, the shares bought back under the share buyback programme were 

taken into account. 

Key financial and operating data  
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Financial data



1 Erste employees private foundation, syndicated savings banks foundations, own holdings of savings banks 
2 Unidentified institutional and retail investors
3 Incl. market makers, prime brokerage, proprietary trading, collateral and stock lending positions which are visible through custodian banks.

The financial calendar is subject to change. The latest updated version is 
available on Erste Group’s website (www.erstegroup.com/investorrelations).

Fitch
Long-term A
Short-term F1
Outlook Stable

Moody´s
Long-term A1
Short-term P-1
Outlook Stable

Standard & Poor´s
Long-term A+
Short-term A-1
Outlook Stable

30 April  Results for the first quarter 2024

12 May Record date Annual General Meeting
22 May Annual General Meeting in Vienna
27 May Ex-dividend day
28 May Record date dividend
29 May Dividend payment

2 August Half-year financial report 2024

31 October Results for the first three quarters 2024

5.64% ERSTE Foundation direct

11.90% Sparkassen Beteiligungs GmbH & Co KG

3.10% Foundations 1

4.08% Wiener Städtische Versicherungsverein

61.41% Institutional investors

6.60% Retail investors

4.05% BlackRock, Inc.

2.65% Unidentified 2

0.57% Identified trading 3

33.08% Austria

28.53% North America

15.39% UK & Ireland

17.57% Continental Europe

2.21% Rest of world

2.65% Unidentified

0.57% Identified trading 3

Financial calendar

Shareholder structure

Ratings 

as of 31 December 2023

as of 31 December 2023

By investors

By region



Non-financial data

* Emission reduction pathways until 2050 in alignment with the 1.5 or 1.75 °C scenario	
CO2e: CO2-equivalents are the sum of all greenhouse gas emissions, e.g. carbon dioxide, methane and nitrogen oxide

Net-Zero Operations
in tonnes CO2e
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31,854

in € million

Energy efficient Real Estate 2,096

Renewable Energy 486

Transportation 127

Other Corporate 241

Total 2,950

Sector Objective*

Mortgages 1.75 °C

Commercial real estate 1.75 °C

Electricity production 1.50 °C

Heat & Steam production 1.50 °C

Oil and gas extraction 1.50 °C

Automotive production 1.50 °C

Iron and steel production 1.50 °C

Cement production 1.50 °C

Coal	 Exit by 2030

New Sustainable FinancingDecarbonisation



Social Banking

ESG Ratings 
as of 31 December 2023

€ 585 million 
Social Banking financing provided

65,000 
Financial education participants

99,000 
preserved or created jobs

AA BLow 
Risk

C
“Prime”

MSCI CDPSustainalytics ISS ESG
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Management board

Maurizio Poletto Ingo Bleier Willi Cernko
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Stefan Dörfler Alexandra Habeler-Drabek David O’Mahony
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Dear shareholders, 

The 2023 fiscal year was again a very successful one for Erste 

Group. With a net profit of EUR 2,998 million, we posted an 

excellent result. Dynamic growth of our key income compo-

nents – net interest income and net fee and commission in-

come – more than offset the inflation-induced rise in costs and 

resulted in a significant improvement in the cost/income ratio. 

Major contributions to this development came from the 

growth in customer loans – up a notable 3.7% in the retail busi-

ness and 5.6% in the corporate business – as well as from the 

normalisation of the interest rate environment: after years of 

negative interest rates, the ECB finally raised its rates to com-

bat inflation. Continued solid asset quality and low risk costs 

also contributed to Erste Group’s profitability. This resulted in 

a further strong improvement in capitalisation: at year-end, the 

common equity tier 1 ratio stood at 15.7%. Overall, we signifi-

cantly exceeded almost all financial goals we had set ourselves 

at the beginning of 2023. 

 

Before going into the details of our economic performance, let 

me briefly outline the economic environment. 

A year marked by subdued growth 
2023 saw a slowdown in global economic growth. In our region 

of Central and Eastern Europe, economic activity was likewise 

impacted by subsiding, yet still elevated inflation and, along 

with it, a restrictive monetary policy environment. Household 

consumption was muted throughout the year. Exports were ad-

versely affected by the weak growth of the main trading part-

ners of the region, which took a toll on industry output. The 

decline in foreign demand was most pronounced in countries 

that are strongly dependent on the German economy such as 

the Czech Republic and Hungary. In Romania and Hungary, 

positive momentum came from agricultural production. Croa-

tia benefited again from the excellent development of its tour-

ism industry and recorded the best economic performance in 

the region. Overall, the 2023 GDP growth rates of CEE coun-

tries ranged between -0.9% in Hungary and 2.5% in Serbia. 

 

Despite the weak economy, labour markets remained very ro-

bust, with Hungary and the Czech Republic reporting the low-

est unemployment rates within the European Union. The Hun-

garian National Bank and the Czech National Bank started to 

cut interest rates in the last quarter of the year. In the eurozone, 

policy rates stood at 4.5% at year-end. While the Czech koruna 

depreciated against the euro, most CEE currencies were rela-

tively stable throughout the year. On 1 January 2023, Croatia 

joined the euro zone as its 20th member, as a result of which 

three out of Erste Group’s seven core markets are now part of 

the eurozone. 

 

Excellent operating result  
What was the effect of these fundamentals on our result? In a 

nutshell: net interest income rose by more than 21% to EUR 7.2 

billion driven by tailwinds that came, most importantly, from 

the rate cycle in the eurozone and customer loan growth in our 

CEE markets. At the same time, net fee and commission in-

come reached a record high at EUR 2.6 billion. The 7.6% rise is 

all the more remarkable as the baseline had already been ele-

vated due to strong growth in previous years. Growth was 

achieved in all core markets and across almost all product cate-

gories, with particularly strong performance in payment ser-

vices and asset management. Overall, we posted EUR 10.6 bil-

lion in operating income, an increase by more than 23% year on 

year. As expected, operating expenses were likewise up, how-

ever, – by almost 10% – to EUR 5 billion. Inflationary pressure 

also had an impact on collective salary negotiations, with per-

sonnel expenses rising to nearly EUR 3 billion. Another block 

of costs – the regulatory costs typical of a bank (payments to 

resolution funds and deposit insurance systems as well as bank-

ing and transaction taxes) – amounted to some EUR 411 million. 

Overall, the strong operating result enabled us to achieve a 

cost/income ratio of 47.6% in 2023, which is excellent for our 

business model. 

Risk costs remain at a low level 
Asset quality remained very good in 2023. The NPL ratio rose 

only moderately from its historic low to 2.3% at the end of the 

year. Overall, (net) allocations to provisions amounted to 

EUR 128 million in 2023, which equals a provisioning ratio of 

6 basis points of average gross customer loans. In addition to 

solid asset quality, another positive contribution came from the 

release of provisions for credit risks driven by updated forward 

looking economic indicators (FLIs) as well as stage overlays for 

cyclical industries and energy-intensive sectors.  

Moderate loan growth 
Given the rise in interest rates and stricter regulations for mort-

gage loans in Austria, it is not surprising that in 2023 loan 

growth was registered mainly in the CEE core markets. In retail 

business, growth momentum was seen mainly in the Czech Re-

public and in Croatia. In 2023, lending to corporate customers 

did not show the same strong performance as in the previous 

year, mostly due to the fact that investment sentiment had been 

adversely affected by the macroeconomic environment. Overall, 

net loan growth therefore came in lower, with volume up 2.8% 

to EUR 233 billion. 

Solid deposit base, low reliance on money and capital 
market funding 
Deposit inflow continued in 2023, with customer deposits 

growing by close to 4%. At a time of elevated inflationary pres-

sure and increasing availability of higher-yielding alternative 

investment options, the stability of deposits from retail cus-

tomers and SMEs is particularly remarkable. Because of its 

business model and solid market positions, Erste Group has a 

large proportion of granular retail customer deposits. At year-

Letter from the CEO 
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end 2023, this group of customers again accounted for more 

than two-thirds of all customer deposits. The changed interest 

rate environment resulted in a partial shift from demand de-

posits to term deposits. At the end of December 2023, the loan-

to-deposit ratio stood at 89.3%. 

 

Similarly encouraging were funding activities in the capital 

markets. Not only the parent company, but also a number of 

local subsidiaries in CEE countries successfully issued bench-

mark bonds in a variety of asset classes and placed these issues 

both locally and internationally. 

Digital progress 
As this topic is very important to me, a few words on the focal 

theme of digitalisation: George plays an important role in pro-

moting digital growth and the digital transformation. The num-

ber of digital users of our digital platform George and digital 

transactions have been rising continuously. Across Erste Group, 

nearly 10 million customers were using George at year-end 

2023. By now, almost half of all retail business products are dis-

tributed digitally. The roll-out of George Business, our solution 

for corporate customers, has been continued. In upgrading IT, 

the focus will remain on the automation of transactions and 

processes and digital data analysis. 

Solid capitalisation and dividend proposal  
Erste Group’s strong capitalisation is another point that I wish 

to highlight once again. In addition to sustainable profitability, a 

strong capital base is essential as it is the precondition for growth 

and the Bank’s ability to pay dividends and secure and/or ex-

pand the range of activities it is able to pursue. At 15.7% as of the 

end of December 2023, the common equity tier 1 ratio (final) 

was substantially above the regulatory minimum requirement 

and our target of 14%. For the 2023 fiscal year, the management 

board will propose a dividend of EUR 2.70 per share at the an-

nual general meeting. In addition, after the successful comple-

tion of a share buyback programme with a volume of EUR 300 

million in February 2024, Erste Group is seeking to launch an-

other such programme with a volume of EUR 500 million (sub-

ject to regulatory approval). 

Sustainability and growth are no contradiction 
Where sustainability is concerned, our strategic priorities are 

based on the conviction that the green transition and social in-

clusion are crucial to the long-term prosperity of our region. We 

report on our strategy, goals, achievements, opportunities and 

risks in the field of sustainability annually in conformity with 

the GRI Standards 2021 and comply with the recommendations 

of the Task Force on Climate Related Financial Disclosures 

(TCFD). At this point, I should like to name at least two 

environment-related ESG goals: we are working to achieve net-

zero operations by 2030. Achieving a net-zero portfolio will take 

a little more time, until 2050. 

 

Further information on Erste Group’s targets and emission re-

duction pathways as well as numerous sustainability initiatives 

and a wide range of ESG performance indicators are provided 

in our non-financial report. 

Outlook for 2024 
In the current fiscal year of 2024, we expect loan growth of 

about 5% on the back of a moderate acceleration of economic 

growth. Combined with negative impacts (depending on the ex-

tent and timing of central bank rate cuts), we expect for 2024 a 

moderate decline of net interest income, by about 3%, after two 

years of enormous growth. Net fee and commission income is 

projected to continue its positive trend and increase by about 

5%. Assuming a rise in operating expenses by about 5%, we be-

lieve that we will be able to achieve a cost/income ratio of 

around 50%. In a largely stable environment, we do not expect 

risk costs to exceed 25 basis points in 2024. In aggregate, this 

should yield a continued solid return on tangible equity (ROTE) 

of approximately 15%. 

 

Time-tested business model and strong strategic 
alignment 

Since Erste Group’s foundation more than 200 years ago, it has 

been our stated goal to help our customers achieve financial in-

dependence and build up prosperity. As a leading banking 

group, we continuously develop our offerings in line with our 

mission: from socially and ecologically responsible financial 

services to financial health and security. I am convinced of 

Erste Group’s potential, its capacity for innovation and its resil-

ience in the face of challenges of all kinds. You may trust that 

my designated successor, Peter Bosek, who will take over the 

helm at the Bank in July, will be working with the well-trained 

and committed employees of Erste Group to keep driving the 

customer business forward in our core markets while also push-

ing ahead with digitalisation and innovation.  

 

It is of special importance to me to thank the employees of Erste 

Group once again for their personal commitment. Our joint ef-

forts have helped us to further strengthen Erste Group’s posi-

tion in the CEE region. The employee share programme offers 

the opportunity to participate in the future success of Erste 

Group like all of our shareholders. 

 

Willi Cernko mp 

 



  Markus Haag, Mariana Kühnel, Jozef Pinter, Christiane Tusek, Martin Grießer, Henrietta Egerth-Stadlhuber, 
Friedrich Santner, Karin Zeisel, Elisabeth Krainer Senger-Weiss, Barbara Pichler (f.l.t.r.)

Supervisory board
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Dear shareholders, 

In the 2023 fiscal year, Erste Group achieved an excellent result. 

Despite the macroeconomic slowdown, Erste Group posted a 

net profit of nearly three billion euro on the back of solid oper-

ating performance and a favourable interest rate and risk envi-

ronment. This performance was supported by Erste Group’s 

strong market position in its seven core markets in Central and 

Eastern Europe – Austria, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Romania, 

Hungary, Croatia and Serbia – as well as the commitment and 

customer service mindset of its employees. Erste Group’s digital 

services successfully evolved further: almost ten million users 

value our digital platform George, and customers benefit from 

ongoing innovative developments, including those relating to 

financial health. The range of digital services for corporate cus-

tomers has likewise been expanded with the continued rollout 

of George Business. 

 

I am particularly pleased that the green transformation and so-

cial and societal commitment constitute integral parts of our 

overall corporate strategy. And we have not only been setting 

targets, but also ambitiously implementing specific measures. 

Given the rapid evolution of artificial intelligence, it is also im-

portant to include this aspect in strategic planning to be able to 

make optimal use of the opportunities being offered by new 

technologies. 

 

Let me also mention another topic – Erste Group’s excellent 

capitalisation, which is not only essential for securing the 

Bank’s future growth but also provides various options. In 2023, 

the first share buyback programme with a volume of EUR 300 

million was adopted (and recently completed). For 2024, an-

other share buy-back programme in the amount of EUR 500 

million is being targeted. Paying dividends to our shareholders 

remains important as well. For the 2023 fiscal year, a dividend 

of EUR 2.70 per share is being proposed. This will also benefit 

thousands of employees who in 2023 took part for the first time 

– or again – in the We-Share by Erste Group employee share 

programme. 

 

The composition of the management board remained un-

changed in 2023, with Willi Cernko as CEO. With the manage-

ment board mandates of Chief Financial Officer Stefan Dörfler, 

Chief Risk Officer Alexandra Habeler-Drabek and Chief Plat-

form Officer Maurizio Poletto having been extended until 

31 December 2027, Erste Group Bank AG has been able to re-

tain successful managers who have contributed significantly to 

Erste Group Bank AG’s very positive performance in recent 

years. The supervisory board is looking forward to continuing 

this successful collaboration in the years ahead. 

 

As CEO Willi Cernko’s mandate as chairman of the board is due 

to expire in 2024, the supervisory board, having conducted an 

international search and a careful and competitive selection 

process, resolved in October 2023 to appoint a renowned 

manager as his successor: as of 1 July 2024, Peter Bosek, a 

banker with extensive experience, will take over the position of 

CEO from Willi Cernko. In his professional career to date, Peter 

Bosek has already held various management positions both at 

Erste Group’s Holding and at Erste Bank Oesterreich. Most re-

cently, he gained international experience serving as CEO of a 

European credit institution. 

 

Erste Group’s supervisory board currently consists of eighteen 

members (twelve shareholder representatives elected by the 

shareholders and six employee representatives delegated by the 

employees’ council). The members of the supervisory board 

contribute extensive experience gained across a variety of in-

dustries and come with a wide range of professional knowledge, 

international experience and practical expertise. I am particu-

larly pleased that at present more women than men are holding 

mandates (ten versus eight). 

 

2023 saw a number of changes on the supervisory board: Chris-

tiane Tusek was newly elected to the supervisory board by the 

2023 annual general meeting. In addition, the 2023 annual gen-

eral meeting resolved to extend the mandate of András Simor 

until the 2026 annual general meeting and that of Friedrich 

Santer until the 2027 annual general meeting. 

 

Hikmet Ersek resigned from his supervisory board mandate as 

of 11 October 2023. András Simor left Erste Group’s supervisory 

board as of 15 January 2024, thus already in the current fiscal 

year. The delegation of Jozef Pinter as an employees’ repre-

sentative on the supervisory board was therefore revoked by the 

employees’ council as of January 2024. I wish to thank all three 

former supervisory board members most cordially for their ded-

icated work. With their experience and their expertise, they 

have contributed to the development of Erste Group as a lead-

ing bank in Central Europe. 

 

For further information about the composition and indepen-

dence of the supervisory board, the criteria for its independence, 

its working procedures, the number and type of committees 

and their decision-making powers, the meetings of the supervi-

sory board and the main focus of its activities, please refer to 

the (consolidated) corporate governance report drawn up by the 

management board and reviewed by the supervisory board. 

 

As regards the activities of the audit committee, please also re-

fer to its separate report. In the course of a total of 49 supervi-

sory board and committee meetings, the management board 

promptly and comprehensively informed the supervisory board. 

This allowed us to act in accordance with the mandate laid 

down in the law, the articles of association and the Austrian 

Code of Corporate Governance, as well as to ascertain the 

proper conduct of business. 

 

Report of the supervisory board 
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The financial statements (consisting of the balance sheet, in-

come statement and notes) and the management report as well 

as the consolidated financial statements and the group manage-

ment report for 2023 were audited by Sparkassen-

Prüfungsverband, the legally mandated auditor, and by PwC 

Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH, the elected supplementary auditor, 

and received an unqualified audit opinion. Representatives of 

both auditors attended the financial statements review meet-

ings of the audit committee and the supervisory board and pre-

sented their comments on the audits they had conducted. Based 

upon its own review, the supervisory board endorsed the find-

ings of these audits and agreed to the proposal for appropriation 

of the profit of the 2023 fiscal year. 

 

PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH was also mandated with the 

voluntary audit of the (consolidated) corporate governance re-

port for 2023 as well as with the audit of the (consolidated) non-

financial report for 2023. 

 

The supervisory board has approved the financial statements, 

and these have thereby been duly endorsed in accordance with 

section 96 para 4 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act  

(Aktiengesetz). The management report, consolidated finan-

cial statements, group management report, (consolidated) cor-

porate governance report and the (consolidated) non-financial 

report have also been reviewed by the supervisory board and 

accepted on the basis of the audit reports received by the su-

pervisory board. 

 

We thank the management board and all employees of Erste 

Group for their great dedication and exceptional commitment, 

which enabled Erste Group to offer our customers the best pos-

sible support and to post a very successful result for the year 2023. 

 

For the supervisory board, 

Friedrich Rödler mp, Chairman of the supervisory board 

Vienna, March 2024 
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Dear shareholders, 

The audit committee is one of seven committees established by 

the supervisory board. Its mandate is derived from the law, the 

rules of the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance and its 

rules of procedure. As of 31 December 2023, the audit commit-

tee comprised six shareholder representatives and three mem-

bers delegated by the employees’ council. 

 

In 2023, the audit committee met seven times and, in addition, 

held one informal meeting to prepare the meeting on the audit 

of the (consolidated) financial statements. The meetings were 

attended by those management board members responsible for 

accounting, controlling and risk management as well as the 

representatives of Erste Group Bank AG’s auditors and, as re-

quired, representatives of the auditors of key (foreign) subsidi-

aries. The appropriate division heads were invited to attend as 

permanent guests or to attend as guests in discussions on spe-

cific agenda items. The chair of the audit committee and the 

financial expert regularly conducted one-on-one meetings with, 

amongst others, the auditors (Sparkassen-Prüfungsverband as 

the legally mandated bank auditor and PwC as additional audi-

tor elected by the annual general meeting), members of the 

management board, the head of internal audit, the head of 

group compliance and with other division heads as required. 

The supervisory board was informed of the committee’s activi-

ties and the subject matters of its meetings and discussions at 

the respective subsequent supervisory board meetings. 

 

For Erste Group, 2023 was a highly successful year despite the 

challenging environment. It was marked by geopolitical con-

flicts, continuing elevated inflation rates and consequently high 

interest rates as well as dampened economic growth. All this 

had an impact on the work of the audit committee and was con-

sidered by the audit committee members with the required care 

and diligence in exercising their duties. Among other things, 

the supervisory board also tasked the audit committee with re-

viewing the (consolidated) non-financial report. 

 

In 2023, the audit committee specifically considered the follow-

ing topics: after receipt of the auditors’ report on the (Group) 

financial statements for 2022, the audit committee held the fi-

nal discussion, reviewed the (Group) financial statements and 

the (Group) management report, the (consolidated) non-finan-

cial report as well as the (consolidated) corporate governance 

report and recommended to the supervisory board the approval 

of the annual financial statements and distribution of a divi-

dend as proposed by the management board. The additional re-

port of the auditors pursuant to Article 11 of Regulation (EU) 

No 537/2014 was taken note of. 

 

With regard to non-financial reporting, the audit committee 

prepared a proposal for the engagement of an external auditor 

and the subjects to be reviewed by such auditor. The audit com-

mittee moreover satisfied itself that the measures needed for 

meeting CSRD requirements had been taken and appropriate 

procedures had been established. 

 

The head of the internal audit department reported on the audit 

subjects and material audit findings for the year 2022 and, on 

an ongoing basis, about audit-relevant matters in the Group. 

The effectiveness of the Anti Money Laundering compliance 

function was acknowledged by the audit committee for the first 

time and the first BCBS 239 (data quality management) report 

was issued. The audit committee continuously reviewed and 

monitored the independence of the auditors of the (consoli-

dated) financial statements with a particular focus on non-audit 

services rendered for Erste Group. The audit committee gave 

pre-approval to permissible non-audit services provided by the 

(Group) auditor and received reports on their current status. 

 

Key audit matters relating to subsidiaries were likewise dis-

cussed in depth and commented on with regard to their impact 

on the Group financial statements. In its additional function as 

audit committee of Erste Digital GmbH pursuant to Section 30g 

para 4a(3) GmbHG (Austrian Act on Limited Liability Compa-

nies), it recommended that the supervisory board of Erste Dig-

ital GmbH advise the shareholders’ meeting of Erste Digital 

GmbH to approve the annual financial statements, give its con-

sent to the management board’s proposal for the appropriation 

of profit and take note of the management report of the share-

holders’ meeting of Erste Digital GmbH. 

 

After on-site inspections conducted by supervisory authorities, 

the audit committee took note of the respective audit reports 

and the plan to address the supervisory authorities’ findings 

and, where necessary, requested to be briefed on the current sta-

tus of implementation. The joint supervisory team of the regu-

latory authorities was informed about the audit committee’s 

work in a meeting with the chair of the audit committee and 

the chair of the supervisory board. 

 

Further information on the activities of the audit committee 

and its composition is contained in the (consolidated) corporate 

governance report prepared by the management board and re-

viewed by the supervisory board. 

 

For the audit committee, 

Christine Catasta mp  

Report of the audit committee 
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International equity markets closed the year 2023 with signifi-

cant gains. The previous year had seen high inflation rates 

driven by rising price levels and supply bottlenecks in commod-

ities as well as continued rate hikes by central banks. In 2023, 

the financial markets were again affected by geopolitical events, 

interest rate policies, inflation and economic development. The 

major central banks (US Federal Reserve, Fed, and the European 

Central Bank, ECB) continued their rate hikes well into the third 

quarter. Slowly but steadily subsiding inflation rates and expec-

tations of moderate global growth had a positive impact on eq-

uity markets while geopolitical conflicts (most notably the war 

in Ukraine and the conflict in the Middle East) and soaring gov-

ernment bond yields in the US and in Europe had an adverse 

effect. Expectations that a recession would not materialise and 

declining inflation rates raised hopes for an imminent end to the 

central banks’ rate hike cycles, triggering a year-end rally in the 

equity markets that pushed a number of indices to new highs. 

EQUITY MARKET REVIEW 

Equity markets solidly up 

After the setbacks in the previous year, the equity markets 

covered posted double-digit gains, with just a few exceptions. 

Indices rose significantly, most notably in the fourth quarter, 

as the rate-hike cycle had peaked, rate cuts were being antici-

pated in the near future and companies released solid reve-

nues and earnings forecasts for 2024. In the US, the Dow Jones 

Industrial Average Index was boosted by the year-end rally, 

hitting a new all-time high and ending the reporting period at 

37,689.54 points, up 13.7% versus year-end 2022. The broader 

Standard & Poor’s 500 Index advanced 24.2% to 4,769.83 

points year-on-year. In Europe, the Euro Stoxx 600 Index in-

creased by 12.7% in the course of 2023, closing the year at 

479.02 points. The German DAX equity market index likewise 

marked an all-time high at year-end, having risen by 20.3% to 

16,751.64 points. Over the past year, it was primarily technol-

ogy shares that recorded significant gains. The US technology 

index Nasdaq was up 43.4% to 15,011.35. In Asia, the picture 

was mixed. While the Japanese Nikkei Index advanced by ap-

proximately 28%, the Chinese Shanghai Shenzen CSI300 In-

dex declined by about 11%. 

Tight monetary policies expected to end 

In response to inflationary pressure, the central banks had 

phased out their zero-rate policies already before 2023 and 

taken resolute action to contain historically strong increases of 

price levels, which were fuelled primarily by the high cost of 

energy and food. Leading central banks kept hiking their rates 

well into the third quarter of the 2023 reporting year. In its last 

rate hike to date in late July, the eleventh within 16 months, the 

US Fed set the range for its effective policy rate at 5.25% to 5.50% 

and has since left it unchanged. The ECB raised its policy rate 

in a total of ten rate hikes – the final one in September – to 4.50%. 

As inflationary pressure subsided, the Fed signalled an end to 

its rate hike cycle and hinted at first rate cuts in 2024. The ECB 

will wait and see how inflation is going to develop before an-

nouncing any future moves. 

Global economy growing moderately 

The global economy proved more resilient than expected in the 

first half of 2023, but slowed down later in the year amid tighter 

funding conditions, lacklustre trade growth and lower business 

and consumer confidence. Risks to short-term forecasts include 

increased geopolitical tensions and stronger-than-expected im-

pacts of monetary tightening. Global growth furthermore still 

depends heavily on the development of Asian economies (most 

importantly China). The International Monetary Fund (IMF) 

has forecast worldwide economic growth of 3.1% in 2023 and in 

2024. With inflation continuing to subside and real incomes go-

ing up, the IMF expects global growth of 3.2% in 2025. For the 

eurozone countries, the IMF projected a growth rate of 0.5% for 

2023 (2024: 0.9%, 2025: 1.7%); for the US, growth of 2.5% for 

2023 (2024: 2.1%, 2025: 1.7%). The German economy, whose 

performance continues to be a major factor for the economies 

of Central and Eastern Europe, slightly contracted in 2023, and 

is expected to grow by 0.5% in 2024 and 1.6% in 2025. 

2023 was a good year for bank shares 

After the losses sustained in the markets in the previous year, 

banks were among the preferred industries in 2023. Despite a 

slowing economy and tighter financing conditions, banks ben-

efited from higher interest rates. Rising rates supported the de-

posit and lending business, leading to wider margins and im-

proved profitability. Uncertainty in the banking sector stem-

ming from the insolvencies of three US credit institutions and 

turmoil surrounding Credit Suisse in the first quarter of 2023 

were only short-lived due to quick intervention by the supervi-

sory authorities. In the year ended, the Dow Jones Euro Stoxx 

Bank Index, which is composed of the leading European bank 

shares, rose by 23.5% to 118.38 points. 

Vienna Stock Exchange lagging behind 
global equity markets 

After the Austrian equity market had lost around 19% in the 

previous year, the Austrian Traded Index (ATX) gained 9.9% in 

the course of 2023 and ended the trading year at 3,434.97 points, 

thus underperforming international indices. Geopolitical 

Erste Group on the capital markets 
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tensions, most notably the ongoing war in Ukraine, led to more 

caution among international investors and hence a more sub-

dued development of share prices. 

ERSTE GROUP SHARE 

Double-digit gains 

After the setbacks suffered in the previous year, the Erste Group 

share posted significant gains in the year ended and closed the 

reporting period at EUR 36.73, up 22.8%. The Erste Group share 

marked its 2023 high at EUR 37.23 on 4 December and its low 

at EUR 28.19 on 24 March. The key factors driving the share 

price were a positive view of the industry, results beating ana-

lysts’ expectations as well as an upward revision of targets for 

the year 2023. The focus of market participants was also on fore-

casts for 2024, including the return on tangible equity (ROTE), 

future banking taxes and, last but not least, expectations about 

capital distributions. 

 

 

Employee share programme 

After the successful implementation of the employee share pro-

gramme in the previous year, Erste Group employees again had 

the opportunity to buy Erste Group shares under the employee 

share programme in 2023. In 2023, approximately 35,000 em-

ployees participated in this programme (previous year: 30,000). 

The successful continuation of the programme resulted in a fur-

ther strengthening of Erste Mitarbeiterbeteiligung Privatstif-

tung (Erste Employee Foundation), in which the voting rights 

of the shares acquired under the employee share programme 

are combined and exercised in a uniform manner. 

Performance of the Erste Group share 
versus indices 

  
Erste Group 

share ATX 
DJ Euro Stoxx 

Banks Index 

Since IPO (Dec 1997) 2314% 1692% - 
Since SPO (Sep 2000) 2126% 1940% -663% 
Since SPO (Jul 2002) 1108% 1816% -529% 
Since SPO (Jan 2006) -184% -118% -688% 
Since SPO (Nov 2009) 267% 318% -480% 
2023 228% 99% 235% 

IPO … initial public offering, SPO … secondary public offering. 

Share buyback programme 

On 12 May 2023, the annual general meeting of Erste Group de-

cided on a share buyback programme with a volume of up to 

EUR 300 million. After the ECB had given its approval in early 

August, the buyback of own shares started on 16 August 2023 

and was completed on 16 February 2024. A total of 8,887,092 

own shares were repurchased. The cancellation of the repur-

chased own shares in the companies register took effect on 24 

February 2024. The number of own shares decreased accordingly.  

Number of shares, market capitalisation 
and trading volume 

In the year ended, the number of shares of Erste Group Bank 

AG remained unchanged at 429,800,000. At year-end 2023, 

Erste Group’s market capitalisation stood at EUR 15.8 billion, 

up 22.5% on year-end 2022 (EUR 12.9 billion). In February 2024, 

the number of shares following the completed share buyback 

programme changed to 420,912,908. 

 

Erste Group is listed on the stock exchanges of Vienna, Prague 

and Bucharest. Its main stock exchange is Vienna, where in the 

year ended its trading volume averaged 1,169,113 shares per day. 

Sustainability indices and ratings 

The Erste Group share has been part of VÖNIX, the Vienna 

Stock Exchange's sustainability index, since its launch in 2005. 

Since 2011, the Erste Group share has been included in the 

STOXX Global ESG Leaders Index, which represents the best 

sustainable companies worldwide on the basis of the STOXX 

Global 1800. Since 2016, the Erste Group share has been in-

cluded in the FTSE4Good Index Series, since 2017 in the Eu-

ronext Vigeo Index (since 2023: Moody’s Analytics) Euro-

zone 120. In addition, Erste Group has held prime status in the 

ISS ESG corporate ratings since 2018. MSCI has rated Erste 

Group with AA. Sustainalytics has assessed Erste Group to be 

Performance of the Erste Group share and major 
indices (indexed)

Erste Group Share Austrian Traded Index (ATX) DJ Euro Stoxx Banks

31 December 20231 January 2023
50

150

100
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at low risk of experiencing material financial impacts from ESG 

factors. In 2023, Erste Group participated in the CDP (Carbon 

Disclosure Project) rating for the second time; its sustainability 

measures were affirmed at B. 

Dividend 

Erste Group’s dividend policy is guided by the Bank’s profitabil-

ity, growth outlook and capital requirements. We target a pay-

out ratio in the range of 40-50% based on reported net profit, net 

of AT1 coupons. The 30th annual general meeting that took 

place on 12 May 2023 was held with in-person attendance. The 

annual general meeting resolved to distribute a dividend of 

EUR 1.90 per share for the 2022 fiscal year, which was paid out 

on 19 May 2023. For the 2023 fiscal year, the management is 

planning a dividend of EUR 2.70 per share. 

RATINGS OF ERSTE GROUP BANK AG 

Moody’s upgraded Erste Group’s rating to A1/P-1 in 2023, con-

firming a stable outlook. Standard & Poor’s (A+/A-1) and Fitch 

(A/F1) left their ratings unchanged in 2023, each with a stable 

outlook. 

FUNDING ACTIVITIES 

As it had done in the previous year, Erste Group opened up the 

capital markets for financial institutions by issuing a covered 

bond. The EUR 1 billion mortgage covered bond with a 6-year 

tenor priced at MS+20bps was followed, just one week later, by 

a EUR 750 million 8NC7 callable Green Senior Preferred note 

(MS+125bps).  
 

After the capital markets’ turmoil of March 2023, Erste Group 

issued a EUR 1 billion mortgage-covered bond with a 4.5-year 

tenor priced at MS+20bps, thereby proving its solid access to 

the capital markets. In May, Erste Group returned to the capital 

markets with a EUR 750 million Senior Preferred note. The 

7NC6 transaction was priced at MS+125bps. 

 

The peak of the funding year was the new issuance of a 

EUR 500 million perpNC5.6 8.5% transaction, which was an-

nounced at the same time as a buyback offer for an existing 

AT1 issue. The buyback offer was taken up by 66% of investors 

and contributed significantly to the optimisation of the debt 

structure. 

 

The funding year 2023 closed in November upon issuance of a 

EUR 750 million mortgage-covered bond with a 5.5-year tenor 

(MS+40bps). 

INVESTOR RELATIONS 

Open an regular communication with 
investors and analysts 

In the year ended, the management and the investor relations 

team met with investors in a total of 244 one-on-one and group 

meetings. Questions raised by investors and analysts were an-

swered both at events with in-person attendance and virtually 

during telephone or video conferences. For the first time since 

2019, the presentation of the 2022 annual result in Vienna was 

again followed by an analysts’ dinner and a road show day with 

investor meetings in London. Road shows were likewise con-

ducted in Europe and the US after the release of first and third 

quarter results. Erste Group presented its performance and 

strategy against the backdrop of the current environment at in-

ternational banking and investor conferences organised by the 

Vienna Stock Exchange, HSBC, PKO, Morgan Stanley, Con-

corde, RCB, UBS, Deutsche Bank, Bank of America, Goldman 

Sachs, Barclays, mBank and Wood. 63 meetings were held to 

intensify the dialogue with bond investors. A large number of 

face-to-face meetings with analysts and portfolio managers 

were held at conferences, road shows and investors’ days hosted 

by the European Covered Bond Council (ECBC), LBBW, UBS, 

Citigroup, Danske Bank and Barclays. The website 

https://www.erstegroup.com/en/investors provides compre-

hensive information on Erste Group and the Erste Group share. 

Investors and the broader public can follow the investor rela-

tions team on the social media platform X (formerly Twitter) at 

https://www.x.com/ErsteGroupIR. This site provides users 

with the latest news on Erste Group on the social web. More 

details on the social media channel, the news/reports subscrip-

tion and reminder service are available at 

https://www.erstegroup.com/en/investors/ir-service. 

Analyst recommendations 

In 2023, 21 analysts regularly released research reports about 

Erste Group. The Erste Group Bank AG share was covered by 

financial analysts at the following national and international 

firms: Autonomous, Bank of America, Barclays, Carraighill, 

Citigroup, Concorde, Deutsche Bank, Exane BNP, Goldman 

Sachs, HSBC, JP Morgan, JT Banka, KBW, Kepler Cheuvreux, 

mBank, Mediobanca, PKO, RBI, Société Générale, UBS and 

Wood. As of the end of the year, 17 analysts had issued buy 

recommendations, three had rated the Erste Group share as 

neutral and one as underperform. The average year-end target 

price stood at EUR 46.3. The latest updates on analysts’ esti-

mates for the Erste Group share are posted at 

https://www.erstegroup.com/en/investors/share/analyst-esti-

mates. 
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We strive to be the leading retail and corporate bank in the 

eastern part of the European Union, including Austria. To 

achieve this goal, we aim to support our retail, corporate and 

public sector customers in realising their ambitions and ensur-

ing financial health by offering excellent financial advice and 

solutions, lending responsibly and providing a safe harbour for 

deposits. 

 

As a competent and reliable partner for our customers and 

with our business activities anchored in the real economy, we 

will continue to contribute to economic growth and financial 

stability and thus to the prosperity of our region. Accordingly, 

we take our social responsibility seriously, and we are also 

firmly determined to take a leading role in the green transfor-

mation of the economy. 

 

In all of our core markets in the eastern part of the European 

Union, we pursue a balanced business model focused on 

providing the best banking services to each of our customers. 

In this respect, digital innovations are playing an increasingly 

important and inclusive role. 

 

Sustainability of the business model is reflected in our ability 

to fund customer loans by customer deposits, with most cus-

tomer deposits being stable retail deposits. Sustainability of our 

strategy is reflected in long-term client trust, which underpins 

strong market shares in almost all of our core markets. How-

ever, market leadership is not an end in itself. Market leader-

ship creates value only when it goes hand in hand with positive 

economies of scale and contributes to the long-term success of 

the company.  

 

The banking business, however, should not only be run profit-

ably, but should also reflect its corporate responsibility towards 

all material stakeholders, in particular customers, employees, 

society and the environment. Therefore, we pursue the banking 

business in a socially responsible manner and aim to earn an 

adequate premium on the cost of capital. 

 

 
 

STRATEGY IN DETAIL 

The basis of our banking operations is retail and corporate cus-

tomer business in the eastern part of the European Union, in-

cluding Austria. The capital markets and interbank activities as 

well as public sector business are defined more broadly to be 

able to meet our customers’ needs as effectively as possible. 

Long-standing tradition in customer 
banking 

Erste Group has been active in retail business since 1819. This 

is where the largest part of our capital is tied up, where we gen-

erate most of our income and where we fund the overwhelming 

part of our core activities by drawing on our customers’ depos-

its. Offering attractive, easy-to-understand products and 

Strategy 
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services that meet the individual needs and objectives of bank 

customers is important in building and maintaining strong 

long-term customer relationships. 

RETAIL BUSINESS 

Our key business is retail business, and it represents our 

strength. It is our top priority when developing products such 

as modern digital banking that enable us to meet customers’ 

expectations more effectively. 

 

Our retail business covers the entire spectrum from lending, 

deposit and investment products to current accounts and credit 

cards. Our core competence in retail banking has historical 

roots. In 1819, wealthy Viennese citizens donated funds to es-

tablish Erste Group’s predecessor, the first savings bank in Cen-

tral Europe. It was their aim to bring basic banking services 

such as safe savings accounts and mortgage loans to wide sec-

tions of the population. Today, we serve a total of approxi-

mately 16.2 million customers in our markets and operate 

about 1,950 branches. Wealthy private clients, trusts and foun-

dations are served by our private banking staff and benefit from 

services that are tailored to the needs of this target group. 

 

In addition, we use and promote digital distribution channels 

such as the Internet and mobile banking, not only to meet the 

increasing importance of digital banking, but to actively shape 

the digital future. George plays an important role in this. 

 

Retail banking is attractive to us for a number of reasons: It of-

fers a compelling business case that is built on market leader-

ship, an attractive risk-reward profile and the principle of self-

funding. In addition, it benefits from a comprehensive range of 

products that are simple and easy to understand and provide 

substantial cross-selling potential. We take advantage of these 

factors in all core markets and make best use of our resulting 

position of strength by pursuing a hybrid business model. In 

addition to the expansion of digital sales channels, the branch 

network remains an important component of the business 

strategy. Only a retail bank that offers modern digital services 

and operates an extensive distribution network is able to offer 

tailor-made solutions and fund loans in local currency (e.g. 

housing financing) mainly from deposits made in the same cur-

rency. Therefore, our retail banking model supports sustainable 

and deposit-funded growth even in economically more chal-

lenging times. Another positive factor is the diversification of 

the retail business across countries that are at differing stages 

of economic development, such as Austria, the Czech Republic, 

Romania, Slovakia, Hungary, Croatia and Serbia. 

CORPORATE BUSINESS 

The second main business line, which also contributes signifi-

cantly to our earnings, is business with small and medium-

sized enterprises, regional and multinational groups and real 

estate companies. Our goal is to enhance relationships with our 

clients beyond pure lending business. Specifically, our goal is 

for SMEs and large corporate customers to choose Erste Group 

as their principal bank and also route their payment transfers 

through our banking entities and, in fact, regard Erste Group 

as their first point of contact for any kind of banking service. 

 

Catering to their different requirements, we serve small and 

medium-sized enterprises locally in branches or separate com-

mercial centres, while multinational groups are serviced by the 

Group Corporates units. This approach permits us to combine 

industry-specific and product expertise with an understanding 

of regional needs and the experience of our local customer re-

lationship managers. In view of regulatory interventions, ad-

vising and supporting corporate customers in capital market 

transactions is becoming increasingly important. 

CAPITAL MARKETS BUSINESS 

Client-driven capital markets activities are also part of the com-

prehensive portfolio of products and services that we offer to our 

retail and corporate customers. The strategic significance of our 

centrally governed and locally rooted capital markets operations 

consists in supporting all other business areas in their dealings 

with the capital markets and, hence, in providing our customers 

with professional access to the financial markets. We therefore 

view our capital markets business as a link between financial 

markets and our customers. As a key capital markets player in 

the region, we also perform important functions such as market 

making, capital market research and product structuring. 

 

Capital markets business serves the needs of our retail and cor-

porate customers as well as those of government entities and fi-

nancial institutions. Due to our strong network in the eastern 

part of the European Union, we have a thorough understanding 

of local markets and customer needs. In our capital markets 

business, too, we concentrate on core markets of retail, SME and 

large corporate business: Austria, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, 

Romania, Hungary, Croatia and Serbia. For institutional cus-

tomers, specialised teams have been established in Germany 

and Poland as well as in Hong Kong and New York that offer 

these customers a tailor-made range of products. 

 

In many countries where we operate, the local capital markets 

are not yet as highly developed as in Western Europe or in the 

United States of America. That means our banking subsidiaries 

are pioneers in some of these markets. Therefore, building 

more efficient capital markets in the region is another strategic 

objective of our capital markets activities. 

PUBLIC SECTOR BUSINESS 

Solid deposit business is one of the key pillars of our business 

model. Customer deposits surpass lending volume in many of 

our geographic markets. Our banking entities make a 
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significant part of this liquidity available as financing to the re-

gion’s public sector entities. In this way, we facilitate essential 

public sector investment. Our public sector customers are pri-

marily municipalities, regional entities and sovereigns that we 

additionally support and advise in capital market issuance, in-

frastructure financing and project financing. Furthermore, we 

cooperate with supranational institutions. In terms of sovereign 

bond investments, we focus on Central and Eastern Europe 

equally. 

 

Adequate transport and energy infrastructure and municipal 

services are absolutely key prerequisites for sustainable eco-

nomic growth in the long term. Therefore, we view infrastruc-

ture finance and all associated financial services to be of ex-

treme importance.  

INTERBANK BUSINESS 

Interbank business is an integral part of our business model 

that performs the strategic function of ensuring that the liquid-

ity needs of our customer business are met. In particular, this 

involves short-term borrowing and lending of liquid funds in 

the interbank market. 

Core markets in the eastern part of the 
European Union 

When Erste Group went public as an Austrian savings bank 

with no meaningful foreign presence in 1997, it defined its 

target region as consisting of Austria and the part of Central 

and Eastern Europe that had realistic prospects of joining the 

European Union. The aim was to benefit from the attractive 

growth prospects in these countries. Against the backdrop of 

emerging European integration and limited potential for 

growth in Austria, Erste Group acquired savings banks and 

financial institutions in countries adjacent to Austria from 

the late 1990s onwards. This part of Europe offered, and still 

offers, the best structural, and therefore long-term, growth 

prospects. 

 

Today, we have an extensive presence in the following core 

markets: Austria, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Romania, 

Hungary and Croatia – all of which are members of the Euro-

pean Union. Following significant investments in our subsid-

iaries, we hold considerable market positions in these coun-

tries. In Serbia, which has been granted European Union can-

didate status, we maintain a minor market presence, but one 

that may be expanded through acquisitions or organic growth 

as the country makes progress towards European Union inte-

gration. In addition to our core markets, we also hold direct 

and indirect majority and minority banking participations in 

Slovenia, Montenegro, Bosnia and Herzegovina and North 

Macedonia. 

Growing importance of innovation and 
digitalisation 

The pace of digital transformation has accelerated considerably 

due to technological changes, demographic developments and 

regulatory interventions. As a result, customer behaviour and 

customer expectations towards financial products have also 

changed significantly. We are convinced that digital banking 

business will continue to gain in importance and will be essen-

tial for the economic success in the long term, and we therefore 

foster digital innovation with the aim of digitalising our bank-

ing products and processes end-to-end. 

 

Our hybrid business model integrates various sales and com-

munication channels. Customers decide on how, when and 

where they do their banking business. Contact centers serve as 

interfaces between digital banking and traditional branch busi-

ness. These contact centers offer advice and sales, thus going 

far beyond the traditional help desk function. 

 

Our digital strategy is based on our digital platform George. It 

aims to provide customers access to personalised products from 

Erste Group. Through application programming interfaces 

(APIs), a wide range of co-operations – whether with fintechs, 

start-ups or across industries – is available and can therefore 

help open up new markets and attract new customers. 

 

George was implemented for retail customers in Austria in 2015. 

In the meantime, it is also running in the Czech Republic, Slo-

vakia, Romania, Croatia and Hungary. It will also be rolled out 

in Serbia. The range of digitally available products and services 

is being constantly expanded. Customers can activate applica-

tions via plug-ins and use them to manage their finances. George 

Business was developed to provide our corporate customers with 

excellent digital banking as well. It was implemented in Austria 

in 2022 and in Romania in 2023. The completion of the roll-out 

in the Czech Republic is scheduled for 2024, the implementation 

in the other local banking subsidiaries will follow. The aim is to 

offer an outstanding digital user experience on a group-wide ba-

sis across all customer segments on one platform. 

 

Intra-group, interdisciplinary teams are developing innovative 

solutions and new, AI-supported interaction options in George, 

such as a modernised ecosystem for securities trading or 

George Junior, a digital offering for children and their parents 

with a financial solution that is attractive for the entire family 

and was implemented in Romania in 2023. 

 

It is our unequivocal ambition to be the key contact for our cus-

tomers. This means that we must also continue to focus on the 

prerequisites in order to meet this requirement. Two core areas 

are of particular importance: 

_ Improving data analysis so that we can better understand the 

needs of our customers and offer appropriate solutions with 

pinpoint accuracy. 
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_ Further simplifying our digital offerings, with a focus on en-

suring the perfect user journey, and expanding these offer-

ings to include new products. 

Focus on sustainability and profitability 

Acting responsibly and earning a premium on the cost of capi-

tal is a key prerequisite for the long-term survival of any com-

pany and the creation of value for customers, investors and em-

ployees. Only a bank that operates in a sustainable manner – 

balancing the social, ecological and economic consequences of 

its business activities – and profitably can achieve the following: 

provide customers with products and services that support 

them in achieving their financial ambitions; deliver the foun-

dation for share price appreciation as well as dividend and cou-

pon payments to investors; create a stable and rewarding work 

environment for employees and be a reliable contributor of tax 

revenues to society at large. 

 

The management board adopted a Statement of Purpose to re-

affirm and state in more detail the purpose of Erste Group to 

promote and secure prosperity across the region. Building on 

this Statement of Purpose, a Code of Conduct defines binding 

rules of day-to-day business for employees and members of 

both the management and supervisory boards. At the same 

time, the Code of Conduct underlines that in pursuing our 

business activities, we value responsibility, respect and sustain-

ability. The Code of Conduct is an important tool for preserving 

the reputation of Erste Group and strengthening stakeholder 

confidence. Sustainability in this context means operating our 

core business both in a socially and environmentally responsi-

ble manner and economically successfully. 

 

Through a combination of stable revenues, low loan loss provi-

sions and cost efficiency, profits can be achieved on a long-term 

basis. This is helped by a strong retail-based funding profile. 

When growth opportunities are elusive, as they will be from 

time to time, or the market environment is less favourable as a 

result of factors including high taxation, increased regulation 

or low interest rates, there will be a stronger focus on efficiency 

measures. When the operating environment improves, more 

time will be devoted to capturing growth in a responsible way. 

Irrespective of the environment, we should benefit materially 

from operating in the region of Europe that offers the best 

structural growth opportunities for some time to come. 

LONG-TERM GROWTH TRENDS IN 
CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE 

The economic catch-up process across the countries of Central 

and Eastern Europe and the underlying convergence trend con-

tinue. This is due, on the one hand, to the fact that the region 

has to make up for almost half a century of the shortfalls of the 

socialistic planned economy and, on the other hand, to the fact 

that banking activities were largely non-existent during that 

time. With the exception of deposit-taking, modern banking 

services were largely unknown in these countries after the fall 

of communism. On the lending side, this was due to high nom-

inal and real interest rates and also to disposable incomes that 

did not support household credit growth. In addition, a healthy 

competitive environment was lacking due to extensive state 

ownership. All this has changed. 

 

Most formerly state-owned banks have been sold to strategic 

investors that have fostered product innovation and competi-

tion. Economic growth, which temporarily declined substan-

tially in some countries in CEE following the economic and fi-

nancial crisis, recovered again. Despite such economic slow-

downs and potential temporary negative impacts on the bank-

ing markets in Central and Eastern Europe, these factors will 

remain the driving force behind future development. 

 

Disposable income has risen strongly on the back of growing 

gross domestic product. In addition, most countries of Central 

and Eastern Europe have human resources that are at least 

equivalent to those of Western European countries but do not 

need to struggle with the unaffordable costs of the Western wel-

fare states in the long term and have labour markets that are 

considerably more flexible. These advantages are comple-

mented by – on average – highly competitive export industries 

that benefit from wage costs that are low relative to workforce 

productivity and from investor-friendly tax and welfare systems. 

 

 
Source: Local central banks, Erste Group 

 

A comparison of per capita private debt levels in Central and 

Eastern Europe with those of advanced economies reveals that 

even today an enormous gap exists between these markets. 

Countries such as the Czech Republic and Slovakia, but also 

Croatia and Hungary, are many years away from reaching Aus-

trian or Western European levels of loans per capita; also in rel-

ative terms, these countries differ substantially regarding debt 
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levels common in the West. The contrast to Serbia or Romania 

is even more pronounced – private debt levels, and particularly 

household debt, are substantially lower than in the advanced 

economies. We firmly believe that credit expansion accompa-

nied by economic growth in this region will prove to be a lasting 

trend rather than a short-term process that has already peaked. 

 

Over the coming 15 to 20 years, on average, the countries of the 

eastern part of the European Union are therefore expected to 

experience higher growth rates than the countries of Western 

Europe, even though periods of expansion may alternate with 

times of economic stagnation or even setbacks on this long-

term path of sustainable growth. 

OUR ESG STRATEGY 

Since Erste Group was founded, the idea of sustainability has 

been an integral part of our business activities. Today, the green 

transition and social inclusion are the pillars of our ESG strategy. 

 

For us, the green transition means providing financial re-

sources to limit climate change and global warming. Our goal 

is to bring the carbon footprint of our portfolio to a net-zero 

status by 2050. We specify our efforts and thus their implemen-

tation with specific, science-based goals for each defined sector. 

The net-zero status of banking operations should be achieved 

by 2030. We are one of the first banking groups in the region to 

join the Net-Zero Banking Alliance. 

 

For us, social inclusion means more than providing financial ser-

vices; it also includes financial literacy, social banking, affordable 

housing and gender equality. We are convinced that a good socio-

economic environment forms the basis for solid banking busi-

ness and has a positive impact on our economic development. 

 

The strategic pillars of the green transition and social inclusion 

are supported by best-in-class governance. Our ESG strategy is 

anchored in the governing bodies, the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board. This ensures that our ESG strategy is 

established at all levels of the Group and comprehensively in-

tegrated into the business processes. 

BUILDING ON A STRONG BRAND 

Just over 200 years ago, our founding fathers wrote: “No age, gen-

der, social class, or nationality shall be excluded from the benefits 

that a savings bank offers every depositor.” With this founding 

principle – which was revolutionary at the time – Erste oester-

reichische Spar-Casse contributed substantially to making finan-

cial services available for all segments to the population across 

our region. 

Erste Group was founded to give everyone access to financial 

services and has developed into an institution that has an im-

pact on the prosperity and the future of a region. Today, we are 

one of the largest banking groups and employers in Central and 

Eastern Europe. The trust that we and our local banks have en-

joyed stems from the fact that we have truly been putting the 

founding principle into practice. 

 

A brand is a consistent promise. It is more than a logo – it is 

about the perception that people have when they think about or 

hear of an organisation, its products and its services. Brands 

have an important identification and differentiation function, 

which in turn determines whether a customer chooses one 

brand over another. Ultimately, companies with strong brands 

benefit from emotional relationships with their customers. Only 

a few businesses were founded with the aspiration of achieving 

more than just making profit. We are one of these and have been 

benefitting from a high degree of brand awareness and trust-

worthiness. 

 

Over the last years, we have transformed our brand communi-

cation from being category- and product-driven to having a pur-

pose-driven approach. To this end, we have established a State-

ment of Purpose as the main group-wide pillar of our brand 

communication: “Our region needs people who believe in 

themselves and a bank that believes in them.” 

 

More than 200 years ago, a success story started that continues 

until the present day. The savings banks were founded on this 

basis of personal trust and the belief in ideas, plans for the fu-

ture and people’s capabilities and potential. Whether it is in an 

individual’s personal life, in a business start-up or a long-estab-

lished enterprise, in business or in society at large – trust and 

confidence in the future, believing in oneself and others, the 

belief in ideas and entrepreneurship are the key prerequisites 

for personal growth and social well-being. 

 

Therefore, it is not products and services that mark the begin-

ning of the relationship between us and our customers, but 

ideas, goals, needs, dreams and plans. It all starts with people 

who believe in their ability to attain prosperity and shape the 

future. The future is created by people who believe in them-

selves and their ideas – their visions of the future. 

 

“Our region needs people who believe in themselves. And a 

bank that believes in them” is the key sentence that stands for 

the approach to which we have been firmly committed for more 

than 200 years. #believeinyourself is more than a lead narrative. 

It encourages people to pursue their aspirations, to create 

something, and embodies our promise to assist them along the 

way to financial health. 
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

P&L 2023 compared with 2022; balance sheet as of 31 December 2023 compared with 31 December 2022 

Profit and loss statement 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 5951 7228 215% 
Net fee and commission income 2452 2640 76% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL -47 449 n/a 
Operating income 8571 10552 231% 
Operating expenses  -4575 -5020 97% 
Operating result   3996 5532 384% 
Impairment result from financial instruments -300 -128 -573% 
Other operating result -399 -468 174% 

Levies on banking activities -187 -183 -19% 
Pre-tax result from continuing operations 3222 4795 488% 
Taxes on income -556 -874 572% 
Net result for the period 2666 3921 470% 

Net result attributable to non-controlling interests 502 923 840% 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 2165 2998 385% 

 

Net interest income  

Net interest income rose significantly both in retail and in cor-

porate business. This marked increase was due to higher market 

rates most notably in Austria, Hungary, Croatia and Romania 

as well as higher loan volumes in nearly all core markets. In the 

Czech Republic, net interest income was negatively impacted 

by higher interest expense on deposits and slow repricing of re-

tail loans.  

 

 
 

The net interest margin (calculated as the annualised sum of 

net interest income, dividend income and net result from  

equity method investments over average interest-bearing assets) 

widened markedly to 2.50% (2.21%). 

 

Net fee and commission income 

Growth was achieved across all core markets and nearly all fee 

and commission categories. Significant rises were recorded 

most notably in payment services in nearly all segments, with 

the exception of Serbia, driven by a larger number of transac-

tions as well as repricing. Income from asset management and 

lending continued its positive trend. 

 

 

Net trading result & gains/losses from 
financial instruments measured at fair 
value through profit or loss 

Net trading result as well as the line item gains/losses from fi-

nancial instruments measured at fair value through profit or 

Net interest margin in %
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This chapter provides an overview of the developments in our 

seven core markets (by segments). In addition to economic re-

views, we provide updates on the banking markets. Interviews 

with the CEOs of our local banks and board members of the 

Holding provide further insights to the respective business en-

vironment. 

 

The descriptions of the core markets are supplemented by  

financial and credit reviews. For more details, please see Note 

1 Segment Reporting. Additional information is available in 

Excel format at https://www.erstegroup.com/en/investors/re-

ports/financial-reports. 

 

Operating income consists of net interest income, net fee and 

commission income, net trading result, gains/losses from finan-

cial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss, 

dividend income, net result from equity method investments 

and rental income from investment properties & other operating 

leases. The latter three listed items are not shown in the tables 

below. Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instru-

ments measured at fair value through profit or loss are summa-

rised under one position. Operating expenses correspond to the 

position general administrative expenses. Operating result is the 

net amount of operating income and operating expenses. Risk 

provisions for loans and receivables are included in the position 

impairment result from financial instruments. Other result 

summarises the positions other operating result and gains/losses 

from financial instruments not measured at fair value through 

profit or loss, net. The cost/income ratio is calculated as operat-

ing expenses in relation to operating income. The return on al-

located capital is defined as the net result after tax/before minor-

ities in relation to the average allocated capital. 

Austria 

Economic review 

Austria’s well diversified, open and developed economy per-

formed weaker than expected in 2023. The slight economic de-

cline was driven by weak performance of both private con-

sumption and investment activity. Private consumption was 

negatively impacted by still elevated inflation, which eroded 

disposable household income. The slowdown of investment ac-

tivity was particularly pronounced in the construction sector. 

Exports, with a share of 48% of the country’s GDP, were strong 

at the beginning of the year. Although exports slowed down in 

the second half of the year, they still contributed positively to 

economic performance, driven mainly by machinery, chemical 

and food products. Austria’s tourism sector boomed in 2023. 

The summer season’s overnight stays posted the highest figure 

for decades. In general, the labour market remained strong with 

an unemployment rate of 5.1%. Overall, real GDP declined by 

0.7%. GDP per capita amounted to EUR 52,400.  

 

The general government deficit decreased from 3.5% of GDP in 

2022 to 2.5% in 2023. This improvement was mainly driven by 

the phase-out of COVID-19 measures as well as the relatively 

moderate level of unemployment benefit payments due to the 

robust labour market. On the other hand, measures to mitigate 

the impact of high energy prices such as increased family allow-

ances, tax benefits or electricity price caps were maintained. 

Anti-inflation and climate-supporting measures alone ac-

counted for more than EUR 6.4 billion in 2023. Public debt as a 

percentage of GDP decreased to 76.4%.  

 

Inflation in Austria started to decline after it peaked in January 

2023, mainly as a result of declining food and energy prices. 

Driven by significant nominal wage growth and high energy 

costs, inflation remained elevated in the services sector, espe-

cially in the hospitality industry. Overall, average inflation 

amounted to 7.7%, substantially higher than the EU average of 

3.4%. Core inflation, excluding food and energy prices, in-

creased by 7.3%. Residential property prices decreased slightly. 

Austria’s monetary policy is set by the ECB which increased the 

key policy rate of the monetary union from 2.50% to 4.50% in 

six steps during the year. 

 

All three major rating agencies affirmed Austria’s high credit 

ratings, which are supported by the country’s resilient eco-

nomic structure. In August 2023, Fitch upgraded Austria’s out-

look from negative to stable due to diminished risks in relation 

to energy supplies. The rating agency maintained its credit rat-

ing at AA+. Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s affirmed their 

credit ratings for Austria at Aa1 and AA+, respectively, both 

with a stable outlook. 

 

 

Development in the core markets 
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Key economic indicators – Austria   2020 2021 2022 2023e 

Population (average million)   89 90 91 91 
GDP (nominal EUR billion)   3809 4052 4472 4783 
GDP/capita (in EUR thousand)   427 453 494 524 
Real GDP growth -66 42 48 -07 
Private consumption growth -85 42 57 -04 
Exports (share of GDP)   412 434 475 477 
Imports (share of GDP)   427 472 501 493 
Unemployment (Eurostat definition)   60 62 48 51 
Consumer price inflation (average)   14 28 86 77 
Short term interest rate (3 months average)   -04 -06 04 34 
Current account balance (share of GDP)   34 16 -03 24 
General government balance (share of GDP)   -80 -58 -35 -27 

Source: Erste Group 

 

Market review 

Austria’s banking sector, with total (domestic) assets of 147.0% 

of GDP, strengthened capitalisation levels and maintained a 

very solid funding base. In contrast, macroeconomic conditions 

resulted both in muted lending and deposit volume growth in 

2023. On the asset side, higher interest rates and regulatory 

measures led to weak customer loan growth of 0.7%. Corporate 

loans outgrew retail loans driven mainly by financing needs for 

inventories and working capital. Overall, corporate loans in-

creased by 2.1%. Reflecting the low demand for housing and 

consumer loans, lending to households decreased by 1.9%. The 

share of variable rate loans continued to decline further. Cus-

tomer deposits increased slightly by 1.8%, mainly due to the 

higher cost of living. Overall, the banking system’s loan to de-

posit ratio stood at 97.1% by year-end. 

 

 
Source: National Bank of Austria, Erste Group 

 

Stress test results, published annually by the Austrian National 

Bank, again confirmed that the domestic banking sector’s risk-

bearing capacity was adequate. Funding and liquidity profiles 

remained strong. The Austrian banking sector’s liquidity ratios 

were high and comfortably above minimum requirements. 

Macro-prudential measures for residential real estate financing 

remained unchanged. These regulations, issued by the 

Austrian Financial Market Authority (FMA), include upper 

limits for loan-to-value ratios (90%), debt-service-to-income ra-

tios (40%) and a maximum tenor of 35 years. These thresholds 

were applied to new mortgage lending to households exceeding 

EUR 50,000 and visibly impacted new business volumes. In ad-

dition, the systemic risk buffer (SRB) and the other systemi-

cally important institutions (OSII) buffer were increased by 50 

basis points as of December 2022. The Austrian Financial Mar-

ket Stability Board (FMSB) decided in October 2023 that the 

gradual increase in the combined requirements of the SRB and 

O-SII buffer was to be maintained. 

 

 
Source: National Bank of Austria, Erste Group 

 

The Austrian banking sector’s profitability rose in 2023. Oper-

ating income, especially net interest income, benefited from 

higher ECB rates. The net interest margin of Austrian banks 

increased. Net fee and commission income grew mainly on the 

back of higher payment fees. Administrative expenses rose on 

higher wage settlements. Asset quality remained strong, risk 

provisions were low. Austrian banks continued to pay banking 

tax. Overall, in 2023, the Austrian banking sector posted one of 

its most profitable years. 

 

Despite its large number of banks, the Austrian sector re-

mained highly concentrated, with the top three banking groups 
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accounting for more than half of total assets. Erste Bank Oes-

terreich and the savings banks defended their combined mar-

ket shares in both retail and corporate business. Benefitting 

from their balanced business model, the market shares ranged 

from 20% to 24%. Erste Group’s market share in the domestic 

asset management business stood at 28%. George, Erste 

Group’s market-leading digital banking platform, continued to 

be very popular. The number of customers using George grew 

by more than 200,000. With 2.5 million users and a digital sales 

ratio of 41%, more than a third of Austrian online banking cus-

tomers used George. 

ERSTE BANK OESTERREICH & 
SUBSIDIARIES 

Business review 

Interview with Gerda Holzinger-Burgstaller,  
CEO of Erste Bank Oesterreich 
 

How did the competitive environment change? 

As in previous years, the market environment was again 

marked by challenging economic developments. In 2023, lower 

real incomes due to persistently high inflation and weak indus-

trial activity resulted in a decline in economic output. The loss 

of purchasing power and shrinking liquidity had a negative im-

pact on savings and investment activity on the part of consum-

ers and corporates. The ECB’s rate hikes, the changed situation 

in the real estate sector and stricter rules for new real estate 

loans imposed by the Financial Market Authority led to a sig-

nificant decline in demand for retail housing loans. As a result, 

lending volume to private households went down in Austria. 

At the same time, bank customers benefited from higher inter-

est on their savings. Demand for investment products such as 

bonds was also stronger than in previous years when interest 

rates were at all-time lows. Because of the high density of banks 

in Austria, price competition remained fierce. 

 

Buzzwords such as the green transition or financial health 

have become more and more important in sustainability 

reporting. Which developments would you highlight? 

Supporting and financing the green transition is a core element 

of our strategy. This is also underscored by Erste Group’s mem-

bership in the Net-Zero Banking Alliance. In 2023, we set addi-

tional CO2 reduction targets for high-emission industries such 

as automotive and cement producers and successfully ex-

panded the identification of green financing. In addition to tar-

get setting and reporting, the focus of our ESG efforts is on con-

sistent action. Our activities in this area have already been rec-

ognised: in the Sustainability Perception Values Ranking com-

piled by the brand rating company “Brand Report”, we were 

ranked second. 

Ecological, social and economic sustainability have been an in-

tegral part of our advisory services and customer dialogue for 

several years. We offer our customers comprehensive sustaina-

ble financing concepts, including areas of great significance for 

the green transition such as real estate, heat and energy pro-

duction and mobility. In asset management we offer a wide 

range of sustainable products. 

 

In accordance with our founding mission, financial literacy is 

part of our societal and social commitment. For more than 200 

years, we have been helping customers to gain a better under-

standing of their own financial situation by providing finan-

cial education and continuously pursuing innovation. With 

our social banking activities and through Zweite Sparkasse, we 

also help those to get back on their feet who are in financial 

difficulties. 

 

How did you manage to successfully differentiate your 

business activities from those of your competitors? 

Our newly launched advisory tool “Financial Health Check” 

takes an even more comprehensive look at our customers’ fi-

nancial health and offers our retail customers an innovative 

and holistic advisory experience. As a result of our advisory ser-

vice, customers obtain a detailed picture of their financial situ-

ation and proposals for potential improvements. At the same 

time, we champion innovation: In 2023, we were the first Aus-

trian bank to present an AI chatbot that uses artificial intelli-

gence to build financial literacy in a manner that is simple and 

easy to understand. 

 

We regard the use of innovative technologies combined with 

our hybrid service concept as a material contribution to the en-

hancement of our portfolio of services and products and hence 

to the improvement of our customers’ financial health. For 

basic services and day-to-day financial matters, we encourage 

use of our digital channel George, through which customers’ 

needs can be met quickly and efficiently. If required, we also 

support customers in person at the branches and assist them in 

using our digital services. For more complex needs, such as 

matters of financing and investment, we take ample time and 

provide advice at the branch and/or remotely, depending on 

preferences. We are pleased that our consistently customer-

centric approach is being recognised across all channels: a sur-

vey conducted by Finnoconsult among 230 financial institutes 

confirmed that Erste Bank offers the best digital customer ex-

perience in German-speaking countries. 

 

Looking back at the year, what major achievements or 

challenges were especially noteworthy? 

With more than 95,000 new retail customers in 2023, we con-

tinued the success of previous years. This steady growth has 

been attributable to well-targeted measures as well as a strong 

brand. The prestigious brand ranking by Brand Finance repeat-

edly named Erste Bank and Sparkassen as the strongest brand 

in Austria. From the brand value analysis, Erste Bank emerged 
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as the second most valuable brand in Austria with a brand 

value of EUR 3.5 billion. 

 

We have also been recognised for our strategy of consistent cus-

tomer focus. In 2023, for example, we were pleased to receive 

awards as Best Major Bank in the Recommender Awards, Best 

Domestic Private Bank in Austria from Euromoney and Best 

Private Bank from PWM/The Banker. In the private banking 

segment, this distinction can be attributed, among other things, 

to a host of measures taken on the product side. We are the 

leading innovator in private equity. By creating a digital plat-

form for our private banking customers with assets of EUR 

50,000 or more, we have enabled them to easily invest in an as-

set class that in the past was mainly reserved for institutional 

investors. With this approach, we have become a pioneer at the 

European level. And what is even better: these investments can 

be held in a securities account and are eligible for final taxation. 

 

For us, customer focus means meeting customers’ individual 

needs. In the currently challenging environment, we help 

young people to make their dream of home ownership come 

true. With a “2% start bonus”, we support the purchase or re-

furbishment of owner-occupied properties with an amount of 

up to EUR 4,000. To customers aged 50 or above we offer home 

equity loans that are tailored to the needs at that stage of life. 

 

In 2023, we launched George Business, Austria’s most ad-

vanced banking platform for corporates. With the integrated 

Financial Health Zone, we show corporate customers the fi-

nancial situation of their enterprise from our perspective. 

 

How did the cooperation with the savings banks develop, 

and what were the major achievements in this area? 

In 2023, the Savings Banks Group again expanded its market 

position across Austria – by now, almost one in three Austrians 

trusts the Savings Banks Group when it comes to their financial 

affairs. The large number of new customers is proof of the at-

tractiveness of their services, the professional quality of service 

and the significance of a regional approach. 

 

The previously mentioned Financial Health Check has also 

been rolled out across the Savings Banks Group. With this ap-

proach to advisory services, we successfully provide added value 

across a range of needs and make it accessible to everyone. This 

unique offering makes us more relevant, differentiates us from 

our peers and, ultimately, often leads to new business and a 

larger share of the wallet. In this context, more than 400 coaches 

and managerial staff were trained in 2023 and more than 1,000 

relationship managers were instructed in implementing the 

new support tool. As a next step, the tool will be optimised by 

sharing best practices within the Savings Banks Group. 

 

Another focus was on optimising financing processes. Access 

to consumer loans was made simpler and easier both online 

and at the branches by means of what we call the Klick-Kredit 

(click a loan) option. 

Financial review 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 7089 12000 693% 
Net fee and commission income 4801 5046 51% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL -08 85 n/a 
Operating income 12504 17785 422% 
Operating expenses  -6886 -7475 85% 
Operating result   5617 10310 835% 
Cost/income ratio  551% 420%   
Impairment result from financial instruments -311 -533 711% 
Other result -358 -681 901% 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 3201 6812 >1000% 
Return on allocated capital 146% 326%   

 

The Erste Bank Oesterreich & Subsidiaries (EBOe & Subsidiar-

ies) segment comprises Erste Bank der oesterreichischen Spar-

kassen AG (Erste Bank Oesterreich) and its main subsidiaries 

(e.g. sBausparkasse, Salzburger Sparkasse, Tiroler Sparkasse, 

Sparkasse Hainburg). 

 

Net interest income increased due to higher market interest 

rates and higher customer loan volumes, only partially offset by 

higher interest expenses for repriced customer deposits and a 

moderate shift from current accounts to term deposits and sav-

ings accounts. Net fee and commission income rose mainly on 

the back of higher payment fees. Net trading result and 

gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL improved on 

valuation effects. The increase in operating expenses was driven 

by higher personnel, IT and marketing expenses. The deposit 

insurance contribution decreased to EUR 27 million (EUR 32 

million). Consequently, operating result and the cost/income 

ratio improved notably. Impairment result from financial in-

struments worsened due to negative changes in customer cre-

ditworthiness. Other result deteriorated mainly due to lower 

real estate selling gains. The banking tax decreased to EUR 16 

million (EUR 23 million). The payment into the resolution fund 
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decreased to EUR 16 million (EUR 17 million). Overall, the net 

result attributable to owners of the parent increased. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk exposure in the Erste Bank Oesterreich & Subsidiar-

ies segment rose to EUR 52.5 billion (+1.9%), customer loans in-

creased to EUR 41 billion (+2.3%). This segment accounted for 

19.3% (19.4%) of Erste Group’s total loan portfolio. The share of 

retail private individual customers in total loan volume slightly 

declined to 36.5% (37.2%), while the share of corporates, includ-

ing self-employed individuals and small businesses, went up in-

significantly to 58.6% (58.0%). Loans to professionals, other self-

employed individuals and small businesses are less significant 

than they are for Austrian savings banks. Lending to the public 

sector increased in more pronounced manner and is slightly 

above EUR 2.0 billion (+6.2%), thus reversing the declining 

trend of its share of the total portfolio. Non-performing loans in-

creased by EUR 137 million and as a percentage of total loans to 

customers to 1.8% (1.5%). The development was slightly positive 

only in the public sector segment. The NPL coverage ratio based 

on loan loss provisions declined to 55.6% (61.7%). 

 

SAVINGS BANKS 

Financial review 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 12225 18917 547% 
Net fee and commission income 6231 6561 53% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL -534 644 n/a 
Operating income 18439 26597 442% 
Operating expenses  -11434 -12589 101% 
Operating result   7005 14007 1000% 
Cost/income ratio  620% 473%   
Impairment result from financial instruments -622 -1822 >1000% 
Other result -248 -386 557% 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 569 1223 >1000% 
Return on allocated capital 98% 206%   

 

The Savings Banks segment includes those savings banks which 

are members of the Haftungsverbund (cross-guarantee system) 

of the Austrian savings banks sector and in which Erste Group 

does not hold a majority stake but which are fully controlled 

according to IFRS 10. The fully or majority-owned savings 

banks Erste Bank Oesterreich, Tiroler Sparkasse, Salzburger 

Sparkasse and Sparkasse Hainburg are not part of the Savings 

Banks segment. 

 

Net interest income increased due to higher market interest rates 

and higher customer loan volumes, only partially offset by 

higher interest expenses for repriced customer deposits and a 

moderate shift from current accounts to term deposits and sav-

ings accounts. Net fee and commission income increased mainly 

on the back of higher payment fees. Valuation effects led to the 

improvement of the net trading result and gains/losses from fi-

nancial instruments at FVPL. Operating expenses increased due 

to higher personnel, IT and marketing expenses, partially com-

pensated for by a lower contribution to the deposit insurance 

fund of EUR 41 million (EUR 48 million). Consequently, oper-

ating result as well as the cost/income ratio improved notably. 

Impairment result from financial instruments deteriorated 

mainly due to negative changes in customer creditworthiness 

observed in the fourth quarter of 2023. Other result deteriorated 

due to lower real estate selling gains and higher provisions for 

legal cases. Banking tax decreased to EUR 5 million (EUR 18 

million) due to a one-off payment in 2022. Overall, the net result 

attributable to the owners of the parent increased. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk exposure in the Savings Banks segment increased 

slightly to EUR 79.9 billion (+0.7%), while loans to customers 

rose to EUR 58.9 billion (+1.7%). Their share in Erste Group’s to-

tal loans to customers decreased to 27.8% (28.1%). Lending to pri-

vate households registered below-average growth, and its share 

in the Savings Banks’ total customer loan portfolio decreased to 

37.7% (38.8%). Loans to professionals, other self-employed per-

sons and small businesses decreased to EUR 6.5 billion (-3.7%). 

Despite a continuing decline of its share to 11.0% (11.6%) of total 

loans, the share of this customer segment was again significantly 

larger than in Erste Group’s subsidiaries in Central and Eastern 

Europe. This reflects the Savings Banks’ predominantly local and 

regional operations as well as the different structure of the Aus-

trian economy, with a higher percentage of small and medium-
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sized enterprises than in Central and Eastern Europe. The share 

of non-performing loans in total loan volume to customers in the 

Savings Banks rose to 2.9% (2.2%). Coverage of non-performing 

loans with loan loss provisions declined to 64.8% (73.6%). 

OTHER AUSTRIA 

Business review 

Interview with Ingo Bleier,  
Chief Corporates and Markets Officer 
 

How did the competitive environment change? 

The markets in CEE were characterised by interest rate levels 

that most likely achieved their peaks in the cycle across all cur-

rencies. The first central banks started to decrease the interest 

rates already in the fourth quarter. The interest rate develop-

ment was a reaction to the high single – and in many countries 

even double – digit inflation scenario that shaped economies 

across Europe mainly in the first half of 2023. 

 

On the back of the moderate economic growth and the infla-

tionary environment, the corporate banking market developed 

positively, albeit at a lower pace compared to the previous year. 

Weakening credit demand increased pressure on margins. 

 

Capital markets were very active in 2023, in particular through 

the strong issuance business across customer segments and 

products. Thanks to our superior rating we benefited from ad-

vantageous institutional funding throughout the year. 

 

Buzzwords such as the green transition or financial health 

have become more and more important in sustainability 

reporting. Which developments would you highlight? 

Sustainable finance is a core element in our strategy in corpo-

rates and markets. It translates into ambitious targets in busi-

ness origination but also into an intensive mandatory training 

and development programme for our colleagues. Thanks to the 

focused approach, the volume of new specifically sustainable 

finance achieved EUR 2.95 billion in 2023, which is a plus of 34% 

compared to 2022. 

 

Growth of “green funds” pursuant to Article 8 and 9 of the Sus-

tainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) outperformed 

the overall growth of funds in assets under management. With 

a plus of EUR 2.31 billion in volume, the share of “green funds” 

in the total portfolio of Erste Asset Management grew to 22.2% 

in 2023. 

 

How did you manage to successfully differentiate your 

business activities from those of your competitors? 

We are maintaining our focused digitalisation path built on the 

George brand. The corporate banking platform ‘George Business’ 

was rolled out in Austria. Agile adoption of the platform with 

new features as well as value-chain-enhancing co-operations is 

the future position of George Business that we are aiming to 

achieve. We launched the roll out of George Business in Roma-

nia and started the groundwork for further expansion in CEE. 

 

In addition, several thousand financial health dialogues with 

our customers in and outside of our George Business platform 

confirm the added value of the rating transparency between the 

bank and our customers, thus positively impacting the cus-

tomer experience. We are convinced that sharing our analytical 

know-how with our customers will further improve their finan-

cial health in the long run. 

 

To grow our business, new customer acquisition is essential. 

The first contact and experience with Erste needs to be easy and 

modern. Digital onboarding for corporate customers in Austria, 

Romania and the Czech Republic already provides this experi-

ence for businesses with simple structures today. We will con-

tinue to expand this feature across our regional footprint. 

 

Looking back at the year, what major achievements or 

challenges were especially noteworthy? 

Overall, we achieved very good results in terms of financial per-

formance as well as customer satisfaction across all our markets 

and business lines. To name a few highlights: 

 

Erste Group played the key role in the Hidroelectrica IPO in 

summer 2023. This was the year’s largest IPO in Europe. We 

were named ‘Best bank for distribution’, ‘Best ESG Deal’ and 

‘Best debut deal’ by Global Capital for our covered bonds busi-

ness. The roll-out of George Business in Austria was accompa-

nied by a fantastic marketing campaign, which stands for the 

platform’s modernity and its future orientation. In Serbia, we 

changed our core banking system to enable further organic 

growth. The new core banking system is the basis for the divi-

sionalisation of markets business in the country.  

 

In terms of private equity investment in the DACH and CEE 

regions, we successfully placed a new fund of funds for institu-

tional and qualified private investors. 
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Financial review 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 6343 6229 -18% 
Net fee and commission income 2931 3214 97% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL -217 159 n/a 
Operating income 9539 10206 70% 
Operating expenses  -3632 -3943 85% 
Operating result   5906 6263 60% 
Cost/income ratio  381% 386%   
Impairment result from financial instruments -643 1346 n/a 
Other result 40 167 >1000% 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 4017 5862 459% 
Return on allocated capital 157% 230%   

 

The Other Austria segment comprises the Corporates and 

Group Markets business of Erste Group Bank AG (Holding), 

Erste Group Immorent, Erste Asset Management and Inter-

market Bank. 

 

Net interest income decreased moderately due to a lower con-

tribution of money market and interest-related derivatives in 

Group Markets, only partially compensated for by a one-off 

payment related to a successful restructuring case and higher 

customer deposit margins in Corporates business. Net fee and 

commission income improved due to higher asset management 

fees, higher lending fees in the Corporates business and higher 

fees from origination business in Group Markets. Net trading 

result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL im-

proved on valuation effects. Overall, operating income in-

creased. Higher operating expenses on the back of higher per-

sonnel and project-related costs led to a slight increase in the 

cost/income ratio. The impairment result from financial instru-

ments improved significantly; rating upgrades and recoveries as 

well as muted NPL inflows resulted in a net release. This was 

supported by improved risk parameters and reviewed criteria 

for collective SICR assessment (mainly for energy-intensive in-

dustries). Other result improved mainly on a lower level of liti-

gation provisions; it included the resolution fund contribution 

of EUR 8 million (EUR 8 million). Overall, the net result at-

tributable to owners of the parent improved. 

Credit risk 

The credit risk exposure in the Other Austria segment, almost 

completely related to Holding and Erste Group Immorent busi-

ness, increased substantially to EUR 57.7 billion (+13.7%). Its 

share in Erste Group’s total credit risk exposure increased to 

15.8% (14.5%). A large proportion of risk positions was related 

to securities and cash balances held with other banks. At EUR 

20.9 billion, the share of loans to customers in Erste Group’s 

total loan portfolio amounted to 9.9% (10.4%) and was signifi-

cantly lower than its contribution to credit risk exposure. This 

decrease in total loans to customers was driven primarily by 

large corporates business and by lending to the public sector. 

The improvement in asset quality continued, with the NPL ra-

tio reaching 1.7% (2.0%). This was primarily attributable to the 

significantly decreasing unsecured non-performing loan port-

folio. Coverage of non-performing loans with loan loss provi-

sions also decreased to 54.0% (72.2%), primarily due to the re-

lease of overlay provisions for certain industries. 

Czech Republic 

Economic review 

Economic performance in the Czech Republic remained sub-

dued throughout 2023. Household demand was weak due to el-

evated inflation, declining real wages and negative household 

sentiment. Exports were negatively impacted by a deterioration 

in foreign demand, most pronounced in the case of Germany, 

the country’s key trading partner. The automotive sector, one of 

the most important industries in the Czech Republic, employed 

180,000 people and accounted for approximately 10% of the 

country’s economy. Production of passenger vehicles increased 

by 14.8% due to a substantial volume of backlogs. Inventories 

declined after pronounced accumulation in the last couple of 

years. Investments benefited from inflows of European Union 

structural funds and Recovery and Resolution Facility funds but 

remained weak in some sectors, especially in the construction 

industry. The unemployment rate increased slightly to 2.6% but 

remained among the lowest in the European Union. Overall, 

real GDP decreased by 0.4%, and GDP per capita amounted to 

EUR 28,200. 

 

Following parliamentary elections in October 2022, a new coali-

tion government was formed, consisting of five political parties. 

In 2023, the country’s budget deficit rose slightly to 3.6%. This 

development was mainly driven by rising expenditures due to 

the automatic indexation of pensions to inflation, various 

measures to mitigate the impact of elevated energy prices and 

defence donations to the Ukraine. The total budgetary cost of 
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energy-related measures accounted for 1.2% of GDP. To improve 

public finances, the government approved a consolidation pack-

age including measures such as an increased personal and cor-

porate income tax, higher real estate tax, limitations to tax de-

ductibility, and higher social security contributions. At 44.8%, 

public debt as a percentage of GDP remained one of the lowest 

in the European Union. 

 

Inflation in the Czech Republic remained relatively high. After 

a peak in headline inflation of 17.5% in January 2023, price lev-

els started to decline significantly, mainly driven by lower en-

ergy and food prices. Average consumer price inflation stood at 

10.7%, while core inflation amounted to 7.6%. The Czech ko-

runa weakened against the euro, reflecting subdued economic 

performance, negative market sentiment and the unexpected 

end of the Czech National Bank’s foreign exchange inter-

vention regime in August 2023. By the end of the year the ko-

runa traded at CZK 24.70 against the euro. The Czech National 

Bank (CNB) kept its policy rate at 7.0% until December 2023. 

Importantly, the CNB started the interest rate-easing cycle in 

December with a 25 basis-point reduction, the first cut in more 

than three years. At year-end, the repo rate was 6.75%. 

 

In November 2023, Moody’s upgraded the country’s outlook 

from negative to stable while affirming its credit rating at Aa3. 

Moody’s noted that the Czech Republic had become independ-

ent of Russian gas in 2023 when it completely replaced it with 

gas from alternative sources. Standard & Poor’s confirmed its 

rating at AA- with a stable outlook. Fitch kept its rating at AA- 

with a negative outlook. (In February 2024, Fitch upgraded the 

outlook from negative to stable). 

 

Key economic indicators – Czech Republic   2020 2021 2022 2023e 

Population (average million)   107 105 107 109 
GDP (nominal EUR billion)   2158 2381 2763 3060 
GDP/capita (in EUR thousand)   202 227 258 282 
Real GDP growth -55 35 24 -04 
Private consumption growth -74 41 -08 -32 
Exports (share of GDP)   611 641 599 574 
Imports (share of GDP)   579 642 603 555 
Unemployment (Eurostat definition)   26 28 22 26 
Consumer price inflation (average)   32 38 151 107 
Short term interest rate (3 months average)   09 11 63 71 
EUR FX rate (average)   265 256 246 240 
EUR FX rate (eop)   262 249 242 247 
Current account balance (share of GDP)   20 -28 -61 12 
General government balance (share of GDP)   -58 -51 -32 -36 

Source: Erste Group 

  

Market review 

Despite the weak macroeconomic backdrop, the Czech banking 

sector continued to perform well in 2023. The central bank’s an-

nual stress test confirmed the resilience of the sector, highlight-

ing high capitalisation and robust profitability. In 2023, cus-

tomer loans grew by 7.0%, driven mainly by corporate lending. 

Retail loans increased by 4.7%. Corporate loans grew by 9.8%, 

with euro-denominated investment-related and working capi-

tal loans being key drivers. To support lending, the Czech cen-

tral bank loosened rules on mortgage lending by abandoning 

regulatory limits for the debt-to-income ratio and debt-service-

to-income ratio for mortgage applicants. The upper limit on the 

loan-to-value ratio remained at 80%, and 90% for applicants 

younger than 36 years. The central bank also decided to de-

crease the counter-cyclical buffer from 2.5% to 2.0% effective 

from October 2023. Customer deposit inflows remained strong 

with a growth rate of 14.4%. Growth was almost equally distrib-

uted between retail and corporate business. At year-end, the 

banking sector’s loan-to-deposit ratio stood at 65.0%, while the 

total capital ratio exceeded 20%. 

 

 
Source: Czech National Bank, Erste Group 

 

With a return on equity of 14.3%, sector profitability remained 

strong in 2023. While net interest income decreased due to higher 

cost of funding and the discontinuation of minimum reserve re-

numeration as of October 2023, net fee and commission income 

rose on the back of higher income from card transactions, asset 
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Slovakia 

Economic environment 

In 2023, the Slovak economy – with its strong automotive and 

services sectors – posted real GDP growth of 1.1%. Elevated in-

flation resulted in a drop of real wages. In contrast to the previ-

ous year, household and government consumption decreased. 

Investment activity rose less than expected. The most signifi-

cant contributor to economic growth was foreign trade, boosted 

primarily by the car industry. The Slovak car industry produced 

around 1.1 million vehicles in 2023, plus 10% compared to 2022. 

Slovakia’s labour market remained solid. The unemployment 

rate declined to 6.0%, driven in particular by a persisting struc-

tural shortage of qualified labour. GDP per capita amounted to 

EUR 22,400. 

 

After a period of political uncertainty, a new government was 

formed under the leadership of the social democratic party 

Smer in October 2023. The budget for 2024 included a number 

of consolidation measures to compensate for further substan-

tial government spending, such as extra taxation of banks, an 

extended solidarity tax on excess oil profits, higher alcohol and 

tobacco taxes, reduced contribution to the second pension pillar, 

as well as making Constitution Day (1 September) a work day 

again. In 2023, the general government deficit increased to 6.0% 

of GDP. Measures to mitigate the impact of high energy prices 

also contributed significantly to the increase in the deficit. The 

combined budgetary cost of the energy measures accounted for 

2.1% of GDP. The country’s public debt as a percentage of GDP 

increased slightly to 58.2%. 

 

Slovakia experienced double-digit inflation in 2023. Similar to 

other countries in CEE, the main drivers of the price increase 

were energy and food prices. Inflation peaked at 15% in Febru-

ary 2023 and declined to the single-digit area by the end of the 

year. To mitigate inflation, Slovakia’s previous government de-

cided to cap the increase of energy prices for households for 

2023. This measure was part of a EUR 6 billion package and 

kept residential prices for electricity unchanged during the year. 

The price of natural gas and heat, on the other hand, increased 

by 12% and 22%, respectively. Overall, average consumer price 

inflation amounted to 10.5%. Slovakia adopted the euro in 2009. 

The ECB increased the key policy rate of the monetary union 

from 2.50% to 4.50% in six steps during the year.  

 

Rating agencies reacted differently with their actions during 

2023. Standard & Poor’s affirmed its credit rating for Slovakia at 

A+ and upgraded its outlook from negative to stable before the 

elections. Moody’s credit rating for Slovakia was maintained at 

A2 with a negative outlook. Fitch’s credit rating for Slovakia was 

downgraded from A to A- with the outlook being kept at stable. 

 

Key economic indicators – Slovakia  2020 2021 2022 2023e 

Population (average million)   55 54 54 54 
GDP (nominal EUR billion)   934 1003 1096 1218 
GDP/capita (in EUR thousand)   171 184 202 224 
Real GDP growth -33 48 18 11 
Private consumption growth -11 27 58 -25 
Exports (share of GDP)   846 924 994 946 
Imports (share of GDP)   825 922 1045 922 
Unemployment (Eurostat definition)   67 68 61 60 
Consumer price inflation (average)   19 32 128 105 
Current account balance (share of GDP)   05 -41 -74 02 
General government balance (share of GDP)   -54 -54 -20 -60 

Source: Erste Group 

 

Market review 

The Slovak banking market posted its most profitable year ever, 

despite loan demand being impacted by the higher interest rate 

environment. Accordingly, customer loans grew by just 3.4%. 

Retail loans were up by 4.3%, driven almost equally by housing 

and consumer lending. Corporate loans grew by 1.1%, driven 

by declining demand for investment and working capital loans. 

The National Bank of Slovakia maintained macroprudential 

measures unchanged, including limits for debt-service-to-in-

come (DSTI), debt-to-income (DTI) and loan-to-value (LTV) 

ratios. The countercyclical buffer was increased further from 

1.00% to 1.50% as of August 2023. Customer deposits grew by 

5.0%, mainly driven by corporate business. Asset management 

business performed very well and grew by 13%. The banking 

system’s loan-to-deposit ratio decreased to 107.0%.  

 

Operating income, especially net interest income, benefited sig-

nificantly from the higher interest rate environment, while fee 

and commission income increased only moderately. Despite ris-

ing personnel expenses, operating expenses remained under 

control. Banks continued to reduce their branch networks, alt-

hough at a slower pace compared to previous years. Risk costs 

were low and asset quality remained very solid. The sector’s 

NPL ratio decreased further to 1.9%, the NPL coverage ratio 

stood at 107.7%. 
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Source: National Bank of Slovakia, Erste Group 

 

After ongoing political discussions, windfall taxes were intro-

duced. Effective as of 1 January 2024, banks will have to pay a 

special tax of 30% of their pre-tax profits. The tax rate is ex-

pected to gradually decline in the coming years though. To com-

pensate customers for high interest rates, new measures were 

introduced, such as direct payments and tax reliefs for qualified 

borrowers. The banking sector remained well capitalised. Over-

all, the sector’s return on equity stood at 11.2%. 

 

 
Source: National Bank of Slovakia, Erste Group 

 

Slovenská sporiteľňa remained the country’s largest bank. It 

controls more than one fifth of the country’s banking market in 

terms of total assets and led the market in retail loans and de-

posits. The bank held a leading 21.0% market share in asset 

management. Market shares were higher in the retail segment 

than in the corporate segment. In retail business, the bank’s 

market shares stood between 25% and 28%. Slovenská 

sporiteľňa also maintained its leadership position in digital 

banking with 1.2 million registered George users. 

Business review 

Interview with Peter Krutil,  
CEO of Slovenská sporiteľňa 
 

How did the competitive environment change? 

By far the most dominant change was the tightening of the 

ECB’s monetary policy, bringing two significant changes for 

Slovak banks. Firstly, the era of cheap mortgages is – at least for 

now – over. Demand for housing loans fell noticeably, and the 

previously very popular habit of switching between banks for 

better interest rates has dried out. Secondly, profitability of the 

sector recovered after years of subdued returns on equity. And 

it is not just about higher rates on loans. Banks can finally do 

their job on the deposit side as well, which had become almost 

irrelevant in times of zero rates. It is also very important that 

despite high energy prices, asset quality remains resilient, and 

we have not seen an increasing volume of non-performing 

loans. 

 

Buzzwords such as the green transition or financial health 

have become more and more important in sustainability 

reporting. Which developments would you highlight? 

I hope it can be directly observed, even from the outside, that 

both the green transition and financial health are not just 

buzzwords for us. In terms of financial health, we are continu-

ously improving the dedicated app on our branch advisors’ tab-

lets, allowing us to identify our clients’ financial needs. The pro-

cess has been changed based on the feedback from clients and 

is oriented on their life events instead of products. The number 

of clients which we categorise as financially healthy rose by al-

most 20% in 2023, although the country’s economic situation 

did not improve as significantly as everyone had hoped. 

 

In terms of sustainability, we have become the leader in green 

bonds in Slovakia, as we successfully issued EUR 300 million in 

green bonds in 2023, in addition to the EUR 750 million issued 

the year before that. Moreover, we prioritise green investments 

in our portfolio while concurrently developing decarbonisation 

targets which will be followed by detailed strategies to achieve 

our defined sustainability goals. As part of our own green trans-

formation, we are continuously implementing measures to re-

duce the energy consumption and the carbon footprint of our 

own operations, in line with the commitment to our environ-

mental responsibility. 

 

How did you manage to successfully differentiate your 

business activities from those of your competitors? 

Honestly, it is quite difficult to pinpoint one or even several in-

novative solutions we brought to our retail customers in 2023. 

The last year was about continuous improvements in financial 

health advisory, digital solutions, cyber security, investments 

and savings, or processes with a focus on customer experience. 

For me, the definitive differentiation was our approach to client 

deposits. We were the first bank among the large ones which 

Customer loans Customer depositsTotal assets

105 103
99

72 73
6869 67 64

0

25

50

75

100

125

2021 2022 2023e

Financial intermediation – Slovakia (in % of GDP)

Retail loans Corporate loans Retail deposits

25 2525

18

20 20

28 28
27

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2021 2022 2023

Market shares – Slovakia (in %)



 

36

increased rates on retail deposits, and we still had the highest 

rates among the relevant peers as of year-end 2023. 

 

Differentiation is probably more visible in the corporate seg-

ment. Over the years, Slovenská sporiteľňa has transformed 

from an almost purely retail bank to a balanced universal bank 

also catering for the corporate clientele. Thanks to the excellent 

work of our relationship managers, quick and transparent pro-

cesses, as well as digital innovations we attracted business cus-

tomers. In 2023, two unique solutions stood out in the market 

specifically. With what is known as the Financial Health Advi-

sory app, firms can see how we evaluate them from the bank’s 

perspective and how they compare to peers in their industry. In 

addition, Slovenská sporiteľňa was the first bank with a full 

standalone mobile app for businesses. 

 

Looking back at the year, what major achievements or 

challenges were especially noteworthy? 

Last year was indeed very successful in terms of numerous 

awards. I see this as external confirmation that we are doing the 

right things in the right way. Slovenská sporiteľňa became the 

best bank in Slovakia according to the prestigious British mag-

azine The Banker. It was also awarded the prize for the winner 

of the Euromoney Awards for Excellence 2023 and, from the 

local Trend magazine, we took home silver from the Trend Top 

Bank of the Year award. The efforts of our Erste Private Banking 

were recognised by major foreign institutions such as Global Fi-

nance Magazine and The Banker magazine. 

 

But it was not just about the traditional banking services. In 

the Best Employer Survey, the local benchmark for the most 

attractive employers in Slovakia, we won first place in the cat-

egory of financial services. The George mobile app became the 

highest-rated banking app on both Google Play and Apple 

Store. And, last but not least, in 2023, we also received the 

Global Capital Covered Bonds Award in the category of Best 

Debut Deal for the EUR 500 million green covered bond issued 

in October 2022. 

 

Financial review 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 4495 5144 144% 
Net fee and commission income 1922 2075 80% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL 259 237 -85% 
Operating income 6713 7509 119% 
Operating expenses  -3071 -3321 81% 
Operating result   3642 4189 150% 
Cost/income ratio  458% 442%   
Impairment result from financial instruments -321 -152 -527% 
Other result -119 -88 -259% 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 2493 3069 231% 
Return on allocated capital 168% 201%   

Net interest income in the Slovakia segment (comprising Slov-

enská sporitel’ňa Group) increased due to higher customer loan 

volumes and higher market interest rates leading to a repricing 

of loans, which was only partially offset by the repricing of lia-

bilities and higher expenses for issued bonds. Net fee and com-

mission income increased on the back of higher income from 

lending, payment and insurance brokerage fees. Net trading re-

sult and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL de-

creased slightly on valuation effects. Operating expenses in-

creased due to higher personnel and IT expenses, partially com-

pensated for by lower contributions to the deposit insurance 

fund of EUR 2 million (EUR 10 million). Consequently, operat-

ing result increased and the cost/income ratio improved. Im-

pairment result from financial instruments improved due to 

rating upgrades for corporate customers as well as net releases 

driven by the review of criteria for collective SICR assessment 

(stage overlays, mainly for energy-intensive industries). Other 

result improved slightly due to the lower contribution to the 

resolution fund of EUR 4 million (EUR 6 million) and lower 

impairments of participations. Overall, the net result attributa-

ble to the owners of the parent increased. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk exposure in the Slovakia segment increased to EUR 

28.1 billion (+4.5%), while loans to customers rose a bit faster to 

EUR 19.2 billion (+5.2%). Their share of Erste Group’s total loan 

portfolio went up slightly to 9.1% (8.9%). Loan volume growth 

was driven mostly by large corporate customers, while business 

growth of retail customers was more moderate. The share of 

loans to private households was again significantly larger in the 

Slovakia segment than in Erste Group’s other core markets and 

accounted for 67.3% (67.6%) of total loans to customers. This 

customer mix with a substantial proportion of retail mortgage 

loans also explains the large share of secured business. At year-

end, it increased slightly to 53.1% (52.2%), exceeding that of 

other Central and Eastern European core markets. The NPL 
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ratio increased to 1.9% (1.6%). The NPL ratio trend is also mir-

rored in the NPL coverage ratio, which decreased significantly 

but remained at a comfortable level of 101.7% (121.3%). 

Romania 

Economic review 

Romania’s economic growth was one of the strongest among 

European Union countries in 2023. The main contributor was 

investment activity related to infrastructure projects funded by 

the European Union. Inflows of EU funds from the regular 

Multiannual Financial Framework and NextGenerationEU 

amounted to EUR 10.8 billion in 2023. Household consumption 

was sound, supported by a strong labour market. Unlike previ-

ous years, net exports also contributed positively to real GDP 

growth. Imports of commodities dropped. Change in invento-

ries, however, were a negative contributor to real GDP growth. 

The unemployment rate remained stable at 5.5%, while real 

wage growth strengthened and the employment rate hit a rec-

ord high. Overall, real GDP increased by 2.0%, GDP per capita 

amounted to EUR 16,600. 

 

At 5.7%, Romania’s budget deficit did not change significantly. 

In the second half of the year, the government announced a set 

of fiscal consolidation measures to reduce the deficit in the 

coming years. These measures include an increase in corporate 

tax, a partial phasing-out of preferential tax for the construction 

and agriculture sectors, the elimination of reduced VAT rates 

for selected goods and services, and the digital transformation 

of the national tax authority. The government also introduced 

new sectoral taxes starting from 2024. For financial institutions, 

the tax rate has been set at 2% of gross revenues for 2024 and 

2025 and 1% from 2026 onwards. Romania’s current account 

deficit improved. Foreign direct investments covered approxi-

mately one third of the current account deficit. Public debt to 

GDP increased to 48.4%. 

 

Inflation continued to decline throughout the year, reaching 

6.6% at year-end. Core inflation was higher than headline in-

flation. The average consumer price inflation declined from 

13.7% in 2022 to 10.5%, mainly due to easing energy and food 

prices. The Romanian leu was stable against the euro and 

traded in a narrow range around 4.95 throughout the year. The 

National Bank of Romania raised its key rate by 25 basis points 

in January 2023 and kept it unchanged at 7.00% for the remain-

der of the year. The central bank indicated that rate cuts could 

begin once inflation falls below the key rate level.  

 

Based on the stabilisation of public debt, gradual fiscal consoli-

dation and resilience to the shock from the war in Ukraine, Fitch 

upgraded Romania’s sovereign rating outlook to stable from neg-

ative in March 2023, while keeping the rating unchanged at 

BBB-. Standard & Poor’s maintained the rating unchanged at 

BBB- with a stable outlook. Moody’s also kept Romania’s sover-

eign rating unchanged at Baa3 with a stable outlook. 

 

Key economic indicators – Romania 2020 2021 2022 2023e 

Population (average million)   193 192 190 190 
GDP (nominal EUR billion)   2205 2417 2842 3153 
GDP/capita (in EUR thousand)   114 126 149 166 
Real GDP growth -37 57 41 20 
Private consumption growth -39 75 58 30 
Exports (share of GDP)   282 309 324 295 
Imports (share of GDP)   365 407 444 387 
Unemployment (Eurostat definition)   61 56 56 55 
Consumer price inflation (average)   27 51 137 105 
Short term interest rate (3 months average)   24 18 62 66 
EUR FX rate (average)   48 49 49 49 
EUR FX rate (eop)   49 49 49 50 
Current account balance (share of GDP)   -49 -72 -92 -72 
General government balance (share of GDP)   -92 -71 -62 -60 

Source: Erste Group 

 

Market review 

The Romanian banking market registered volume growth in 

2023. Customer loans increased by 6.5%, and customer deposits 

were up by 11.8%. On the lending side, growth was driven by cor-

porate loans, which rose by 10.9%. Retail loans increased by 1.6%. 

Housing loans, impacted by high interest rates, declined by 0.4% 

while consumer loans rose by 4.7%. The significant growth in 

customer deposits was almost equally distributed between retail 

and corporate business, rising by 11.6% and 12.1%, respectively. 

Overall, the banking system’s loan-to-deposit ratio decreased 

marginally to 67.5%. The Romanian National Bank increased the 

countercyclical capital buffer from 0.5% to 1% as of October 2023. 

The Romanian banking sector remained strongly capitalised, 

with a capital adequacy ratio of 22.3%. 
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Source: National Bank of Romania, Erste Group 

 

The profitability of the Romanian banking system was strong 

in 2023. Net interest income was supported by the interest rate 

environment and volume growth. Fee and commission income 

also rose, driven mainly by securities business and insurance-

related fees. Expenses were impacted by elevated inflation. 

Banks continued to adjust their branch networks and work-

force. Asset quality improved further, and risk provisions were 

low. Financial institutions did not yet have to pay banking tax 

in 2023. Overall, the Romanian banking sector achieved a re-

turn on equity of 21.3%. 

 

 
Source: National Bank of Romania, Erste Group 

 

The Romanian banking market’s consolidation continued. 

UniCredit and Alpha Bank announced their plan to merge their 

Romanian subsidiaries creating the third-largest bank of the 

country by total assets. Intesa Sanpaolo announced it would ac-

quire Romania’s First Bank from US-based private investment 

fund J.C. Flowers & Co., strengthening its presence in CEE and 

doubling the group’s presence in the country. Finally, OTP Bank 

sold its Romanian subsidiary to Banca Transilvania, with OTP 

Bank Romania being the fourth bank taken over by Banca 

Transilvania in less than a decade, after Volksbank Romania, 

Bancpost and Idea Bank. 

 

Banca Comercială Română (BCR) remained the second largest 

bank in the country both in terms of customer loans and depos-

its. The bank’s customer loan market share stood at 14.1%. Its 

retail loan market share amounted to 16.3%, while in the corpo-

rate sector it was 12.2%. At 21.4%, the bank maintained its mar-

ket-leading position in asset management business. Banca 

Comercială Română kept its second place in the country by to-

tal assets, with a market share of 13.4% in December 2023. 

Business review 

Interview with Sergiu Manea,  
CEO of Banca Comercială Română 
 

How did the competitive environment change? 

Adapting to the high interest rate environment was the theme 

of last year. The National Bank kept the monetary policy rate at 

7.00% throughout the year. Commercial banks had to navigate 

through the changed interest rate environment, adjusting to 

slower lending and higher appetite for term deposits. Loan 

growth in the mid-single digits was mainly supported by corpo-

rate demand, while retail was negatively affected, especially on 

the mortgage side. The NPL ratio remained low given the pru-

dent lending standards and tight macroprudential policies. 

 

The Romanian banking system saw a flurry of M&A deals in 

2023, eventually leading to further consolidation, while the 

competition between banks remained fierce. Weaker lending 

demand meant a smaller piece of the pie for everyone, while 

retaining customer deposits with attractive rates and offers was 

challenging. The task of attracting human talent and high infla-

tion continued to put pressure on personnel expenses. 

 

Buzzwords such as the green transition or financial health 

have become more and more important in sustainability 

reporting. Which developments would you highlight? 

We remain dedicated to financing a more sustainable, less car-

bon-intense and more equitable and inclusive society while also 

investing in the financial education of our communities. We set 

our targets and actions as we transit towards a net-zero opera-

tions and loan portfolio by 2050. We financed and co-financed 

the real economy through strategic sustainable projects along-

side EU funds, the NRRP (National Recovery and Resilience 

Plan) and other governmental programmes.  

 

In 2023, BCR confirmed its green transition commitments by 

issuing its first green eurobond. Furthermore, we have con-

stantly increased our green loans portfolio. The Casa Mea 

Natura mortgage product – loans for class A energy-efficient 

homes – accounted for more than half of the bank’s new mort-

gage volume granted in 2023. Also, we have financed renewable 
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energy projects, sustainable transportation infrastructure, en-

ergy efficiency industrial projects, as well as circular economy 

and recycling projects. We thus support the climate transition 

efforts of our emission-intensive customers. 

 

How did you manage to successfully differentiate your 

business activities from those of your competitors? 

In 2023, we continued our financial health roadshow, covering 

eight of Romania’s largest cities and meeting more than 4,000 

customers. We also continued to scale up our flagship financial 

literacy programmes and reached one million Romanians who 

have received free financial education through Money School 

and Financial Coach. Money School exceeded 650,000 people 

trained online and offline in the last seven years, with more than 

1,500 BCR colleagues being involved in this initiative. We also de-

livered 400,000 financial coaching sessions, offering tailored fi-

nancial solutions based on the customer’s life plans and individ-

ual goals. BCR’s Financial Coach service was launched in 2022 as 

an innovative, self-developed data analytics platform, available 

free of charge to any interested individual, BCR client or not. 

 

Another step forward was the launch of BCR Seed Starter, the 

first corporate venture capital company investing in technology 

start-ups to be set up by a bank in Romania. BCR Seed Starter 

provides equity to start-ups developing innovative fintech solu-

tions. By using these solutions, we look to optimise our internal 

banking processes, diversify services and also support our ESG 

goals. Furthermore, the well-established InnovX-BCR business 

accelerator currently works with 190 companies. 

 

We enhanced the capabilities of ADA, the first chatbot for retail 

and corporate clients on the local banking market, integrated in 

George, our digital banking system. ADA is a gamechanger in 

terms of virtual banking assistance, with over 40 financing pro-

grammes mapped in and over 850,000 client interactions in 2023. 

 

Looking back at the year, what major achievements or 

challenges were especially noteworthy? 

In 2023, as just mentioned, BCR marked its debut on the inter-

national capital markets by becoming the first bank in Romania 

to issue a green eurobond. This was also the largest corporate 

bond in Romania, amounting to EUR 700 million. Over the past 

five years, BCR has issued senior preferred and non-preferred 

bonds totalling 8.7 billion in RON equivalent, being one of the 

most active issuers on the Bucharest Stock Exchange. 

 

We have also played an important role in the listing of Hidro-

electrica, the largest electricity producer in Romania, with a 

100% renewable portfolio. BCR acted as joint bookrunner in the 

IPO, the third largest in CEE to date, and offered retail investors 

fully digital trading options in George through BCR Broker. 

 

Over 140,000 companies have so far enrolled in our digital busi-

ness offering George Pro. On the retail side, we have almost 1.9 

million active George users. In 2023, almost 90% of new cash 

loans, credit cards and overdrafts were granted on a fully digital 

flow through George. We also launched the first fully online 

mortgage loan in Romania, accessible directly in George. 

 

Last but not least, BCR remained one of the most efficient 

banks in Romania by further improving its cost/income ratio to 

39.2% in 2023. 

Financial review 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 5300 6370 202% 
Net fee and commission income 1915 2047 69% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL 1278 1115 -127% 
Operating income 8679 9644 111% 
Operating expenses  -3812 -4179 96% 
Operating result   4867 5465 123% 
Cost/income ratio  439% 433%   
Impairment result from financial instruments -798 -94 -883% 
Other result -373 -338 -92% 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 2966 3830 291% 
Return on allocated capital 165% 207%   

 

The segment analysis is done on a constant currency basis. The 

RON depreciated by 0.3% against the EUR in the reporting period. 

Net interest income in the Romania segment (comprising Banca 

Comercială Română Group) was positively impacted by higher 

market interest rates combined with higher business volumes. 

Net fee and commission income increased mainly on higher 

lending fees. The decline of the net trading result and 

gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL was attributable 

to lower trading result from bonds, money market instruments 

and interest rate derivatives. Operating expenses went up mainly 

due to higher personnel expenses, contributions to the deposit in-

surance fund decreased to EUR 5 million (EUR 9 million). Over-

all, operating result increased and the cost/income ratio im-

proved moderately. Impairment result from financial 



 

40

instruments improved due to lower allocations on the back of 

methodological changes and net releases caused by refinancing 

in the fourth quarter. Other result improved mainly on lower pro-

visions for other commitments. The contribution to the resolu-

tion fund amounted to EUR 10 million (EUR 12 million). Overall, 

the net result attributable to the owners of the parent increased. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk exposure in the Romania segment rose visibly to EUR 

23.5 billion (+8.2%). Loans to customers increased to EUR 12.4 

billion (+5.8%). Their share in Erste Group’s total customer loan 

portfolio is largely stable at 5.8% (5.7%). An expansion of lending 

volume was seen primarily in corporate business, specifically in 

large corporates. Non-performing loans increased to EUR 353 

million (+8.2%), mainly attributable to the corporate segment. 

As a result of this development and the growth of the loan port-

folio, non-performing loans as a percentage of total loans to cus-

tomers remained by and large stable at 2.9% (2.8%). Loan loss 

provisions decreased slightly, but the coverage of non-perform-

ing loans remained high at 168.5% (171.4%). 

Hungary 

Economic review 

In 2023, Hungary’s economy declined due to weaker domestic 

demand and investments on the back of high inflation, tighter 

fiscal and monetary policies and lower disposable income. Ex-

ports did not contribute to growth either. Agriculture, on the 

other hand, performed very well. Foreign direct investment 

amounted to a little over EUR 13 billion in 2023, doubling from 

2022 levels. Most investments came from China, and Hungary 

became China’s top investment destination in Central Europe. 

China was also the second-largest importer to Hungary after 

Germany. One third of the country’s manufacturing output was 

produced by carmakers. Hungary’s labour market remained 

tight. The unemployment rate increased slightly to 4.0%, low 

compared to many other European countries. Overall, real GDP 

decreased by 0.9%, GDP per capita amounted to EUR 20,200. 

 

The general government deficit remained elevated at 6.0% of 

GDP. The deficit was mainly driven by higher interest-related 

expenses and pension payments. The lack of European Union 

fund inflows also contributed to the deficit. Public expenditure 

was impacted by the continuation of various state subsidies for 

retail and corporate loan programmes, a 15% pension increase 

and increased family allowances. Public debt to GDP improved 

to 73.0%.  

 

Inflation in Hungary declined significantly, in particular in the 

second half of the year, but still remained above the CEE aver-

age. Average consumer price inflation stood at 17.6%. The Hun-

garian forint appreciated 4.5% against the euro. The strengthen-

ing of the forint was supported by the release of EUR 10.2 bil-

lion in cohesion funds for Hungary, almost a year after the 

funds were frozen by the EU. Starting in October, the Hungar-

ian National Bank began cutting its key policy rate. Over the 

year, the central bank reduced the policy rate in three steps by 

a total of 225 basis points to 10.75%.  

 

In January 2023, Standard & Poor’s downgraded Hungary’s sov-

ereign rating to BBB- with a stable outlook. The downgrade was 

a result of the economic slowdown, high energy prices and the 

suspension of European Union funds. Fitch left the country’s 

long-term credit rating unchanged at BBB but revised its out-

look from stable to negative. Moody’s kept the country’s long-

term credit rating unchanged at Baa2 with a stable outlook. 

 

 

Key economic indicators – Hungary 2020 2021 2022 2023e 

Population (average million)   98 97 97 97 
GDP (nominal EUR billion)   1379 1540 1688 1954 
GDP/capita (in EUR thousand)   141 158 174 202 
Real GDP growth -45 71 46 -09 
Private consumption growth -18 40 64 -16 
Exports (share of GDP)   793 766 733 730 
Imports (share of GDP)   811 849 890 880 
Unemployment (Eurostat definition)   41 40 36 40 
Consumer price inflation (average)   33 51 145 176 
Short term interest rate (3 months average)   07 14 100 144 
EUR FX rate (average)   3512 3585 3913 3817 
EUR FX rate (eop)   3651 3690 4003 3828 
Current account balance (share of GDP)   -11 -42 -82 02 
General government balance (share of GDP)   -75 -71 -62 -60 

Source: Erste Group 
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Market review 

The Hungarian banking market enjoyed record profitability in 

2023. Customer loans grew by 2.7%, mainly due to a relatively 

strong demand for corporate lending. Corporate loan growth 

amounted to 4.0%, driven by inventory and working capital 

loans, supported by loan programmes for SMEs and for dedi-

cated sectors. At 1.1%, retail loans increased at a slower pace, 

mainly driven by consumer loans. The demand for housing 

loans slowed down visibly. The government extended the very 

popular baby loan and the state-guaranteed mortgage pro-

gramme for families with children with updated conditions. 

The 5% preferential VAT rate for home construction was also 

extended until the end of 2024. Customer deposits increased by 

0.3% and were almost entirely driven by corporate deposits. Pre-

mium Hungarian State Securities (PMAP) played an important 

role in the development of savings. As of 1 July 2023, the gov-

ernment imposed a 13% social contribution tax on income from 

private savings on top of the 15% personal income tax. In addi-

tion, securities funds were ordered to keep a minimum level of 

60% in equity holdings. Overall, the banking system’s loan-to-

deposit ratio stood at 69.6%. 

 

 
Source: Hungarian National Bank, Erste Group 

 

Net interest income grew significantly on the back of rising in-

terest rates. The government extended the interest rate cap for 

variable and fixed rate residential mortgages until 30 June 2024. 

This regulation limits the reference interest rate of qualifying 

mortgages at the levels of 27 October 2021. The government 

also extended the interest rate cap for SME loans for non-subsi-

dised, forint-based credit set at levels on 28 June 2022. This 

measure runs until 1 April 2024. In addition, a voluntary inter-

est rate cap was introduced in October 2023 for newly disbursed 

loans to support lending. A payment moratorium for agricul-

tural enterprises was introduced between 1 September and 31 

December 2023. The Hungarian National Bank increased the 

mandatory reserve requirement from 5% to 10%. Net fee and 

commission income benefited significantly from asset manage-

ment business. Administrative expenses remained under 

control, although the increase in personnel expenses was visi-

ble. The number of branches decreased further. Asset quality 

developed favourably, and risk costs were low. Banks continued 

to pay banking and transaction taxes. In addition, the windfall 

tax, which was originally implemented for 2022 and 2023, was 

extended until 2024. The Hungarian National Bank increased 

the countercyclical capital buffer for the first time since its in-

troduction seven years ago to 0.5% as of 1 July 2023. Overall, the 

banking sector’s return on equity stood at 19.7%. The Hungar-

ian banking sector continued to be well capitalised, with a cap-

ital adequacy ratio of around 19%. 

 

Consolidation of the Hungarian banking market continued. 

The merger of Budapest Bank, MKB Bank and the Takarék 

Group was completed in May 2023. This triple bank merger was 

led by Magyar Bank Holding (MBH), which is the second-larg-

est universal bank in the country. MBH announced that it had 

signed an agreement to buy 76% of Fundamenta, a local build-

ing society company. Among the smaller transactions, Cofidis 

SA signed an agreement to purchase Cetelem Bank, the local 

subsidiary of BNP Paribas. Erste Group bought back the 30% 

stake held by the Hungarian state and EBRD and again became 

100% owner of its local subsidiary.  

 

 
Source: Hungarian National Bank, Erste Group 

 

Erste Bank Hungary remained one of the major market players 

in the country. Its market share in customer loans stood at 9.0%, 

with retail business remaining more dominant than corporate 

business. The customer deposit market share declined slightly 

to 8.7%. Erste Bank Hungary closed 2023 with a 20.0% market 

share in asset management. The number of George users in-

creased further and exceeded 700,000 by the end of the year. At 

6.4%, Erste Bank Hungary was the fourth-largest bank in the 

country in terms of total assets. 
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Business review 

Interview with Radován Jelasity,  
CEO of Erste Bank Hungary, 
 

How did the competitive environment change? 

The economic performance, the significant inflationary pres-

sure and the monetary policy response to them determined the 

general macroeconomic framework for the banking sector in 

2023. The fair value and increased income from money market 

placements due to higher average market rates provided signif-

icant additional income. Inflation well above expectations and 

attractive investment alternatives in government bonds con-

tributed to declining deposits. Due to economic recession, loan 

growth was modest. Government measures – in particular extra 

profit tax, loan interest rate caps and loan moratoria – again had 

a negative impact. Nonetheless, the last quarter of 2023 gave us 

good reasons for optimism: modest economic growth, sharply 

falling inflation and a stable exchange rate despite the central 

bank’s rate cuts.  

 

The sector’s consolidation continued, most visibly the merger 

of the Hungarian Banking Holding (Magyar Bankholding, 

MBH) with Takarékbank was completed at the end of April. In 

addition, MBH announced the acquisition of Fundamenta Zrt, 

Hungary’s largest building society, in November.  

 

Erste Group Bank AG, our parent, repurchased a 15% stake in 

Erste Bank Hungary from the Hungarian state-owned Corvinus 

International Investment Ltd in November. In December, Erste 

Group also repurchased the 15% stake held by the EBRD (Euro-

pean Bank for Reconstruction and Development), thus again 

becoming the sole shareholder of our bank. 

 

Buzzwords such as the green transition or financial health 

have become more and more important in sustainability 

reporting. Which developments would you highlight? 

I would highlight two environmental topics: The first one is fi-

nancing the green transition via green loans. Last year, we in-

creased our green corporate book by EUR 100 million, financ-

ing mainly green commercial real estate and renewable energy 

projects. And we have even more ambitious targets for 2024 by 

widening our scope of green financing. The other topic is decar-

bonisation. After publishing our Science Based Targets initia-

tive-aligned decarbonisation pathways, we put in motion our 

action plans to halve our emission intensity by 2030. 

Last but not least, financial health is also a priority for us. We 

continued our “We speak your language” programme, com-

municating with customers in a clear, understandable and cus-

tomer-centric way. 24% of our clients hold investment accounts 

and 7.4% are Erste Future Invest customers as well. We have 

also launched the Portfolio Health Index, which helps clients to 

improve the health and diversification of their investments. In 

addition, the Corporate business line implemented financial 

health focused customer meetings for SME clients. 

 

How did you manage to successfully differentiate your 

business activities from those of your competitors? 

In 2023, we have welcomed 65,000 new retail clients, our high-

est number of new clients ever. Next to a strong customer ac-

quisition focus, our strategy remained unchanged, with cus-

tomer satisfaction as one of our key KPIs. We consider this com-

ponent in everything we do, be it a digital development, a new 

solution, or a product launch. We have a well-established, stable 

branch network with nationwide presence, which is easily ac-

cessible to customers, despite the wave of branch closures in the 

market.  

 

We are constantly striving to advance digital development. To 

this end, we are continuously improving George, our end-to-

end sales capabilities, servicing functionalities and functions, 

such as the Portfolio Health Index. More than 70% of our retail 

customers are digitally active, that is more than 607,000, and 

more than 42,000 customers already use George Micro, availa-

ble since the end of July. 

 

Looking back at the year, what major achievements or 

challenges were especially noteworthy? 

The economic situation brought significant challenges for the 

sector, including us, which we had to address effectively. In ad-

dition to our high customer satisfaction , we maintained the high 

level of employee engagement score at 78%. Our efforts were re-

warded by numerous awards. We ranked second in the employer 

branding category from Mastercard and were also named as one 

of the 10 best places to work in Hungary. We not only won the 

Visa #1 Loyalty Programme Award but also received the Visa 

Portfolio ESG Banking Award for our significant sustainability 

efforts. We published a comprehensive carbon reduction and 

net-zero strategy in our 2023 climate report. In addition to devel-

oping green banking activities and operations, it also incorpo-

rates a social perspective, focusing on financial awareness, pro-

moting inclusion and supporting gender equality. 
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Financial review 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 3958 3569 -98% 
Net fee and commission income 2228 2547 144% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL -725 1417 n/a 
Operating income 5538 7634 379% 
Operating expenses  -2468 -2696 92% 
Operating result   3069 4938 609% 
Cost/income ratio  446% 353%   
Impairment result from financial instruments -184 14 n/a 
Other result -1379 -1916 389% 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 1251 2649 >1000% 
Return on allocated capital 100% 173%   

 

The segment analysis is done on a constant currency basis. The 

HUF appreciated by 2.3% against the EUR in the reporting pe-

riod. Net interest income in the Hungary segment (comprising 

Erste Bank Hungary Group) was negatively impacted by a P&L 

neutral shift from net trading result to interest expense (mainly 

intra-group transactions) as well as modification losses related 

to the mortgage interest cap prolongation. These developments 

were only partially offset by significantly higher interest rates 

supported by money market placements. Net fee and commis-

sion income rose on higher payment and securities fees. Net 

trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at 

FVPL improved due to valuation effects as well as the positive 

impact of the P&L neutral shift to net interest income. Operat-

ing expenses increased due to higher personnel and IT expenses, 

partially compensated for by lower contributions to the deposit 

insurance fund of EUR 5 million (EUR 18 million, predomi-

nantly driven by last year’s Sberbank Europe deposit insurance 

case). Consequently, both operating result and the cost/income 

ratio improved notably. Impairment result from financial in-

struments improved due to parameter updates. The deteriora-

tion of other result was driven by selling losses from bonds, im-

pairment of non-financial assets, provisions for legal expenses 

and a higher financial transaction tax of EUR 71 million (EUR 

59 million), partially offset by releases of provisions for other 

commitments. The banking tax remained by and large stable at 

EUR 66 million (EUR 65 million); it included the regular bank-

ing tax and a windfall profit tax of EUR 48 million (EUR 50 mil-

lion). The contribution to the resolution fund decreased to EUR 

2 million (EUR 4 million). Overall, the net result attributable to 

the owners of the parent increased. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk exposure in the Hungary segment decreased to EUR 

12.6 billion (-3.0%). This decline was mainly attributable to a 

decline in corporate business. On the other hand, loans to cus-

tomers increased to EUR 6.1 billion (+3.3%). The share of the 

Hungary segment in Erste Group’s total loans to customers re-

mained stable at 2.9%. While loans in the retail segment in-

creased substantially to EUR 3.2 billion (+11.3%), loans to 

corporates decreased to EUR 2.9 billion (-4.4%). Non-perform-

ing loans as a percentage of total loans to customers again de-

creased to 2.6% (2.8%). The loan loss provision coverage of non-

performing loans increased to 110.6% (102.8%). 

Croatia 

Economic review 

The Croatian economy performed well in 2023, benefiting pri-

marily from euro adoption and strong performance of the tour-

ist sector. Economic growth was broad-based, driven primarily 

by strong household consumption and booming exports. Pri-

vate consumption was supported by rising disposable income. 

Investments significantly benefited from the inflow of Euro-

pean Union funds. Tourism, accounting for approximately one 

fifth of Croatia’s GDP, performed well again. Overnight stays 

increased by 2.8% compared to 2022. Croatia’s labour market 

remained strong, and the unemployment rate declined further 

to 6.3%. Overall, real GDP increased by 2.4%. GDP per capita 

amounted to EUR 19,500.  

 

Croatia’s public finances improved further. Croatia’s fiscal rev-

enues grew markedly. Significant wage increases, higher pen-

sions and numerous social benefits were more than offset by 

windfall tax revenues. EU funds inflows also supported reve-

nues. On the expense side, the government extended support 

measures for households, such as a freeze of gas and electricity 

prices. The government also continued the country’s green 

transition including renovation of buildings. Overall, Croatia 

maintained fiscal discipline with a general government deficit 

of just 0.5% of GDP. Public debt as a percentage of GDP de-

creased further to 61.4%. 

 

Inflation moderated significantly after peaking at 13.5% in No-

vember 2022 and, despite significant wage inflation, Croatia was 

among the few CEE countries with a single-digit consumer price 
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increase in 2023. Inflation declined significantly in the service 

sector, and food prices moderated following supply-chain dis-

ruptions a year ago. Average consumer prices increased by 8.1%. 

On 1 January 2023, Croatia became the 20th member of the eu-

rozone and joined the Schengen area. In 2023, the ECB in-

creased the key policy rate in six steps from 2.50% to 4.50%.  

All three major rating agencies kept their ratings unchanged 

but upgraded their outlook from stable to positive. Fitch and 

Standard & Poor’s maintained Croatia’s long-term credit rating 

at BBB+, Moody’s at Baa2. 

 

 

Key economic indicators – Croatia   2020 2021 2022 2023e 

Population (average million)   41 40 39 39 
GDP (nominal EUR billion)   506 584 680 758 
GDP/capita (in EUR thousand)   125 145 175 195 
Real GDP growth -86 138 63 24 
Private consumption growth -52 107 67 27 
Exports (share of GDP)   238 253 302 254 
Imports (share of GDP)   413 449 569 490 
Unemployment (Eurostat definition)   75 76 70 63 
Consumer price inflation (average)   01 26 108 81 
EUR FX rate (average)   75 75 75 - 
EUR FX rate (eop)   76 75 75 - 
Current account balance (share of GDP)   -10 10 -28 10 
General government balance (share of GDP)   -73 -25 01 -05 

Source: Erste Group 

 

Market review 

In 2023, the most important development in the Croatian bank-

ing system was the adoption of the euro. Financial institutions 

made major adjustments to their IT systems and ATM networks 

while clients converted their cash reserves denominated in 

kuna into euro. As early as September 2022, dual-price listings 

began and remained mandatory throughout 2023. Customer 

loans grew by 5.6%, mainly driven by retail loans, which in-

creased by 9.0%. Demand for housing loans was relatively 

strong compared to other CEE countries. As expected, corpo-

rate lending growth moderated after the significant pick-up in 

the previous year. Corporate loans grew by 5.8%.  

 

 
Source: National Bank of Croatia, Erste Group 

 

Deposit growth was muted after the very strong development of 

the previous year ahead of the euro adoption. Customer depos-

its increased by 1.2%. While retail deposits decreased by 0.5%, 

corporate deposits rose by 4.1%. The Croatian National Bank in-

creased the countercyclical capital buffer by 50 basis points to 

1.0% as of 1 January 2023, and by another 50 basis points for 

2024. The only noteworthy banking sector transaction was the 

acquisition of the local Sberbank subsidiary by the Croatian 

Postal Bank in July 2023. At year-end, the banking system’s 

loan-to-deposit ratio stood at 73.4%. 

 

 
Source: National Bank of Croatia, Erste Group 

 

The profitability of the Croatian banking sector increased 

mainly on rising revenues and low risk provisions. Revenues 

benefited significantly from the normalised interest rate envi-

ronment. Operating expenses increased on the back of elevated 
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inflation. The cost/income ratio stood at 41.0%. Asset quality 

improved further. The share of non-performing loans (NPL) as 

a percentage of gross loans declined to 2.6%. This development 

was attributable to both loans to non-financial corporations as 

well as loans to households. The coverage ratio stood at 69.0% 

at the end of the year. A one-off windfall tax of 33% was intro-

duced for all companies having an annual turnover above EUR 

40 million, with the excess profit defined as the profit higher 

than 120% of the average between 2018 and 2021. The windfall 

tax has not been extended to 2024. The capital adequacy ratio 

of the banking system remained robust at 23.6%. At the end of 

the year, all credit institutions met the minimum liquidity re-

quirements, with the average liquidity coverage ratio standing 

at an impressive 238.1%. Overall, the country’s banking sector 

achieved a return on equity of 15.6%. 

 

Erste Bank Croatia remained among the three largest banks in 

the country. In terms of total assets, the bank had a market share 

of 16.8%. It continued to benefit from its very strong brand and 

the digital platform George, which was introduced in 2020. In 

addition to George, the digital platform KEKS Pay reached more 

than 410,000 users, of which 70% were not customers of Erste 

Bank Croatia. The bank’s customer loan and customer deposit 

market shares stood at 18.7% and 16.8%, respectively. The bank’s 

market share in asset management equalled 10.3%. The bank’s 

loan-to-deposit ratio amounted to 80.3%. 

Business review 

Interview with Christoph Schöfböck,  
CEO of Erste Bank Croatia, 
 

How did the competitive environment change? 

The past year was primarily marked by Croatia's entry into the 

eurozone and the Schengen area. This was the fulfilment of two 

crucial strategic goals for the country, which will result in very 

positive effects in the medium and long term. A major chal-

lenge in 2023 was rising interest rates in the eurozone.  

 

Credit activity remained solid overall – against the international 

trend – especially the retail segment showed healthy lending 

growth, while corporate lending delivered lower growth.  

 

We benefited from the high proportion of fixed interest rate 

products as well as from variable rates using slower-moving 

benchmarks compared to Euribor, such as the National Refer-

ence Rate, which we have offered to retail clients during the 

past years. This resulted in an overall lower interest rate sensi-

tivity of the banks’ lending portfolio, especially during the ECB 

rate hike cycle. 

 

Buzzwords such as the green transition or financial health 

have become more and more important in sustainability 

reporting. Which developments would you highlight? 

Erste Bank Croatia places a significant focus on ESG topics and 

environmentally responsible business practices. More favoura-

ble conditions were offered for products related to improved en-

ergy efficiency or the use of renewable energy sources such as 

solar panels. Lectures and panel discussions on the impact of 

ESG transformation were organised for corporate clients, and 

an online energy efficiency calculator was introduced. An up-

dated version of the Financial Health Zone tool for corporate 

clients was published, which provides our clients with a better 

insight into the indicators of the financial success of their busi-

ness. In the retail segment, the primary focus was on the devel-

opment of a modern, improved overall advisory process, with 

calculations and presentations of key indicators of financial 

health along with the identification of the current financial sit-

uation and future financial plans of the clients. 

 

How did you manage to successfully differentiate your 

business activities from those of your competitors? 

Our business was characterised by continued growth of total 

loans and partnership co-operation with our clients resulting in 

very high customer experience ratings. Our digital channels 

have also recorded continued and stable growth – the total 

number of active users of George online banking was around 

410,000 at year-end, while the number of KEKS Pay users 

reached 411,000. Last year was also marked by the continuing 

downward trend of  non-performing loans, from 3.6% to 3.0% at 

the end of 2023. Finally, we have once again confirmed our po-

sition as the most active bond issuer among financial institu-

tions in Croatia, by issuing a preferred senior bond as part of 

meeting the minimum requirements for own funds and eligible 

liabilities (MREL) in June. We were one of the leading agents 

in the issuing of the Republic of Croatia bond (national bond) 

on the domestic capital market, thus continuing our efforts to 

support the development of the local capital market. 

 

Looking back at the year, what major achievements or 

challenges were especially noteworthy? 

In general, our bank’s position on the Croatian market is solid 

and stable. We hold a leading position in many business seg-

ments, have the highest rating from credit rating agencies (here, 

I am referring to our A-rating by Fitch Ratings) among banks 

and other companies on the domestic market. We also won our 

ninth Golden Kuna award for the most successful Croatian bank. 

We benefit from a strong capital position, high level of liquidity, 

high degree of trust by our clients, and the fact that we belong to 

a strong parent group that regards the CEE region as its core 

market. We put the focus of our business operations on effi-

ciency, innovation and striving for excellence, through which we 

want to contribute to the growth and development of the Croa-

tian economy, encouraging and promoting the prosperity of all 

of our employees, clients and Croatian society as a whole. 
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Financial review 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 2847 4034 417% 
Net fee and commission income 1172 1241 59% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL 379 163 -570% 
Operating income 4487 5525 231% 
Operating expenses  -2396 -2635 100% 
Operating result   2092 2889 381% 
Cost/income ratio  534% 477%   
Impairment result from financial instruments 422 459 87% 
Other result -270 -429 592% 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 1204 1645 366% 
Return on allocated capital 142% 223%   

 

Net interest income in the Croatia segment (comprising Erste 

Bank Croatia Group) increased due to higher market interest 

rates and customer loan volumes as well as higher income 

from securities. Net fee and commission income went up due 

to higher payments, securities and documentary fees. Net trad-

ing result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL 

deteriorated, driven by lower foreign currency transactions as 

a result of the introduction of the euro. Operating expenses 

went up on the back of higher personnel and IT costs. The con-

tribution to the deposit insurance fund rose to EUR 9 million 

(EUR 8 million). Overall, operating result increased and the 

cost/income ratio improved. Impairment result from financial 

instruments benefited from net releases driven by the imple-

mentation of a new rating model and parameter updates as 

well as the review of rules for collective SICR assessment 

(stage overlays). Other result worsened, mainly on selling 

losses from bonds. The resolution fund contribution decreased 

to EUR 0.3 million (EUR 5 million). Consequently, the net re-

sult attributable to the owners of the parent increased. 

Credit risk 

In the Croatia segment, credit risk exposure rose to EUR 14.9 

billion (+6.0%), while loans to customers grew even more dy-

namically, reaching EUR 9.4 billion (+9.7%). Customer loan 

volume as a percentage of Erste Group’s total loans to custom-

ers increased slightly to 4.5% (4.2%). The share of the retail seg-

ment of the loan portfolio stood at 42.9%, the share of the cor-

porate segment amounted to 57.1%. Croatia introduced the 

euro as of 1 January 2023. At year-end, loans denominated in 

euro represented 99.8% of the total portfolio. The NPL ratio de-

creased to 3.0% (3.6%). The NPL coverage ratio based on loan 

loss provisions slightly increased to 107.6% (105.9%). 

Serbia 

Economic review 

The Serbian economy performed better than expected and out-

performed the CEE average. In fact, Serbia was one of a very 

few European countries that showed higher GDP growth than 

in the previous year. After a relatively slow start to the year, the 

country’s economy substantially regained strength in the sec-

ond half of 2023, mainly driven by household consumption and 

investments, especially in the construction sector. The inflow of 

foreign direct investments, most notably to the manufacturing 

industry, was substantial. In addition, agricultural output was 

very strong. The contribution of exports to economic growth 

was only moderate. External demand was relatively weak, 

driven by slow growth of the country’s main trading partners, 

especially Germany. Serbia’s unemployment rate remained un-

changed compared to the previous year, at 9.4%. Overall, real 

GDP increased by 2.5%, and GDP per capita amounted to EUR 

10,500.  

 

Serbia maintained a sound fiscal stance. The general govern-

ment deficit decreased further to 2.2% in 2023, from 3.1% a year 

ago. Lower-than-planned capital transfers to state-owned enter-

prises in the energy sector and higher revenues from increased 

excise duties offset higher discretionary expenditures. These in-

cluded higher subsidies for agriculture, one-off lump-sum pay-

ments to retirees and families with children, an extraordinary 

pension increase and additional wage increases in the educa-

tion and health sectors. Public debt as a percentage of GDP de-

creased to 52.7%. 
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Inflation was among the highest in CEE. After peaking at 16.2% 

in March 2023, inflation started to decline and by the end of the 

year it reached the single-digit area. The decline in inflation was 

mainly driven by base effects in energy and transport prices, 

falling food prices and the solid local agricultural season. Aver-

age consumer prices increased by 12.5%. The Serbian dinar was 

again among the most stable currencies in CEE, trading at 

around RSD 117 against the euro throughout the year. In 2023, 

the National Bank of Serbia (NBS) increased its key policy rate 

in six steps by a total of 150 basis points to 6.50% and has kept 

the base rate unchanged since July 2023.  

 

Rating agencies affirmed Serbia’s long-term credit ratings. 

Standard & Poor’s and Fitch kept their rating unchanged at 

BB+ with a stable outlook. Moody’s kept the country’s long-

term credit rating at Ba2, also with a stable outlook. 

 

Key economic indicators – Serbia   2020 2021 2022 2023e 

Population (average million)   69 68 66 66 
GDP (nominal EUR billion)   468 533 604 692 
GDP/capita (in EUR thousand)   68 78 91 105 
Real GDP growth -09 77 25 25 
Private consumption growth -19 79 39 04 
Exports (share of GDP)   364 405 457 414 
Imports (share of GDP)   490 536 646 533 
Unemployment (Eurostat definition)   97 110 94 94 
Consumer price inflation (average)   16 40 119 125 
Short term interest rate (3 months average)   12 09 25 56 
EUR FX rate (average)   1176 1176 1175 1173 
EUR FX rate (eop)   1176 1176 1173 1172 
Current account balance (share of GDP)   -41 -42 -69 -26 
General government balance (share of GDP)   -80 -41 -31 -22 

Source: Erste Group 

 

Market review 

The Serbian banking market grew moderately in 2023. At 1.2%, 

customer loan growth was significantly impacted by the high 

interest rate environment. Both retail and corporate loans grew 

only marginally. In the retail sector, consumer lending proved 

to be the bright spot, while demand in mortgage business was 

low. The latter continued to be dominated by euro-indexed 

loans. At 12.6%, customer deposit growth was significantly 

higher than that of customer loans, driven mainly by corporate 

business. Overall, the banking system’s loan to deposit ratio de-

creased significantly to 77.5%. 

 

 
Source: National Bank of Serbia, Erste Group 

 

Despite low loan demand and the introduction of a temporary 

interest rate cap for mortgage loans, Serbia’s banking system 

continued to be profitable. Operating revenues were mainly 

driven by rising interest rates. Fee and commission income 

grew significantly. Operating expenses increased moderately 

despite rising personnel expenses. The number of branches de-

clined further. Digitalisation was boosted significantly due to 

the banks’ continuous efforts to migrate customers to digital 

channels. Asset quality trends remained favourable, and risk 

costs were low. The national bank did not change capital re-

quirements throughout the year and kept the countercyclical 

buffer at 0%. The banking system’s capital adequacy remained 

strong at above 22%, its return on equity improved to 18%. 

 

Consolidation of the Serbian banking market continued. Pri-

vately owned AIK Banka signed a purchase agreement to buy 

Eurobank Direktna Srbija (in March 2023) and completed its 

merger with the former local subsidiary of Sberbank. With 

these transactions AIK Banka became the third-largest bank of 

the country, with a total asset market share of around 13%. In 

April 2023, Montenegro-based and privately owned Adriatic 

Banka acquired 100% of the shares of Expobank. The merger 

between Raiffeisen Bank and RBA Banka, formerly a subsidiary 

of Crédit Agricole, was completed in May 2023. Following this 

acquisition, Raiffeisen Bank became Serbia’s fourth-largest 

bank in terms of total assets.  
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Source: National Bank of Serbia, Erste Group 

 

Erste Bank Serbia remained among the ten largest banks in the 

country. With 6.3% in terms of total assets, the bank further 

strengthened its market position. Its market share in customer 

loans increased to 7.3%. At 7.6%, the bank’s market share in cor-

porate loans was marginally higher than in retail loans. Erste 

Bank Serbia’s customer deposit market share increased to 6.5%. 

Euro-denominated deposits significantly outgrew deposits de-

nominated in Serbian dinar. Overall, the bank’s loan-to-deposit 

ratio stood at a healthy 90.4%. 

Business review 

Interview with Jasna Terzić,  
CEO of Erste Bank Serbia 
 

How did the competitive environment change? 

In 2023, the Serbian banking sector navigated through a chal-

lenging economic environment, grappling with a slow recovery 

from pandemic-related issues, and geopolitical challenges. The 

first half of the year saw modest economic performance, hin-

dered by high inflation, which impacted disposable income and 

domestic demand. High interest rates and regulatory measures, 

including interest rate caps on mortgages, also impacted bank-

ing business. 

 

Despite these challenges, the credit landscape experienced 

slight growth, influenced by the unwinding of corporate sector 

liquidity support initiated during the Covid period. Mortgage 

lending faced constraints due to interest rate caps, while cash 

lending showed expansion towards year-end, aligning with a re-

covery in household real income. 

 

All three major credit rating agencies, Standard & Poor’s, Fitch 

Ratings, and Moody’s, affirmed Serbia's ratings, maintaining its 

position at the threshold of investment grade. 

 

Buzzwords such as the green transition or financial health 

have become more and more important in sustainability 

reporting. Which developments would you highlight? 

At Erste Bank Serbia, we recognise the urgency of addressing 

climate change. We are taking meaningful action in responsible 

financing and supporting renewable energy sources aiming at 

lower carbon dioxide emissions. Our collaboration with the Eu-

ropean Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) 

through the Green Economy Financing Facility (GEFF) for the 

Western Balkans reflects our active promotion of energy effi-

ciency in households. 

 

We took some pioneering steps in our market by supporting 

larger joint investments in buildings through pilot projects. The 

recent approval of the first loan to a residential building com-

munity in Svilajnac will result in a remarkable 55% decrease in 

both primary energy consumption and CO2 emissions. 

 

We have maintained the leading role in financing renewable en-

ergy projects in the country. We emphasise environmental ben-

efits of harnessing wind potential, underlining the production 

of electricity without harmful gas emissions. In our operational 

efforts to contribute to decarbonisation, we have made signifi-

cant progress by improving the energy usage of our buildings 

and reducing our transport emissions. In addition, we promote 

a culture of sustainability among our employees, through ESG-

related education and the launch of a dedicated page on the in-

tranet. In 2023, we offset our Scope 1 and 2 emissions using 

high-quality carbon credits to achieve climate neutrality. 

 

How did you manage to successfully differentiate your 

business activities from those of your competitors? 

Our main goal was to successfully complete the migration to a 

new information system, a comprehensive and demanding pro-

ject which required a huge amount of resources and energy. The 

migration is part of our goal to provide state-of-the-art digital so-

lutions to our clients, and we continue to work in this direction. 

Despite having anticipated some decrease in customer satisfac-

tion across all client segments, we have managed to maintain a 

strong and competitive position relative to the top three market 

competitors. Understanding the evolving needs and expecta-

tions of our diverse client base, we remain dedicated to enhanc-

ing our products, services and overall customer experience. 

 

Looking back at the year, what major achievements or 

challenges were especially noteworthy? 

Looking back, 2023 was clearly a challenging year. Yet, in addi-

tion to achieving solid financial results, with increased volumes 

of both total loans and deposits to customers at the end of the 

year, we strengthened our efforts in ESG-related fields. 

 

I am proud that our efforts have been duly recognised, as we 

received the “Champions of Sustainability” award for our con-

tribution to the Agenda 2030 in the field of Gender Equality 

from the Sustainable Business Forum. 
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Financial review 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 830 1012 219% 
Net fee and commission income 230 238 35% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL 56 75 345% 
Operating income 1119 1342 199% 
Operating expenses  -744 -908 221% 
Operating result   375 434 155% 
Cost/income ratio  665% 677%   
Impairment result from financial instruments -200 -92 -539% 
Other result -29 09 n/a 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 112 259 >1000% 
Return on allocated capital 47% 103%   

 

The segment analysis is done on a constant currency basis. The 

Serbian dinar (RSD) appreciated by 0.2% against the EUR in the 

reporting period. Net interest income in the Serbia segment 

(comprising Erste Bank Serbia Group) increased due to higher 

loan volumes and market interest rates, partially offset by a 

modification loss related to the newly introduced interest cap 

on housing loans. Net fee and commission income increased 

marginally. The net trading result and gains/losses from finan-

cial instruments at FVPL improved on a higher contribution of 

foreign currency transactions. Operating expenses rose mainly 

due to higher personnel and IT costs. Contributions to the de-

posit insurance fund amounted to EUR 5 million (EUR 5 mil-

lion). Although the operating result improved, the cost/income 

ratio worsened. Impairment result from financial instruments 

improved on lower allocations driven by a review of rules for 

collective SICR assessment (stage overlays). Other result im-

proved on lower provisions for legal expenses. Overall, the net 

result attributable to owners of the parent increased notably. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk exposure in the Serbia segment increased signifi-

cantly to EUR 3.9 billion (+9.2%). Loans to customers increased 

to EUR 2.2 billion (+5.0%). Retail loans grew at a faster pace 

(+5.3%) than corporate loans (+4.7%). Non-performing loans 

increased slightly to 2.7% (2.4%) of total loans to customers. 

Loan loss provisions declined to 108.8% (119.8%) of non-per-

forming loans.
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6.3 — OUTLOOK

What are the next steps your bank will undertake in next 12 month-reporting period (particularly on impact analysis, target setting and gover-
nance structure for implementing the PRB)? Please describe briefly.

Over the next 12 months we plan to complete the following steps to further progress on the fulfilment of our 
Principles for Responsible Banking commitment and the targets we have set ourselves:

1. Define additional concrete measures to decarbonise our portfolio and develop specific product offerings
2. Extend our Responsible Financing policy
3. Expand our range of Financial Health products

6.4 — CHALLENGES

Here is a short section to find out about challenges your bank is possibly facing regarding the implementation of the Principles for Responsible 
Banking. Your feedback will be helpful to contextualise the collective progress of PRB signatory banks. 

What challenges have you prioritized to address when implementing the Principles for Responsible Banking? Please choose what you consider 
the top three challenges your bank has prioritized to address in the last 12 months (optional question).

 Embedding PRB oversight into governance  Customer engagement

 Gaining or maintaining momentum in the bank  Stakeholder engagement

 Getting started: where to start and what to focus on in the beginning  Data availability

 Conducting an impact analysis  Data quality

 Assessing negative environmental and social impacts  Access to resources

 Choosing the right performance measurement methodology/ies  Reporting

 Setting targets  Assurance

 Other: …  Prioritizing actions internally
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Despite the economic slowdown, labour markets remained very strong with countries like Hungary and the Czech Republic posting 

the lowest unemployment rates among the European Union countries. In response to elevated inflation rates, central banks continued 

with monetary tightening and, consequently, inflation dropped to single-digits in all CEE countries by the end of the year. Such a 

dynamic decline supported monetary easing scenarios in some non-euro countries, and the Hungarian and Czech central banks 

started to cut interest rates in the last quarter of the year. CEE governments implemented a range of measures to support households 

and businesses such as caps on electricity and fuel prices and direct energy subsidies. Windfall and special banking taxes were intro-

duced in a number of CEE countries, e.g. Hungary, Slovakia and Romania. While the Czech koruna depreciated against the euro, 

most CEE currencies were relatively stable during the year. On 1 January 2023, Croatia became the 20th member of the eurozone. 

Analysis of performance 

In the group management report P&L data of 2023 is compared with data of 2022, balance sheet data as of 31 December 2023 is 

compared to data as of 31 December 2022. The entire development is presented in detail in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Profit and Loss Statement. 

in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Net interest income 5951 7228 215% 
Net fee and commission income 2452 2640 76% 
Net trading result and gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL -47 449 n/a 
Operating income 8571 10552 231% 
Operating expenses  -4575 -5020 97% 
Operating result   3996 5532 384% 
Impairment result from financial instruments -300 -128 -573% 
Other operating result -399 -468 174% 

Levies on banking activities -187 -183 -19% 
Pre-tax result from continuing operations 3222 4795 488% 
Taxes on income -556 -874 572% 
Net result for the period 2666 3921 470% 

Net result attributable to non-controlling interests 502 923 840% 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 2165 2998 385% 

Net interest income 
Net interest income rose significantly both in the retail and in the corporate business. This marked increase was due to higher market 

rates most notably in Austria, Hungary, Croatia and Romania as well as higher loan volumes in nearly all core markets. In the Czech 

Republic, net interest income was negatively impacted by higher interest expense on deposits and slow repricing of retail loans. The 

net interest margin (calculated as the annualised sum of net interest income, dividend income and net result from equity method 

investments over average interest-bearing assets) widened markedly to 2.50% (2.21%). 

Net fee and commission income 
Growth was achieved across all core markets and nearly all fee and commission categories. Significant rises were recorded most 

notably in payment services in nearly all segments, with the exception of Serbia, driven by a larger number of transactions as well as 

repricing. Income from asset management and lending continued its positive trend. 

Net trading result & gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Net trading result as well as the line item gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss are 

materially affected by the fair value measurement of debt securities issued. The related valuation is shown in the fair value result, the 

valuation of corresponding hedges in the net trading result. 

 

Net trading result turned positive to EUR 754 million (EUR -779 million) due to valuation effects resulting from interest rate moves 

in the securities and derivatives business as well as higher income from foreign currency transactions. Gains/losses from financial 

instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss trended in the opposite direction and deteriorated to EUR -306 million 

(EUR 731 million). While the valuation of debt securities in issue resulted in losses, gains were posted from the valuation of the loan 

portfolio measured at fair value in Hungary as well as from the valuation of the securities portfolio in Austria (in the Savings Banks 

segment). 
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General administrative expenses 
in EUR million 2022 2023 Change 

Personnel expenses 2668 2991 121% 
Other administrative expenses 1356 1468 83% 
Depreciation and amortisation 551 560 17% 
General administrative expenses 4575 5020 97% 

 

Personnel expenses increased in all core markets – most significantly in Austria, the Czech Republic and Romania – driven mostly 

by higher collective salary agreements. The increase in other administrative expenses was primarily attributable to higher IT, mar-

keting and office-related expenses. By contrast, contributions to deposit insurance schemes declined to EUR 114.0 million 

(EUR 143 million). In Hungary, expenses dropped to EUR 5 million (EUR 18 million) as contributions in the comparative period had 

been higher due to a deposit insurance case (Sberbank Europe). In Austria, contributions declined to EUR 68 million (EUR 80 mil-

lion), in Slovakia to EUR 2 million (EUR 10 million). The cost/income ratio improved to 47.6% (53.4%). 

Gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss amounted to EUR 141 mil-

lion (EUR 75 million). This includes most notably negative results from the sale of securities in Austria. 

Impairment result from financial instruments 
The impairment result from financial instruments amounted to EUR -128 million (EUR -300 million). Net allocations to provisions 

for loans and advances declined to EUR 264 million (EUR 336 million), primarily on the back of releases in Romania. Positive con-

tributions came from income from the recovery of loans already written off, most notably in Austria, the Czech Republic and Croatia, 

in the amount of EUR 80 million (EUR 82 million) as well as from net releases of provisions for loan commitments and financial 

guarantees in the amount of EUR 70 million (net allocations of EUR 28 million). 

Other operating result 
Other operating result is significantly affected by contributions to resolution funds and taxes and levies on banking activities. Con-

tributions to resolution funds declined in all markets to EUR 113 million (EUR 139 million). The most notable decline was recorded 

in Austria, to EUR 65 million (EUR 74 million). Taxes and levies on banking activities were lower at EUR 183 million (EUR 187 mil-

lion). Thereof, EUR 46 million (EUR 63 million) were payable by Austrian entities. In Hungary, banking levies rose to a total of 

EUR 137 million (EUR 124 million): in addition to regular Hungarian banking tax of EUR 17 million (EUR 15 million), a windfall 

tax based on the previous year’s net revenues was posted in the amount of EUR 48 million (EUR 50 million). Financial transaction 

tax amounted to EUR 71 million (EUR 59 million). The balance of allocations/releases of other provisions deteriorated to  

EUR -23 million (EUR 46 million). In addition, impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets were recognised in the amount 

of EUR 70 million (EUR 44 million). 

Balance sheet 

in EUR million Dec 22 Dec 23 Change 

Assets       
Cash and cash balances 35685 36685 28% 
Trading financial assets 59833 63690 64% 
Loans and advances to banks 18435 21432 163% 
Loans and advances to customers 202109 207828 28% 
Intangible assets 1347 1313 -25% 
Miscellaneous assets 6456 6206 -39% 
Total assets 323865 337155 41% 
        
Liabilities and equity       
Financial liabilities held for trading 3264 2304 -294% 
Deposits from banks 28821 22911 -205% 
Deposits from customers 223973 232815 39% 
Debt securities issued 35904 43759 219% 
Miscellaneous liabilities 6599 6864 40% 
Total equity 25305 28502 126% 
Total liabilities and equity 323865 337155 41% 

 

Cash and cash balances amounted to EUR 36.7 billion (EUR 35.7 billion). Trading and investment securities held in various categories 

of financial assets increased to EUR 63.7 billion (EUR 59.8 billion). 
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Loans and advances to credit institutions (net), including demand deposits other than overnight deposits, grew – primarily in Austria 

and in the Czech Republic – to EUR 21.4 billion (EUR 18.4 billion). Loans and advances to customers (net) increased to EUR 207.8 bil-

lion (EUR 202.1 billion), most notably due to organic growth in Slovakia and Croatia as well as inorganic growth in the Czech Re-

public. Both retail and corporate loan volumes increased. 

 

Loan loss allowances for loans to customers were nearly unchanged at EUR 4.1 billion (EUR 4.0 billion). The NPL ratio – non-

performing loans as a percentage of gross customer loans – deteriorated slightly to 2.3% (2.0%), the NPL coverage ratio (based on 

gross customer loans) slipped to 85.1% (94.6%). 

 

Financial liabilities – held for trading amounted to EUR 2.3 billion (EUR 3.3 billion). Deposits from banks, including term deposits 

in an amount of EUR 6.4 billion (EUR 15.6 billion) carrying amount of TLTRO III funds, declined to EUR 22.9 billion (EUR 28.8 bil-

lion); deposits from customers rose to EUR 232.8 billion (EUR 224.0 billion) due to strong growth in term deposits of financial insti-

tutions. The loan-to-deposit ratio stood at 89.3% (90.2%). Debt securities in issue increased to EUR 43.8 billion (EUR 35.9 billion).   

 

Total assets rose to EUR 337.2 billion (EUR 323.9 billion). Total equity increased to EUR 28.5 billion (EUR 25.3 billion). This includes 

AT1 instruments in the amount of EUR 2.4 billion. After regulatory deductions and filtering according to the Capital Requirements 

Regulation (CRR) common equity tier 1 capital (CET1, CRR final) rose to EUR 22.9 billion (EUR 20.4 billion) as were total own funds 

(CRR final) to EUR 29.1 billion (EUR 26.2 billion). Total risk – risk-weighted assets including credit, market and operational risk 

(CRR final) – increased to EUR 146.5 billion (EUR 143.9 billion). 

 

The total capital ratio, total eligible qualifying capital in relation to total risk (CRR final), rose to 19.9% (18.2%), well above the legal 

minimum requirement. The tier 1 ratio increased to 17.3% (15.8%), the common equity tier 1 ratio advanced to 15.7% (14.2%) (both 

ratios CRR final). 

 

Cash earnings per share amounted to EUR 6.82 in 2023 (EUR 4.85). Earnings per share are EUR 6.80 (EUR 4.83). 

 

The cash return on equity, i.e. the return on equity adjusted for non-cash expenses such as goodwill amortization and straight-line 

depreciation for the customer relationships, was 15.9% (return on equity: 15.9%) after 12.7% (return on equity: 12.6%) last year. 

Branches 

Erste Group Bank AG maintains branches in New York, Hong Kong and Germany (Berlin and Stuttgart) that provide commercial 

lending to foreign banks, leasing companies and sovereign debtors as well as institutional sales.  

Expected development and risks of the Group 

Long-term growth trends in Central and Eastern Europe 

In line with growing economic performances disposable income have risen significantly in recent decades compared to Western 

Europe. In addition, most countries of Central and Eastern Europe have labour markets that are considerably more flexible. These 

advantages are complemented by, on average, highly competitive export industries that benefit from wage costs that are low relative 

to workforce productivity and from investor-friendly tax and welfare systems.  

  

A comparison of per capita private debt levels in Central and Eastern Europe with those of Western economies reveals the gap that 

exists between these markets. Private debt levels, and particularly household debt, are substantially lower than in the advanced econ-

omies. Erste Group firmly believes that credit expansion accompanied by economic growth in this region will prove to be a lasting 

trend.  

  

Over the upcoming 15 to 20 years, on average, the countries of the eastern part of the European Union are therefore expected to 

experience higher growth rates than the countries of Western Europe, even though periods of expansion may alternate with times of 

economic stagnation or even setbacks on this long-term path of sustainable growth. 



 

10

Customer banking in Central and Eastern Europe 

The basis of Erste Group's banking business are essentially the business segments of retail business, corporate business and the 

capital markets business. For further information on the business segments, we refer to Note 1 in the consolidated financial state-

ments. 

Retail business 
Erste Group’s key business is the retail business, covering the entire spectrum from lending, deposit and investment products to 

current accounts and credit cards. Erste Group’s core competence in retail banking has historical roots. In 1819, wealthy Viennese 

citizens donated funds to establish Erste Group’s predecessor, the first savings bank in Central Europe. It was their aim to bring basic 

banking services such as safe savings accounts and mortgage loans to wide sections of the population. Today, the bank serves some 

16.2 million customers in its markets and operates about 1,950 branches. Wealthy private clients, trusts and foundations are served 

by the bank’s private banking staff and benefit from services that are tailored to the needs of this target group. 

  

In addition, the bank uses and promotes digital distribution channels such as internet and mobile banking not only to meet the 

increasing importance of digital banking but to actively shape the digital future. George, Erste Group’s digital platform, is already 

available in Austria, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Romania, Croatia and Hungary. It will also be rolled out in Serbia. 

  

Retail banking is attractive to Erste Group for a number of reasons: It offers a compelling business case that is built on market lead-

ership, an attractive risk-reward profile and the principle of self-funding. In addition, it benefits from a comprehensive range of 

products that are simple and easy to understand and provide substantial cross-selling potential. Erste Group takes advantage of these 

factors in all core markets and makes best use of its resulting position of strength by pursuing a hybrid business model . Erste Group’s 

omni-channel approach 10 integrates the various sales and communication channels. Customers decide on how, when and where 

they do their banking business. Contact centers serve as interfaces between digital banking and traditional branch business. These 

contact centers offer advice and sales, thus going far beyond the traditional help desk function. 

  

In addition to the expansion of digital sales channels, the branch network remains an important component of the business strategy. 

Only a retail bank that offers modern digital services and operates an extensive distribution network is able to offer tailor-made 

solutions and fund loans in local currency mainly from deposits made in the same currency. In short, Erste Group’s retail banking 

model supports sustainable and deposit-funded growth even in economically more challenging times. Another positive factor is the 

diversification of the retail business across countries that are at differing stages of economic development, such as Austria, the Czech 

Republic, Romania, Slovakia, Hungary, Croatia and Serbia. 

Corporate business 
The second main business line, which also contributes significantly to Erste Group’s earnings, is business with small and medium-

sized enterprises, regional and multi-national groups and real estate companies. Erste Group’s goal is to enhance relationships with 

its clients beyond pure lending business. Specifically, the bank’s goal is for SMEs and large corporate customers to choose Erste Group 

as their principal bank and also route their payment transfers through the Group’s banking entities and, in fact, regard Erste Group 

as their first point of contact for any kind of banking service. 

  

Catering to their different requirements, Erste Group serves small and medium-sized enterprises locally in branches or separate 

commercial centres, while multinational groups are serviced by the Group Corporates’ units. This approach permits Erste Group to 

combine industry specific and product expertise with an understanding of regional needs and the experience of the bank’s local 

customer relationship managers. In view of regulatory interventions, advising and supporting corporate customers in capital market 

transactions is becoming increasingly important. 

Capital markets business 
Client-driven capital markets activities are also part of the comprehensive portfolio of products and services that Erste Group offers 

to its retail and corporate customers. The strategic significance of the bank’s centrally governed and locally rooted capital markets 

operations consists in supporting all other business areas in their dealings with the capital markets and, hence, in providing the 

bank’s customers with professional access to the financial markets. Erste Group, therefore, views its capital markets business as a 

link between financial markets and its customers. As a key capital markets player in the region, Erste Group also performs important 

functions such as market making, capital market research and product structuring. 

  

The capital markets business serves the needs of Erste Group’s retail and corporate customers as well as those of government entities 

and financial institutions. Due to Erste Group’s strong network in the eastern part of the European Union, the bank has a thorough 

understanding of local markets and customer needs. In Erste Group’s capital markets business, too, the bank concentrates on core 

markets of the retail, SME and large corporate business: Austria, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Romania, Hungary, Croatia and Serbia. 

For institutional customers, specialised teams have been established in Germany and Poland as well as in Hong Kong and New York 

that offer these customers a tailor-made range of products. 
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In many countries where Erste Group operates, the local capital markets are not yet as highly developed as in Western Europe or in 

the United States of America. That means Erste Group’s banking subsidiaries are pioneers in some of these markets. Therefore, 

building more efficient capital markets in the region is another strategic objective of Erste Group’s capital markets activities. 

Outlook statement 

OUTLOOK FOR 2024 

Erste Group’s goal for 2024 is to achieve a return on tangible equity (ROTE) of about 15%. Three key factors will support achievement 

of this goal: firstly, a moderate improvement in economic growth compared to 2023 in Erste Group’s seven core markets (Austria, 

Czech Republic, Slovakia, Romania, Hungary, Croatia and Serbia) despite continued geopolitical risks, which, should they material-

ise, would likely negatively impact economic performance; secondly, a continued broadly positive,  even if slightly deteriorating credit 

risk environment; and, finally, the continuous ability of Erste Group to attract new and retain existing customers through continuous 

development of its product portfolio and its brand. The key headwind to achievement of this goal is the magnitude and timing of the 

expected central bank rate cuts in all of Erste Group’s markets. Overall Erste Group expects a slight decline in operating result, which 

hit a historic high in 2023, and, consequently, a moderate deterioration in the cost/income ratio to a level of about 50%, also from a 

historic best in 2023 of 47.6%. 

 

The expectation by economists is for Erste Group’s core markets to post improved real GDP growth in 2024. Inflationary pressures 

are expected to continue their downward trend in 2024. Continued strong labour markets should be supportive of economic perfor-

mance in all of Erste Group’s markets. Current account balances are projected to remain at sustainable levels in most countries, while 

fiscal deficits should continue their path of consolidation. Public debt to GDP in all Erste Group markets is projected to be broadly 

stable, and hence remain materially below the euro zone average. 

 

Against this backdrop, Erste Group expects net loan growth of about 5%. Retail and corporate business should contribute in all mar-

kets towards achievement of this goal. Loan growth is projected to offset some of the interest rate headwinds detailed above, resulting 

in a moderate decline of about 3% in net interest income versus 2023, following a historic upswing over the past two years. The second 

most important income component – net fee and commission income – is expected to rise by about 5%. As in 2023,  growth momen-

tum should again come from payment services, insurance brokerage fees as well as asset management and securities business with 

the latter being dependent on a constructive capital markets environment. The net trading and fair value result, which recovered 

significantly in 2023, is expected to normalise at historically observed levels in 2024. This, however, will depend substantially on the 

actual short- and long-term interest rate environment. 

 

The remaining income components are forecast to remain, by and large, stable. Overall, operating income is therefore expected to 

decrease slightly in 2024, albeit from a historic high in 2023. Operating expenses are expected to rise by approximately 5%. With this 

the cost/income ratio  should remain solid at a level of about 50%. 

 

Based on the macro outlook presented above, risk costs should remain at a low level in 2024. While precise forecasting is hard at 

current low risk cost levels, Erste Group believes that in 2024 risk costs will be below 25 basis points of average gross customer loans.  

 

While a forecast for other operating result and various categories of gains and losses from financial instruments not measured at fair 

value is challenging, this combined item is likely to improve versus 2023 in the absence of significant one-off effects. Assuming an 

effective group tax rate of below 20% and lower minority charges compared to 2023, Erste Group aims to achieve a ROTE of about 

15% in 2024. The CET1 ratio is expected to remain strong providing  enhanced capital return M&A and/ or flexibility, despite Erste 

Group targeting the execution of a share buyback in the amount of EUR 500 million in 2024. 

 

Potential risks to the guidance include (geo)political and economic (including monetary and fiscal policy impacts) developments, 

regulatory measures as well as changes to the competitive environment. International (military) conflicts, such as the war in Ukraine 

and in the Mid East do not impact Erste Group directly, as it has no operating presence in the regions involved. Indirect effects, such 

as financial markets volatility, sanctions-related knock-on effects, supply chain disruption or the emergence of deposit insurance or 

resolution cases cannot be ruled out, though. Erste Group is moreover exposed to non-financial and legal risks that may materialise 

regardless of the economic environment. Worse than expected economic development may put goodwill at risk. 

ANALYSIS OF MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM BUSINESS DRIVERS 

Erste Group operates a universal bank business model on consolidated level, as well as on local country level in seven core markets: 

Austria, Czechia, Slovakia, Romania, Croatia, Hungary and Serbia. In all of these countries it holds leadership positions in the mar-

kets of retail and corporate banking as well as asset management. Consequently, the performance of Erste Group is tied to the overall 
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economic development in those countries, specifically, to economic growth, labour market trends, as well as fiscal and monetary 

policy; in addition, it is tied to the competitive environment and Erste Group’s ability to attract new clients and qualified staff. 

Erste Goup’s main source of income is net interest income, contributing approximately two thirds to total revenues. Net interest 

income is primarily derived from the difference between interest paid on customer deposits as well as issued bonds, and interest 

received from customer loans and from bond investments. It is also materially influenced by monetary policy, which determines 

short-term market interest rates, and long-term interest rates, which are a function of economic outlook, creditworthiness of the 

respective issuer as well as market risk perception. The resulting shape of the yield curve and the bank’s ability to anticipate certain 

market developments also influence net interest income. Generally speaking, very low interest rates paired with flat or downward-

sloping yield curves put pressure on net interest income generation, while upward-sloping yield curves and positive short-term mar-

ket interest rates are supportive of net interest income generation. A further key growth driver of net interest income is volume 

growth – of both customer loans and customer deposits. Erste Group is particularly well positioned to benefit from volume growth 

as it operates in CEE markets that are still underpenetrated across all categories of banking services and products.  

 

Erste Group’s second key income stream is net fee and commission income, which usually accounts for more than a quarter of total 

revenues. It is Erste Group’s goal to expand the share of net fee and commission income in the medium and long term to lessen the 

dependency on net interest income. This should be supported by the CEE markets becoming wealthier, resulting in increased demand 

for fee-generating products, such as asset management. Within net fee and commission income, net fees generated from payments 

services, such as current account fees, transaction fees or credit card fees, account for less than one half of net fee revenues. The 

growth in payment service fees is primarily driven by economic activity and the ability of the bank to attract new customers by 

profitably providing services and products at competitive prices. The key growth driver within net fee income is income from securi-

ties business, comprising revenues from asset management as well as from securities-related services, such as transfer orders or 

securities issuance fees. Erste Group expects that this fee category will be a continued source of dynamic growth as customers seek 

to diversify and expand their investments as they grow wealthier. Income from insurance brokerage fees should also make a notice-

able contribution to the expansion of the fee revenue pool. 

 

The remainder of revenues is made up by net trading and fair value result, which – depending on market volatility-induced valuations 

– can be volatile, rental income from properties which constitutes a stable income source, as well as various categories of gains and 

losses from financial assets not measured at fair value, which tends to be a minor P&L item and typically one-off in character. 

 

General administrative or operating expenses constitute the cost of doing business. Personnel expenses account for approximately 

three fifths of total operating expenses. Another 30% is contributed by other administrative expenses, encompassing items that pri-

marily relate to infrastructure but also marketing, legal and consultancy costs as well as deposit insurance contributions. The remain-

der of operating expenses is made up by depreciation and amortisation charges, primarily for real estate and office equipment but 

also for intangible assets, such as software and customer relationships. In the medium and long term Erste Group aims to maintain 

a healthy balance between operating costs and operating income, as expressed by the cost/income ratio. 

 

Net impairment loss on financial assets or risk costs are related to impairments for on- and off-balance sheet financial assets, primar-

ily customer loans. Erste Group aims to keep such impairments at low levels by applying sound underwriting standards. 

 

Other operating result relates to expenses and provisions for such items as banking taxes and resolution fund contributions, goodwill 

impairments and provisions for items other than financial assets. Accordingly, other operating result usually is, and is expected to 

remain in the medium and long term a significantly negative P&L item, even though Erste Group aims to minimise those other 

operating expenses it directly controls. 

 

Taxes on income reduce net result for the period, with the actual consolidated tax charge being dependent on the profitability mix 

between the various geographies. Generally speaking, the consolidated tax rate tends to be lower if profits in lower corporate tax 

countries contribute a higher share to total profit. 

 

Minority charges result primarily from profits generated at the savings banks, in which Erste Group has limited or no ownership but 

due to the cross-guarantee system that governs the Austrian savings banks sector, are fully consolidated. When profits at the savings 

banks are higher these minority charges are higher and conversely lower if savings banks profits decline. Historically, minority 

charges always had a negative impact on consolidated net profit, as the savings banks have a solid profitability track record. This 

trend is expected to continue in the medium to long term. 

 

Overall, Erste Group’s medium and long term financial goal is to achieve a return on tangible equity that comfortably exceeds the 

cost of capital. 
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Risk management 

With respect to the explanations on substantial financial risks at Erste Group as well as the goals and methods of risk management, 

we would like to draw the reader’s attention to the information provided in the Notes 27, 32, 34 et seq, 44, 45, 46 and 54 of the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Research and development 

Digitalisation 

The pace of digital transformation has accelerated considerably as a result of technological changes, demographic developments, 

regulatory interventions and also due to the pandemic in recent years. As a result, customer behavior and customer expectations 

towards financial products have also changed significantly. Erste Group is convinced that the digital banking business will continue 

to gain in importance and will be essential for the economic success in the long term and therefore fosters digital innovation with the 

aim to digitalise banking products end-to-end including associated processes (e.g. onboarding of corporate customers). 

 

Erste Group’s digital strategy is based on its own digital platform, George. It aims at providing customers access to personalised 

products from Erste Group and also third-party suppliers through application programming interfaces (APIs) in the secure IT envi-

ronment of a financial platform. APIs enable a wide range of co-operations, whether with fintechs, start-ups or across industries, and 

can therefore help open up new markets and attract new customers. 

 

The digital platform George was implemented for retail customers in Austria in 2015. In the meantime, it is also running in the Czech 

Republic, Slovakia, Romania, Croatia and Hungary and is actively used by almost 9 million customers. It will also be rolled out in 

Serbia. The range of digitally available products and services is being constantly expanded. Customers can activate applications of 

Erste Group or third parties via plug-ins and use them to manage their finances. In 2022, George reached another evolutionary level. 

George Business was implemented for corporate customers in Austria, and it was rolled out in Romania in 2023. The implementation 

in the Czech Republic should be finalized in 2024 and it will be rolled out in the local banking subsidiaries successively. It aims at 

offering group-wide an outstanding digital user experience across all customer segments on one platform. 

 

In 2023, software development costs of EUR 33 million (EUR 42 million) were capitalised. 

Reporting on material characteristics of the internal 
control and risk management system with regard to the 
accounting process  

Internal Control System Framework Requirements 

The internal control system (ICS) is an essential element of the corporate governance system of Erste Group contributing to the 

safeguarding of shareholders’ investments and company’s assets. Erste Group’s ICS plays a key role in identifying risks associated 

with the respective internal processes. 

 

The ICS policy provides the framework conditions for the internal control system at Erste Group. It defines current standards con-

cerning general tasks and responsibilities as well as minimum criteria for ICS documentation. In Erste Group, a top down, risk ori-

ented, decentralised ICS approach is applied, designed based on the local process map, which promotes adequacy by focusing on all 

material risks. This means, that all material risks identified must be mitigated by key controls which are involved in the ICS process. 

The following criteria are applied for an adequate ICS: 

— Completeness: The process landscape as well as policies and procedures issued within the Group Policy Framework ensure that 

all identified risks and potential risk scenarios are considered, regulated and managed, aiming to set up a comprehensive and 

integrated control environment throughout the entity. All material risks must be covered with key controls, to demonstrate the 

importance at local level. 
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— Effectiveness and traceability: The functionality of key controls are regularly checked, the optimal control environment is re-

viewed and challenged during monitoring activity of risk appetite/tolerance. 

— Comprehensibility: The process landscape together with local policies and procedures constitute documentation of identified key 

controls, which ensures that relevant employees are aware of all key controls and their role in the internal control process is 

transparent and accountable within the entire local entity. 

 

The risk profile, which includes the current and target situation, is monitored by each individual risk function unit and is 

illustrated in the framework of the consolidated risk reporting (GRR) for the management or relevant risk committee. 

Control environment 

The Code of Conduct provides orientation for all employees of Erste Group, defines mandatory rules for day-to-day business life, 

describes the corporate values, affirms the obligation to act responsibly as a company and ensures compliance with legal provisions 

and internal guidelines (compliance). 

 

The awareness of potential compliance issues and a sustainable risk culture enable risks to be identified quickly and well-considered 

decision-making when dealing with existing regulations. The main component of the risk culture are internal guidelines and, above 

all, open communication in order to create the broadest possible awareness of all employees for all risks that Erste Group is con-

fronted with. 

 

The management board is responsible for the establishment, structure and application of an appropriate internal control and risk 

management system that meets the company’s needs in its group accounting procedures. 

 

Erste Group’s IFRS Accounting Manual provides a comprehensive methodological basis for the preparation and submission of the 

monthly, quarterly and annual IFRS Group Reporting Packages by Erste Group’s subsidiaries. 

 

The management in each subsidiary is responsible for implementing group-wide instructions. Compliance with group rules is mon-

itored as part of the audits performed by group and local auditors. 

 

Group Accounting and Group Controlling are responsible for preparing the consolidated financial reporting. Both divisions are as-

signed to the CFO of Erste Group. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements is the responsibility of the Group Ac-

counting department. The assignment of competencies, the process description and the necessary control procedures are defined in 

the working instructions. 

Risk assessment and controls measures 

The main risk in the financial reporting procedures is that errors or deliberate action (fraud) prevent facts from adequately reflecting 

the company’s financial position and performance. This is the case if the data provided in the financial statements and notes is 

materially deviating from the correct figures, i.e. whenever, alone or in aggregate, they could influence the decisions made by the 

users of financial statements. Such a decision may incur serious damage, such as financial loss, the imposition of sanctions by the 

banking supervisor or reputational harm. 

 

Furthermore, especially estimates for the determination of the fair value of financial instruments for which no reliable market value 

is available, estimates for the accounting of risk provisions for loans and advances and for provisions, complex measurement require-

ments for accounting as well as a volatile business environment bear the risk of significant financial reporting errors. 

 

Erste Group issues group policies used for preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS. A summary 

description of the accounting process is provided in Erste Group’s IFRS Accounting Manual. All transactions in subsidiaries have to 

be recorded, posted and accounted for in accordance with the accounting and measurement methods set out in this manual. 

 

The basic components of the internal control system (ICS) within Erste Group are: 

— systemic, automatic control systems and measures in the formal procedure and structure, e.g. programmed controls during data 

processing 

— principles of functional separation and checks performed by a second person (the four-eye principle) 

— Controlling as a permanent financial/business analysis (e.g. comparison of target and actual data between accounting and con-

trolling) and control of the company and/or individual corporate divisions 

— highly automated data validation in the group consolidation process 
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The areas of responsibility assigned to the individual positions are documented and are continuously updated. Special attention is 

paid to a functioning deputy regulation in order not to jeopardize the ability to meet deadlines if one person is absent. 

Group consolidation 

The individual financial statements reported by the subsidiaries in the consolidation system are checked by the person responsible 

for the individual financial statements in Group Accounting as part of the data release process, which provides for extensive, largely 

automated check routines, and - if necessary - adjustments to the individual financial statements are made in coordination with the 

individual entities or the auditors. The subsequent consolidation steps are then performed using the consolidation system. These 

include consolidation of capital, expense and income consolidation, and debt consolidation, any intragroup gains are eliminated. At 

the end of the consolidation process, the notes to the consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and 

BWG/UGB. 

 

The consolidated financial statements and the group management report are reviewed by the audit committee of the supervisory 

board and are also presented to the supervisory board for approval. They are published as part of the annual report, on Erste Group’s 

website and in the Official Journal of Wiener Zeitung and finally filed with the Commercial Register. 

Information and communication 

Throughout the year, the group produces consolidated monthly reports for group management. Statutory interim reports are pro-

duced that conform to the provisions of IAS 34 and are also published quarterly in accordance with the Austrian Stock Corporation 

Act. Before publication, the consolidated financial information is presented to senior managers and the CFO for final approval and 

then submitted to the supervisory board’s audit committee. 

 

Reporting is almost fully automated, based on source systems and automated interfaces, and guarantees up-to-date data for control-

ling, segment reporting and other analyses. Accounting information is derived from the same data source and is reconciled monthly 

for reporting purposes. Close collaboration between accounting and controlling permits continual target/actual comparisons for con-

trol and reconciliation purposes. Monthly and quarterly reports to the management board and the supervisory board ensure a regular 

flow of financial information and monitoring of the internal control system. 

 

In addition, when introducing new core banking systems and implementing new products, accounting is in contact with the relevant 

departments in order to provide information at an early stage on accounting-specific aspects and implications for new product 

launches. 

Monitoring 

In order to monitor and at the same time support strong governance and risk management, Erste Group applies three lines of defence 

to review the structures and processes that enable the achievement of the objectives for their effectiveness. 

 

The first line of defence includes the business lines in which the department heads are responsible for monitoring including internal 

controls of their business areas. This line is in constant dialogue with the business areas and reports on planned, actual and expected 

results in connection with the goals of the organisation as well as on risks. 

 

The role of the second line of defence is covered by specific areas of expertise, in addition to providing expertise, support, monitoring 

and risk management tasks. At Erste Group, these activities are carried out by the departments Risk Management, BWG Compliance, 

WAG Compliance, Anti Money Laundering Prevention, Group Data and Reporting Governance and Group Security. Above all, the 

departments should support the business lines in the control steps, validate the actual controls, bring state-of-the-art practices into 

the organisation and cover tasks related to risk management. 

 

The third line of defence is responsible for providing independent and objective assurance and advice on the adequacy and effective-

ness of governance and risk management. Internal Audit is in charge of auditing and evaluating all areas of the bank based on risk-

oriented audit areas (according to the annual audit plan as approved by the management board and reported to the audit committee). 

The main focus of audit reviews is to monitor the completeness and functionality of the internal control system. Internal Audit has 

the duty of reporting its findings to the group’s management board, supervisory board and audit committee several times within one 

year. 
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Internal Audit is according to section 42 Austrian Banking Act (BWG) a control body that is directly subordinate to the management 

board. Its sole purpose is to comprehensively verify the lawfulness, propriety and expediency of the banking business and banking 

operation on an on-going basis. The mandate of Internal Audit is therefore to support the management board in its efforts to secure 

the bank’s assets and promote economic and operational performance and thus in the management board’s pursuit of its business 

and operating policy. The activities of Internal Audit are governed in particular by the currently applicable Rules of Procedure, which 

were drawn up under the authority of all management board members and approved as well as implemented by them. The Rules of 

Procedure are reviewed on a regular basis and whenever required and adapted should the need arise. 

Holdings, purchase and sale of own shares 

The presentation of own shares as of trade date follows the disclosure requirements in accordance with the Austrian Stock Corpora-

tion Act (AktG).  

Holdings of own shares 

Number of shares Dec 22 Dec 23 

Erste Group Bank AG -650932 7762984 
Affiliates 1568971 1106329 
thereof pledged 0 0 

 

As of 31 December 2023, Erste Group Bank AG's own holdings of shares amounted to 7,792,984 shares, of which 8,137,141 resulted 

from the share buyback program that started on 16 August 2023. The remaining short position in Erste Group Bank AG shares 

amounting to 374,157 shares (2022: 650,932 shares) is covered by securities lending deals.  

 

The acquisition costs from the purchase of own shares relating to the share buyback program (long position) amount to EUR 270 

million. Both the sales losses incurred from the purchase and sale as part of the employee share program (free shares) and from the 

share buyback program amounted to EUR 1 million (2022: EUR 2.5 million) were recorded as disposals in other retained earnings. 

Purchase of own shares 

  Erste Group Bank AG Affiliates of Erste Group Bank AG 

  
Number of 

shares 

Par value of 
the share 
capital in  

EUR million 

Purchase 
price in  

EUR million 
Purpose of 

transaction 
Number of 

shares 

Par value of 
the share 
capital in  

EUR million 

Purchase 
price in  

EUR million 
Purpose of 

transaction 

January 86636 017 280 trading         
February 125326 025 493 trading         

March         245000 049 728 

principle 
shareholder 

programm 
March 591409 118 1823 trading         
April 77212 015 249 trading         
May 113519 023 361 trading         

May 66762 013 209 
employee share 

programm         
June 342312 068 1076 trading         

June 899751 180 2827 
employee share 

programm         
July 103782 021 350 trading         
August 68387 014 228 trading         
August 1065698 213 3560 share buyback         
September 395915 079 1309 trading         
September 3014812 603 9882 share buyback         
October 156880 031 511 trading         
October 2440490 488 8009 share buyback         
November 102977 021 359 trading         
November 1297439 259 4442 share buyback         
December 242607 049 874 trading         
December 318702 064 1145 share buyback         
Total 11510616  2302  37988    245000  049  728    
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The purpose of trading was in particular "market making" and hedging positions in the Austrian Stock Exchange Index (ATX). 

 

The aim of the principal shareholder program is to strengthen the group structure and cooperation with the savings banks. 

 

For further details on the employee share program, we refer to Note 61 Share-based payments. 

Sale of own shares 

  Erste Group Bank AG Affiliates of Erste Group Bank AG 

  Number of shares 

Par value of the 
share capital  

in EUR million 
Selling price  

in EUR million Number of shares 

Par value of the 
share capital  

in EUR million 
Selling price  

in EUR million 

January 149140 030 488       
February 185635 037 719       
March 303063 061 945 406640 081 1228 
April 67669 014 216       
May 232737 047 740       
June 1258792 252 3905 501002 100 1500 
July 90695 018 303       
August 44108 009 149       
September 391572 078 1275       
October 128672 026 425       
November 146544 029 519       
December 98073 020 348       
Total 3096700 619 10031 907642 182 2728 

 

Of the 406,640 shares shown in the table above that were sold by affiliated companies in March 2023, 200,000 were lent as of  

31 December 2022 and are not included in the holdings as of 31 December 2022.   

Capital, share, voting and control rights and associated 
agreements 

For details in respect of capital structure, class of shares and treasury shares please refer to Note 55 of the consolidated financial 

statements. The mandatory disclosure requirements of Section 243a (1) UGB are met as follows: 

1. Capital structure and class of shares  

As of 31 December 2023, together with its syndicate partners (savings banks, share management savings banks – “Anteilsverwaltungs-

sparkassen”, and savings bank foundations – “Sparkassenstiftungen”), DIE ERSTE oesterreichische Spar-Casse Privatstiftung 

(“ERSTE Stiftung”), a foundation, controls 24.11% (prior year: 24.16%) of the shares in Erste Group Bank AG and with 17.54% (prior 

year: 17.30%) is the main shareholder. The ERSTE Stiftung holds 5.65% (prior year: 5.78%) of the shares directly; the indirect partici-

pation of the ERSTE Stiftung amounts to 11.89% (prior year: 11.52%) of the shares held by Sparkassen Beteiligungs GmbH & Co KG, 

which is an affiliated undertaking of the ERSTE Stiftung. 2.49% (prior year: 2.78%) are held directly by savings bank foundations, 

savings banks, and the Erste employee share participation foundation (Erste Mitarbeiterbeteiligungsstiftung), acting together with 

the ERSTE Stiftung. 4.08% (prior year: 4.08%) are held by a syndicate partner, Wiener Städtische Versicherungsverein. 

 

The Erste Group Bank AG forms a joint liability scheme (Haftungsverbund), together with the Austrian savings banks, in accordance 

with article 4 (1) Z 127 CRR as well as an institutional protection scheme (IPS) approved by the supervisory authority pursuant to 

article 113(7) CRR. The required individual services of the individual members of the scheme are in case of an occasion subject to an 

individual and general ceiling. The applicable amounts are determined by joint liability scheme’s steering company and made known 

to the paying members. 

 

The payments of the individual members in the IPS Ex-Ante Fund established for support measures are recognised in the financial 

statements as a share in IPS GesbR, which manages the ex-ante fund and are accounted for as retained earnings. Due to the contrac-

tual terms, these retained earnings represent a blocked reserve. The release of this blocked reserve may only take place as a result of 

the utilisation of the ex-ante fund due to a claim. This reserve can therefore not be utilised internally to cover losses and on member 
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level does not qualify as own funds according to the CRR; on a consolidated level, the ex-ante fund does qualify, however. For details, 

please refer to the section scope of consolidation and Note 33.  

 

Erste Group Bank AG is the central institution for the associated Austrian savings banks, and together they form a cash pool pursuant 

to section 27a Austrian Banking Act (BWG). Where necessary, Erste Group Bank AG must supply liquidity to an associated savings 

bank in accordance with legal and contractual provisions. 

2. Restrictions of voting rights and of the transfer of shares  

The Articles of Association do not contain any restrictions affecting voting rights or the transfer of shares. 

 

In shareholder agreements ERSTE Stiftung - which, together with its syndicate partners, held 24.11% as at 31 December 2023 (previ-

ous year: 24.16%) agreed the following: concerning the appointment of the members of the supervisory board the partners are obliged 

to vote as required by ERSTE Stiftung. The partners can dispose of shares according to a predefined sale procedure and can purchase 

shares only within the quotas agreed with ERSTE Stiftung (of a maximum of 3% per calendar year); with this regulation an unwanted 

creeping-in according to takeover law shall be prevented. In addition, the partners have committed themselves not to make a hostile 

takeover bid, nor to participate in a hostile takeover bid nor to act together with a hostile bidder in any other way. 

3. Direct or indirect shareholdings amounting at least 10%  

Apart from ERSTE Foundation, the Management Board is not aware of any other direct or indirect shareholdings that amount to at 

least 10%.  

4. Special rights of control associated with holding shares  

There are no shareholders with special control rights. 

5. Voting rights control in the case of capital participation of employees  

The voting rights of shares held by Erste Mitarbeiterbeteiligung Privatstiftung in trust or by proxy for the employees of employer 

companies participating in employee share programs according to section 4d (5) (1) Income Tax Act (EStG) are exercised by the Board 

of Directors of Erste Mitarbeiterbeteiligung Privatstiftung. The members of the Board of Directors are appointed and dismissed by 

the Advisory Board through resolution with simple majority, whereby the delegation rights of.Erste Group Bank AG as well as the 

existing statutory employee representatives of Erste Group Bank AG and Erste Bank der oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG shall be 

taken into account. A further member of the Board of Directors to be appointed by the Advisory Board shall be a former member of 

the management board or a former (freelance) employee of an employer company pursuant to section 4d (5) (1) Income Tax Act 

(EStG). The Advisory Board of Erste Mitarbeiterbeteiligung Privatstiftung consists of up to five members. 

6. Special control rights, bodies and amendments of the articles of association  

This concerns: 

— Art. 15.1 of the Articles of Association, which provides that ERSTE Stiftung will be granted the right to nominate up to one third 

of the members of the Supervisory Board to be elected by the shareholders’ meeting, as long as ERSTE Stiftung is liable for all 

present and future liabilities of the company in the case of its insolvency pursuant to Section 92 (9) Banking Act, 

— Art. 15.4 of the Articles of Association, which provides that a three-quarter majority of valid votes cast and a three-quarter ma-

jority of the subscribed capital represented at the meeting considering the proposal are required to pass a motion for removal of 

Supervisory Board members, and 

— Art. 19.9 of the Articles of Association, which provides that amendments to the Articles of Association, in so far as they do not 

alter the business purpose, may be passed by simple majority of votes cast and simple majority of the subscribed capital repre-

sented at the shareholders meeting considering the amendment. Where higher majority votes are required by individual provi-

sions of the Articles of Association, these provisions can only be amended with the same higher majority vote. Moreover, 

amendments to Art. 19.9 require a three-quarter majority of the votes cast and a three-quarter majority of the subscribed capital 

represented at the meeting considering the proposal. 
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7. Powers of the Management Board to issue and repurchase shares 

As per decision of the General Meeting of 12 May 2023: 

— The Management Board is entitled to purchase up to 10% of the share capital in own shares for the purpose of securities trading 

according to section 65 (1) (7) Austrian Stock Corporation Act (AktG). However, the trading volume of shares acquired may not 

exceed 5% of the share capital at the end of each day. The consideration for the shares to be purchased must not be less than 50% 

of the closing price at the Vienna Stock Exchange on the last trading day prior to the purchase and must not exceed the closing 

price at the Vienna Stock Exchange on the last trading day prior to the purchase by more the 20%. This authorization is valid for 

a period of 30 months from the date of the resolution, i.e. until 12 November 2025. 

— The Management Board is entitled, pursuant to section 65 (1) (8) as well as (1a) and (1b) Stock Corporation Act and for a period 

of 30 months from the date of the resolution, i.e. until 12 November 2025, to acquire own shares in the amount of up to 10% of 

the share capital, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board and without any further resolution of the General Meeting at a 

lowest consideration of EUR 2.00 per share and a highest consideration not exceeding 50% above the average Vienna Stock Ex-

change price, weighted according to trading volumes, of the last 20 trading days prior to the respective acquisition of the shares; 

in the case of a public offer, the cut-off date for the end of the calculation period shall be the day on which the intention to make 

a public offer is announced (sec 5 (2) and (3) Austrian Takeover Act [ÜbG]). The acquisition may, at the discretion of the Man-

agement Board and with the consent of the Supervisory Board, be effected on the stock exchange or by means of a public offer or 

in any other legally permissible and expedient manner, in particular also off the stock exchange and/or from individual share-

holders and excluding the pro rata tender right (reverse subscription right). The authorization may be exercised in whole or in 

part or in several partial amounts and in pursuit of one or more purposes by the Company, its affiliated companies (sec. 189a (8) 

Commercial Code [UGB]) or for their account by third parties. Pursuant to section 65 (1b) Stock Corporation Act, the Manage-

ment Board is authorized for a period of five years from the date of the resolution, i.e. until 12 May 2028, with the consent of  the 

Supervisory Board, to sell or dispose the company’s own shares, also in a way other than via the stock exchange or by means of a 

public offer for any legally permissible purpose, to determine the terms and conditions of the sale and to decide on the exclusion 

of the shareholders' subscription rights. These authorizations include the sale of own shares in particular for the following pur-

poses: (i) in order to be able to sell the shares for a consideration other than cash, provided that this serves the purpose of acquiring 

(also indirectly) companies, businesses, parts of businesses, shares in one or more companies domestically or abroad; (ii) to trans-

fer shares free of charge or at a reduced price to employees, executives and members of the Management Board of the Company 

or of an affiliated company (sec 189a (8) Commercial Code [UGB]) or of any other company within the meaning of sec 4d (5) (1) 

Austrian Income Tax Act (EStG), as well as to Erste Mitarbeiterbeteiligung Privatstiftung and its beneficiaries; and (iii) to resell 

own shares with partial or full exclusion of the subscription rights in any manner permitted by law, including over-the-counter. 

The authorizations in this resolution may be exercised once or several times, in whole or in part, individually or jointly. 

— The Management Board is authorized to redeem shares without further resolution at the General Meeting with the approval of 

the Supervisory Board. 

 

As per decision of the Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2021:   

— According to section 65 (1) (4) as well as (1a) and (1b) Stock Corporation Act, the Management Board was authorized for the 

duration of 30 months following the date of resolution, hence until 18 November 2023, and with the approval of the Supervisory 

Board to purchase own shares at an amount equaling up to 10% of share capital of the company also under repeated utilization 

of the 10% limit either at the stock exchange or over the counter, likewise to the exclusion of the shareholders’ right to tender 

proportional payment for the purpose of granting shares for free or at concessionary terms to Erste Mitarbeiterbeteiligung 

Privatstiftung, their beneficiaries, employees, executive employees and members of the board at Erste Group Bank AG or of an 

affiliated undertaking or of any other undertaking pursuant to section 4d (5) (1) Income Tax Act. The authorization may be exer-

cised in whole or in part or in several installments and in pursuit of one or several purposes. The value per share may neither be 

lower than the floor value of two Euros nor higher than the ceiling of 120 Euros. 

 

All sales and purchases were carried out as authorized at the General Meeting. 

 

According to section 8.3 of the Articles of Association, the Management Board is authorized to issue until 18 May 2027, with the 

consent of the Supervisory Board, convertible bonds (including Contingent Convertible Bonds according to section 26 Austrian Bank-

ing Act), which have the conversion or subscription right for shares of the Company, observing or excluding the subscription rights 

of the shareholders. The terms and conditions may, in addition or instead of a conversion or subscription right, also provide for the 

mandatory conversion at the end of the term or at any other time. The issuance of convertible bonds is limited to the extent that all 

conversion or subscription rights, and in case of a mandatory conversion stipulated in the terms and conditions, the mandatory 

conversion, are covered by conditional capital. Section 5.3 shall apply to the issue of convertible bonds without subscription rights. 

The issue amount, the terms and conditions of the issue of the convertible bonds and the exclusion of the subscription rights for the 

shareholders will be determined by the Management Board with the consent of the Supervisory Board. 
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8. Significant agreements which become effective, are amended or are rendered 
ineffective when there is a change in the control of the company and their effects  

CROSS-GUARANTEE SCHEME AGREEMENT 

The agreement in principle of the cross-guarantee scheme (Haftungsverbund) provides for the possibility of early cancellation for 

good cause. Good cause, allowing the respective other contracting parties to cancel the agreement, is deemed to exist if: 

— one contracting party grossly harms the duties resulting from the present agreement,  

— the ownership structure of a party to the contract changes in such a way – particularly by transfer or capital increase – that one 

or more third parties from outside the savings bank sector directly and/or indirectly gain a majority of the equity capital or voting 

rights in the contracting party or 

— one contracting party resigns from the savings bank sector irrespective of the reason. 

 

The cross-guarantee scheme’s agreement in principle and supplementary agreements expire if and as soon as any entity that is not a 

member of the savings bank sector association acquires more than 25% of the voting power or equity capital of Erste Group Bank AG 

in any manner whatsoever and a member savings bank notifies the cross-guarantee scheme’s steering company and Erste Group 

Bank AG by registered letter within twelve weeks from the change of control that it intends to withdraw from the cross-guarantee 

scheme. 

DIRECTORS & OFFICERS-INSURANCE 

In the event that any of the following transactions or processes occur during the term of the insurance policy (each constituting a 

‘change in control’) in respect of the insured: 

— the insured ceases to exist as a result of a merger or consolidation, unless the merger or consolidation occurs between two insured 

parties, or 

— another company, person or group of companies or persons acting in consent, who are not insured parties, acquire more than 50% 

of the insured’s outstanding equity or more than 50% of its voting power (resulting in the right to control the voting power repre-

sented by the shares, and the right to appoint the Management Board members of the insured), 

then the insurance cover under this policy remains in full force and effect for claims relating to unlawful acts committed or alleged 

to have been committed before this change in control took effect. However, no insurance cover is provided for claims relating to 

unlawful acts committed or allegedly committed after that time (unless the insured and insurer agree otherwise). The premium for 

this insurance cover is deemed to be completely earned. 

 

In the event that a subsidiary ceases to be a subsidiary during the insurance period, the insurance cover under this policy shall remain 

in full force and effect for that entity for the remainder of the insurance period or (if applicable) until the end of the extended discov-

ery period, but only in respect of claims brought against an insured in relation to unlawful acts committed or alleged to have been 

committed by the insured during the existence of this entity as a subsidiary. No insurance cover is provided for claims brought against 

an insured in relation to unlawful acts committed or allegedly committed after this entity ceased to exist. 

COOPERATION BETWEEN ERSTE GROUP BANK AG AND VIENNA INSURANCE GROUP (VIG) 

Erste Group Bank AG and Vienna Insurance Group AG Wiener Versicherung Gruppe (VIG) are parties to a general distribution 

agreement (the Agreement) concerning the framework of the cooperation of Erste Group and VIG in Austria and CEE with respect 

to bank and insurance products. Originally concluded in 2008 (between Erste Bank der österreichischen Sparkassen AG and Vienna 

Insurance Group der WIENER STÄDTISCHE Versicherung AG), the Agreement was renewed and extended in 2018 until the end of 

2033. The objective for the renewal and extension in particular was to adapt the Agreement to the corporate restructuring of the 

original parties, to amend some commercial parameters and to align the Agreement with recent developments in the legal framework. 

Already in the original Agreement the parties stipulated that both parties have the right to terminate the Agreement in case of a 

change of control of one of the parties. In case of change of control of Erste Group Bank AG, VIG has the right to terminate the 

Agreement. In case of change of control of VIG, Erste Group Bank AG has the reciprocal right. A change of control is defined, with 

respect to Erste Group Bank AG, as the acquisition of Erste Group Bank AG by any person/entity other than DIE ERSTE öster-

reichische Spar-Casse Privatstiftung or Austrian savings banks of 50% plus one share of Erste Group Bank AG’s shares or voting 

rights. In respect to VIG, the aforementioned provisions apply analogously, except for share purchases by Wiener Städtische Wech-

selseitiger Versicherungsverein – Vermögensverwaltung – Vienna Insurance Group. 

  

Apart from this regulation on the termination of the Agreement, the parties agreed in the renewal and extension of the Agreement 

for an additional termination for cause if based on new legal or regulatory provisions, the continuation of the Agreement is unrea-

sonable for each or both of the parties. 
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Erste Group Bank AG and VIG are furthermore parties to an asset management agreement, pursuant to which Erste Group under-

takes to manage certain parts of VIG’s and its group companies’ securities assets. In case of a change of control (as described above), 

each party has the termination right. The asset management agreement has been renewed and extended until 2033 concurrently with 

the renewal and extension of the Agreement outlined above. 

9. Indemnification agreements  

In the event of a public takeover offer, there are no compensation agreements between Erste Group Bank AG and its executive board 

and supervisory board members or employees. 

Non-financial declaration 

The consolidated non-financial declaration of Erste Group is issued as separate consolidated non-financial report and contains the 

information required according to § 243b UGB and according to the Sustainability and Diversity Improvement Act (NaDiVeG) ac-

cording to § 267a UGB. The consolidated non-financial report of Erste Group is disclosed and published on the website of Erste 

Group (www.erstegroup.com/investor relations). 

Subsequent events after balance sheet date 

For events of particular importance after balance sheet date, we refer to the disclosures in Note 66 in the consolidated financial state-

ments. 
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Consolidated statement of income 

in EUR million Notes 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Net interest income 2 5951 7228 
Interest income 2 8623 15045 
Other similar income 2 2618 4446 
Interest expenses 2 -2569 -6873 
Other similar expenses 2 -2720 -5389 

Net fee and commission income 3 2452 2640 
Fee and commission income 3 2889 3104 
Fee and commission expenses 3 -436 -464 

Dividend income 4 29 38 
Net trading result 5 -779 754 
Gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss 6 731 -306 
Net result from equity method investments   18 23 
Rental income from investment properties & other operating leases 7 168 175 
Personnel expenses 8 -2668 -2991 
Other administrative expenses 8 -1356 -1468 
Depreciation and amortisation 8 -551 -560 
Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost  9 -52 -13 
Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss  10 -23 -128 
Impairment result from financial instruments 11 -300 -128 
Other operating result 12 -399 -468 

Levies on banking activities 12 -187 -183 
Pre-tax result from continuing operations   3222 4795 
Taxes on income 13 -556 -874 
Net result for the period   2666 3921 

Net result attributable to non-controlling interests 502 923 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 2165 2998 

Earnings per share

Earnings per share constitute net profit/loss for the year attributable to owners of the parent divided by the average number of ordi-

nary shares outstanding. The average number of outstanding shares is net of the average number of treasury shares, considering the 

shares buyback. Diluted earnings per share represent the maximum potential dilution (through an increase in the average number 

of shares) that would occur if all subscription and conversion rights granted were exercised. The difference between the weighted 

average number of outstanding shares and the weighted average diluted number of outstanding shares results from share-based 

payment transactions with employees. For information on share-based payments please refer to Note 61. 

 

    1-12 22 1-12 23 

Net result attributable to owners of the parent in EUR thousand 2164718 2997576 
Dividend on AT1 capital (after tax effect)  in EUR thousand -100456 -99067 
Net result for the period attributable to owners of the parent after deduction of AT1 capital dividend in EUR thousand 2064261 2898509 
Weighted average undiluted number of outstanding shares   427019261 425951928 
Earnings per share in EUR 483 680 
Weighted average diluted number of outstanding shares   427492890 426324432 
Diluted earnings per share in EUR 483 680 

For details regarding the number of outstanding shares please refer to Note 55 Total equity.  
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Net result for the period 2666 3921 
      
Other comprehensive income     

Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss 240 -79 
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 99 -59 
Fair value reserve of equity instruments -33 10 
Own credit risk reserve 239 -50 
Income tax relating to items that may not be reclassified -65 21 
      
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss -359 400 
Fair value reserve of debt instruments -560 401 

Gains/losses during the period -586 273 
Reclassification adjustments 25 139 
Credit loss allowances   1 -10 

Cash flow hedge reserve 10 205 
Gains/losses during the period 63 378 
Reclassification adjustments -53 -173 

Currency reserve 79 -101 
Gains/losses during the period 79 -101 

Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified 112 -105 
Gains/losses during the period 107 -112 
Reclassification adjustments 5 7 

Total other comprehensive income  -119 321 
      
Total comprehensive income 2547 4242 

Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 427 931 
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent 2120 3311 

 

For a detailed split of income tax items within other comprehensive income please refer to Note 13 Taxes on income. 
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Consolidated balance sheet 

in EUR million Notes Dec 22 Dec 23 

Assets       
Cash and cash balances 15 35685 36685 
Financial assets held for trading 21 22 7766 8773 

Derivatives 21 1719 1262 
Other financial assets held for trading 22 6047 7511 

Pledged as collateral 29 94 245 
Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 2735 3004 

Pledged as collateral 29 0 0 
Equity instruments 23 347 415 
Debt securities 23 1549 1551 
Loans and advances to customers 23 839 1038 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 19 20 9560 8905 
Pledged as collateral 29 698 356 

Equity instruments 20 99 110 
Debt securities 19 9460 8794 

Financial assets at amortised cost 16 253360 264721 
Pledged as collateral 29 1761 3125 

Debt securities 16 40612 44047 
Loans and advances to banks 16 18435 21432 
Loans and advances to customers 16 194313 199241 

Finance lease receivables 50 4553 4970 
Hedge accounting derivatives 27 159 183 
Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 27 -38 -25 
Property and equipment 47 2618 2605 
Investment properties 47 1372 1524 
Intangible assets 48 1347 1313 
Investments in associates and joint ventures 58 209 241 
Current tax assets 13 109 72 
Deferred tax assets 13 629 468 
Assets held for sale 63 167 163 
Trade and other receivables 17 2404 2579 
Other assets 49 1232 976 
Total assets   323865 337155 
        

in EUR million Notes Dec 22 Dec 23 

Liabilities and equity       
Financial liabilities held for trading 21 24 3264 2304 

Derivatives 21 2626 1614 
Other financial liabilities held for trading 24 637 690 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 25 10814 11152 
Deposits from customers 25 1353 593 
Debt securities issued 25 9310 10429 
Other financial liabilities 25 151 130 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 18 278932 289842 
Deposits from banks 18 28821 22911 
Deposits from customers 18 222620 232223 
Debt securities issued 18 26593 33330 
Other financial liabilities   899 1378 

Lease liabilities 51 662 670 
Hedge accounting derivatives 27 372 286 
Provisions 53 1676 1612 
Current tax liabilities 13 127 265 
Deferred tax liabilities 13 16 14 
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 63 115 113 
Other liabilities 52 2581 2396 
Total equity 55 25305 28502 

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 55 5957 6853 
Additional equity instruments 55 2236 2405 
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 55 17111 19243 

Subscribed capital 55 860 843 
Additional paid-in capital 55 1478 1494 
Retained earnings and other reserves 55 14774 16906 

Total liabilities and equity   323865 337155  
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

in EUR million 
Subscribed 

capital 

Additional 
paid-in 
capital 

Retained 
earnings 

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 
Fair value 

reserve 
Own credit 

risk reserve 
Currency 

reserve 

Remeasur-
ement of 

defined  
benefit plans 

Equity 
attributable  

to owners of  
the parent 

Additional 
equity 

instruments 

Equity 
attributable to 

non-controlling 
interests Total equity 

As of 1 January 2023 860 1478 16324 -197 -264 -24 -594 -471 17111 2236 5957 25305 

Changes in treasury shares  0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Dividends paid 0 0 -869 0 0 0 0 0 -869 0 -61 -931 

Capital increase/decrease 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 169 0 169 

Changes in scope of consolidation and 
ownership interest 0 0 -6 0 0 0 0 0 -6 0 25 18 

Reclassification from other comprehensive 
income to retained earnings 0 0 1 0 0 -1 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Share based payments 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 

Other changes -16 16 -307 0 0 0 0 0 -307 0 1 -306 

Total comprehensive income 0 0 2998 166 315 -44 -100 -24 3311 0 931 4242 

Net result for the period 0 0 2998 0 0 0 0 0 2998 0 923 3921 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 166 315 -44 -100 -24 313 0 8 321 

Change from remeasurement of 
defined benefit plans 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -24 -24 0 -22 -46 

Change in fair value reserve 0 0 0 0 315 0 0 0 315 0 29 344 

Change in cash flow hedge reserve 0 0 0 166 0 0 0 0 166 0 0 166 

Change in currency reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 -100 0 -100 0 0 -101 

Change in own credit risk reserve 0 0 0 0 0 -44 0 0 -44 0 1 -42 

As of 31 December 2023 843 1494 18143 -31 51 -69 -694 -495 19243 2405 6853 28502 

 

The other changes relate mainly to the share buyback program. For details regarding the reduced subscribed capital please refer to Note 55 Total equity. 
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in EUR million 
Subscribed 

capital 

Additional 
paid-in 
capital 

Retained 
earnings 

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 
Fair value 

reserve 
Own credit 

risk reserve 
Currency 

reserve 

Remeasur-
ement of 

defined  
benefit plans 

Equity 
attributable  

to owners of  
the parent 

Additional 
equity 

instruments 

Equity 
attributable to 

non-controlling 
interests Total equity 

As of 1 January 2022 860 1478 14933 -206 115 -207 -672 -538 15761 2236 5516 23513 

Changes in treasury shares  0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 11 

Dividends paid 0 0 -754 0 0 0 0 0 -754 0 -91 -844 

Capital increase/decrease 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -2 -2 

Changes in scope of consolidation and 
ownership interest 0 0 -24 0 0 0 0 0 -24 0 114 90 

Reclassification from other comprehensive 
income to retained earnings 0 0 -5 0 0 3 0 0 -2 0 -7 -9 

Share based payments 0 0 -1 0 0 0 0 0 -1 0 0 -1 

Other changes 0 0 -1 0 0 0 0 0 -1 0 0 0 

Total comprehensive income 0 0 2165 9 -379 180 79 67 2120 0 427 2547 

Net result for the period 0 0 2165 0 0 0 0 0 2165 0 502 2666 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 9 -379 180 79 67 -44 0 -75 -119 

Change from remeasurement of 
defined benefit plans 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 67 67 0 16 82 

Change in fair value reserve 0 0 0 0 -379 0 0 0 -379 0 -93 -472 

Change in cash flow hedge reserve 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 9 

Change in currency reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 79 0 79 0 0 79 

Change in own credit risk reserve 0 0 0 0 0 180 0 0 180 0 2 182 

As of 31 December 2022 860 1478 16324 -197 -264 -24 -594 -471 17111 2236 5957 25305 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

in EUR million Notes 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Net result for the period   2666 3921 
Non-cash adjustments for items in net profit/loss for the year       

Depreciation amortisation and net impairment of non-financial assets 47 48 594 632 
Net allocation of credit loss allowances and other provisions 12 324 207 
Gains/losses from measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 9 10 533 753 
Other adjustments   105 -128 

Changes in assets and liabilities from operating activities after adjustment for non-cash components       
Financial assets held for trading 21 22 -1336 -905 
Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23     

Equity instruments 23 -15 -68 
Debt securities 23 285 49 
Loans and advances to banks 23 10 0 
Loans and advances to customers 23 -78 -85 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income debt securities 19 -1116 851 
Financial assets at amortised cost 16     

Debt securities 16 -4992 -3436 
Loans and advances to banks 16 2582 -3014 
Loans and advances to customers 16 -21214 -5185 

Finance lease receivables 50 -326 -422 
Hedge accounting derivatives 27 -71 142 
Other assets from operating activities 17 49 -580 285 
Financial liabilities held for trading 21 24 -416 -1359 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 25 1470 -186 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 18     

Deposits from banks 18 -3098 -5910 
Deposits from customers 18 11978 9591 
Debt securities issued 18 4242 6737 
Other financial liabilities   -251 480 

Hedge accounting derivatives 27 63 -87 
Other liabilities from operating activities 52 -174 -276 

Cash flow from operating activities   -8815 2586 
Proceeds of disposal       

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income equity instruments 20 19 15 
Investments in associates and joint ventures 58 18 -12 
Property and equipment and intangible assets  47 48 152 44 
Investment properties 47 56 16 

Acquisition of       
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income equity instruments 20 -1 0 
Property and equipment and intangible assets  47 48 -479 -528 
Investment properties 47 -101 -134 

Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired)   102 0 
Cash flow from investing activities   -233 -599 

Capital increase/Capital decrease 55 -2 -107 
Changes in ownership interests that do not result in a loss of control 55 90 18 
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent 55 -754 -869 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 55 -91 -61 

Cash flow from financing activities   -756 -1020 
        
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 15 45495 35685 

Cash flow from operating activities   -8815 2586 
Cash flow from investing activities   -233 -599 
Cash flow from financing activities   -756 -1020 
Effect of currency translation   -6 33 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 15 35685 36685 
        
Cash flows related to taxes interest and dividends (included in cash flow from operating activities)   5218 8515 

Payments for taxes on income  13 -549 -315 
Interest received  2 11286 22697 
Dividends received  4 29 38 
Interest paid  2 -5549 -13905 

 

Cash and cash equivalents are equal to the amount in the balance sheet line item ‘Cash and cash balances’. 
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Notes to the group financial statements of Erste Group 

General information 

Erste Group Bank AG is Austria’s oldest savings bank and listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange. It is also quoted on the Prague Stock 

Exchange and on the Bucharest Stock Exchange. The registered office of Erste Group Bank AG is located at Am Belvedere 1, 1100 

Vienna, Austria. 

 

The group of Erste Group Bank AG (hereinafter referred to as ‘Erste Group’ or ‘Group’) offers a complete range of banking and other 

financial services, such as savings accounts, asset management (including investment funds), consumer credit and mortgage lending, 

investment banking, securities and derivatives trading, portfolio management, project finance, foreign trade financing, corporate 

finance, capital market and money market services, foreign exchange trading, leasing and factoring. 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared and authorised for issue by the management board as at the signing date 

of this report. Both, the supervisory board (21 March 2024) and the annual general meeting (22 May 2024) may amend the individ-

ual financial statements of Erste Group Bank AG, which in turn may have an impact on these consolidated financial statements. The 

consolidated financial statements have not been accepted by the supervisory board and the financial statements of Erste Group Bank 

AG have not been approved by the supervisory board at the date of this report. This is also applicable to the majority of the individu-

al financial statements, which are relevant for the calculation of own funds. 

 

Erste Group is subject to the regulatory requirements of Austrian and European supervisory bodies (National Bank, Financial Market 

Authority, Single Supervisory Mechanism). These regulations include those pertaining to minimum capital adequacy requirements, 

categorisation of exposures and off-balance sheet commitments, credit risk connected with clients of the Group, market risk (includ-

ing interest rate and foreign exchange risk), and operational risk. 

 

In addition to the banking entities, some Group companies are subject to regulatory requirements, specifically in relation to asset 

management. 

Material accounting policies 

a) Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of Erste Group for the financial year ending on 31 December 2023 and the related comparative 

information were prepared in compliance with applicable IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Union on the 

basis of IAS Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002. The requirements of Section 59a of the Austrian Banking Act and Section 245a of the 

Austrian Commercial Code are fulfilled. 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

 

Erste Group is subject to regulatory restrictions on capital distributions stemming from the EU-wide capital requirements regulations 

applicable to all credit institutions based in the EU. Erste Group does not have any other significant restrictions on its ability to access 

or use the assets and settle the liabilities of the Group. Also, the owners of non-controlling interests in Group subsidiaries do not have 

rights that can restrict the Group’s ability to access or use the assets and settle the liabilities of the Group. 

 

Except as otherwise indicated, all amounts are stated in millions of euro. The tables in this report may contain rounding differences. 

The abbreviations used in the consolidated financial statements of Erste Group are explained in the appendix ‘Abbreviations’ at the 

end of this report. 



 

 

31

b) Foreign currency translation 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is the functional currency of Erste Group Bank AG, the parent 

company of Erste Group. The functional currency is the currency of the primary business environment in which an entity operates. 

Each entity in Erste Group determines its own functional currency, and items included in the financial statements of each entity are 

measured using that functional currency. 

 

For foreign currency translation, exchange rates quoted by the central banks in each country are used. For Erste Group entities with 

the euro as functional currency, these are the European Central Bank reference rates. 

i. Transactions and balances in foreign currency 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency exchange rate effective as of the date of the trans-

action. Subsequently, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency ex-

change rate as of the balance sheet date. All resulting exchange differences that arise are recognised in the statement of income under 

the line item ‘Net trading result’. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates as of the dates of the initial transactions, i.e. they do not give rise to exchange differences. Non-monetary 

items that are measured at fair value (such as equity investments) in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 

date when the fair value is measured, thus the exchange differences are part of the fair value gains or losses. 

ii. Translation of the statements of Group companies 
Assets and liabilities of foreign operations (foreign subsidiaries and branches) are translated into Erste Group’s presentation currency, 

the Euro, at the rate of exchange as of the balance sheet date (closing rate). Their consolidated statement of income and consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income are translated at the average exchange rate of the respective reporting period calculated on the 

basis of daily rates. Goodwill, intangible assets and fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognised 

on acquisition of foreign subsidiaries are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries and are translated at the closing 

rate. However, goodwill of Česká spořitelna a.s. is translated at the historical FX rate as allowed by the transitional provisions in 

IAS 21.59. 

 

Exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in OCI in the line ‘Currency reserve’ of the statement of comprehensive 

income. The accumulated OCI is presented in equity, specifically under ‘Currency reserve’ in the statement of changes in equity. On 

disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the cumulative amount of translation differences recognised in other comprehensive income is rec-

ognised in the statement of income under the line item ‘Other operating result’. 

c) Material accounting judgements, assumptions and estimates 

The consolidated financial statements contain amounts that have been determined on the basis of judgements and by the use of 

estimates and assumptions. The estimates and assumptions used are based on historical experience and other factors, such as plan-

ning as well as expectations and forecasts of future events that are currently deemed to be reasonable. As a consequence of the 

uncertainty associated with these assumptions and estimates, actual results could in future periods lead to adjustments in the carrying 

amounts of the related assets or liabilities. The most significant uses of judgements, assumptions and estimates are described in the 

notes of the respective assets and liabilities and relate in particular to: 

— Taxes on income and deferred tax assets (Note 13 Taxes on income) 

— SPPI assessment of financial instruments (Chapter Financial instruments – Material accounting policies) 

— Business model assessment of financial instruments (Chapter Financial instruments – Material accounting policies) 

— Financial liabilities stemming from the TLTRO programme of the ECB (Chapter Financial instruments – Material accounting 

policies, Note 18 Financial liabilities at amortised cost) 

— Fair value of financial instruments (Note 26 Fair value of financial instruments) 

— Impairment of financial instruments (Chapter Financial instruments – Material accounting policies, Note 37 Measurement of 

expected credit losses and Note 40 Scenarios used in forward looking information and crises effects) 

— Impairment of non-financial assets (Chapter Non-current assets and other investments) 

— Provisions (Note 53 Provisions) 

— Defined employees benefit plans (Note 53 Provisions) 

— Control of subsidiaries (Note 57 Subsidiaries) 

— Significant influence in associates and joint control in joint ventures (Note 58 Investments in associates and joint ventures) 

— Interest in structured entities (Note 59 Unconsolidated structured entities) 
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d) Application of amended and new IFRS/IAS 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those used in the previous financial year except for standards and interpretations 

that became effective for financial years beginning after 1 January 2023. As regards new standards and interpretations and their 

amendments, only those that are relevant for the business of Erste Group are listed below. 

EFFECTIVE STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

The following amendments of standards have become mandatory for the financial year 2023 and have been endorsed by the EU: 

— IFRS 17: Insurance contracts 

— Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

— Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates 

— Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 

— Amendments to IAS 12: International Tax Reform — Pillar 2 Model Rules 

 

Application of the above-mentioned amendments in 2023 did not have a significant impact on Erste Group’s financial statements. 

However, Amendments to IAS 1 resulted in a significant reduction in the disclosures of the accounting policies with focus on materi-

al information. Furthermore, Amendments to IAS 12: International Tax Reform — Pillar 2 Model Rules led to new disclosures in 

Note 13 Taxes on income.  

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

The standards and amendments shown below were issued by the IASB but are not yet effective. They have not yet been endorsed by 

the EU.  

 

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of Exchangeability. The amendments to 

IAS 21 were issued in August 2023 and become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. The amendments 

contain guidance to specify when a currency is exchangeable and how to determine the exchange rate when it is not. Application of 

these amendments is not expected to have a significant impact on Erste Group’s financial statements. 
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Performance / Return 

1. Segment reporting 

Erste Group’s segment reporting is based on IFRS 8 Operating Segments, which adopts the management approach. Accordingly, 

segment information is prepared on the basis of internal management reporting that is regularly reviewed by the chief operating 

decision maker to assess the performance of the segments and make decisions regarding the allocation of resources. Within Erste 

Group the function of the chief operating decision maker is exercised by the management board.  

Erste Group uses a matrix organisational structure with geographical segmentation and business segments. Since the chief operating 

decision maker performs the steering primarily based on geographical segments, those are defined as operating segments according 

to IFRS 8. In order to provide more comprehensive information, the performance of the business segments is reported additionally. 

Geographical segmentation (operating segments) 

For the purpose of segment reporting geographical segments are defined as operating segments, for which the information is pre-

sented on the basis of the booking entity’s location (not the country of risk). In case of information regarding a partial group, the 

allocation is based on the location of the respective parent entity according to the local management responsibility. 

  

Geographical areas are defined according to the core markets in which Erste Group operates. Based on the locations of the banking 

and other financial institution participations, the geographical areas consist of two core markets, Austria and Central and Eastern 

Europe and a residual segment Other that comprises the remaining business activities of Erste Group outside its core markets as well 

as the reconciliation to the consolidated accounting result. 

 

 
 

The geographical area Austria consists of the following three operating segments: 

— The Erste Bank Oesterreich & Subsidiaries (EBOe & Subsidiaries) segment comprises Erste Bank der oesterreichischen Spar-

kassen AG (Erste Bank Oesterreich) and its main subsidiaries (e.g. sBausparkasse, Salzburger Sparkasse, Tiroler Sparkasse, Spar-

kasse Hainburg). 

— The Savings banks segment includes those savings banks which are members of the Haftungsverbund (cross-guarantee system) 

of the Austrian savings banks sector and in which Erste Group does not hold a majority stake but which are fully controlled 

according to IFRS 10. The fully or majority owned Erste Bank Oesterreich, Tiroler Sparkasse, Salzburger Sparkasse, and Sparkasse 

Hainburg are not part of the Savings Banks segment. 

— The Other Austria segment comprises Erste Group Bank AG (Holding) with its Corporates and Group Markets business, Erste 

Group Immorent GmbH, Erste Asset Management GmbH and Intermarket Bank AG. 

 

The geographical area Central and Eastern Europe (CEE) consists of six operating segments covering Erste Group’s banking subsidi-

aries located in the respective CEE countries: 

— Czech Republic (comprising Česká spořitelna Group) 

— Slovakia (comprising Slovenská sporitel’ňa Group) 

— Romania (comprising Banca Comercială Română Group) 

— Hungary (comprising Erste Bank Hungary Group) 

— Croatia (comprising Erste Bank Croatia Group) 

— Serbia (comprising Erste Bank Serbia Group). 

 

The residual segment Other covers mainly centrally managed activities and items that are not directly allocated to other segments. 

It comprises the corporate center of Erste Group Bank AG (and thus dividends and the refinancing costs from participations, general 

administrative expenses), internal service providers (facility management, IT, procurement), the banking tax of Erste Group Bank 

AG as well as free capital of Erste Group (defined as the difference of the total average IFRS equity and the average economical equity 
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allocated to the segments). Asset/Liability Management of Erste Group Bank AG as well as the reconciliation to the consolidated 

accounting result (e.g. intragroup eliminations, dividend eliminations) are also part of the segment Other. Intragroup eliminations 

are equal to the Intragroup eliminations shown in the business segmentation view (see the table ‘Business segments (2)’). 

Business segmentation 

Apart from geographical segments, which are Erste Group’s operating segments, business segments are reported as well. 

 

 
 

Retail. The Retail segment comprises the business with private individuals, micros and free professionals within the responsibility 

of account managers in the retail network. This business is operated by the local banks in cooperation with their subsidiaries such as 

leasing and asset management companies with a focus on simple products ranging from mortgage and consumer loans, investment 

products, current accounts, savings products to credit cards and cross selling products such as leasing, insurance and building socie-

ty products. 

 

Corporates. The Corporates segment comprises business done with corporate customers of different turnover size (small and medi-

um-sized enterprises and Large Corporate customers) as well as commercial real estate and public sector business. 

 

Group Markets. The Group Markets (GM) segment comprises trading and markets services as well as customer business with finan-

cial institutions. It includes all activities related to the trading books of Erste Group, including the execution of trade, market making 

and short-term liquidity management. In addition, it comprises business connected with servicing financial institutions as clients. 

 

Asset/Liability Management & Local Corporate Center. The Asset/Liability Management & Local Corporate Center (ALM & 

LCC) segment includes all asset/liability management functions – local and of Erste Group Bank AG (Holding) – as well as the local 

corporate centers which comprise all non-core banking business activities such as internal service providers and reconciliation items 

to local entity results. The corporate center of Erste Group Bank AG is included in the Group Corporate Center segment. 

 

Savings Banks. The Savings Banks segment is identical to the operating segment Savings banks. 

 

Group Corporate Center. The Group Corporate Center (GCC) segment covers mainly centrally managed activities and items that 

are not directly allocated to other segments. It comprises the corporate center of Erste Group Bank AG (and thus dividends and the 

refinancing costs from participations, general administrative expenses), internal service providers (facility management, IT, procure-

ment), the banking tax of Erste Group Bank AG as well as free capital of Erste Group (defined as the difference of the total average 

IFRS equity and the average economical equity allocated to the segments).  

 

Intragroup Elimination. Intragroup Elimination (IC) is not defined as a segment but is the reconciliation to the consolidated ac-

counting result. It includes intragroup eliminations between participations of Erste Group (e.g. intragroup funding, internal cost 

charges). Intragroup eliminations within partial groups are disclosed in the respective segments. 

 

Dividend elimination between Erste Group Bank AG and its fully consolidated subsidiaries is performed in Group Corporate Center. 

Consolidation differences arising between the segments, which are eliminated over the lifespan of the underlying transaction, are 

part of Group Corporate Center.    

Measurement 

The profit and loss statement of the segment report is based on the measures reported to the Erste Group management board for the 

purpose of allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance. Management reporting as well as the segment re-

port of Erste Group are based on IFRS. Accounting standards and methods as well as measurements used in segment reporting are 

the same as for the consolidated financial statements of accounting. 

 

Retail

Erste Group – business segments

Corporates
Group

Markets

Asset/Liability
Management &
Local Corporate

Center

Savings 
Banks

Group Corporate
Center

Intragroup
Elimination



 

 

35

Interest revenues are not reported separately from interest expenses for each reportable segment. Those measures are reported on the 

net basis within the position ‘Net interest income’ as interest revenues and interest expenses are neither included into the measure 

of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision maker nor otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating deci-

sion maker. Chief operating decision maker relies solely on net interest income to assess the performance of the segments and make 

decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments. Net fee and commission income and Other operating result are reported 

on a net basis according to the regular reporting to the chief operating decision maker. 

 

Capital consumption per segment is regularly reviewed by the management of Erste Group to assess the performance of the seg-

ments. The average allocated capital is determined by the credit risk, market risk, operational risk and business strategic risk. Accord-

ing to the regular internal reporting to Erste Group management board, total assets and total liabilities as well as risk weighted assets 

and allocated capital are disclosed per segment. Total average allocated capital for the Group equals average total equity of the Group.  

 

For measuring and assessing the profitability of segments within Erste Group, such key measures as return on allocated capital and 

cost/income ratio are used. Return on allocated capital is defined as net result for the period before minorities in relation to the aver-

age allocated capital of the respective segment. Cost/income ratio is defined as operating expenses (general administrative expenses) 

in relation to operating income (total of net interest income, net fee and commission income, dividend income, net trading result, 

gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss, net result from equity method investments, 

rental income from investment properties and other operating lease).  
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Operating segments: Geographical segmentation – overview 

  Austria   Central and Eastern Europe Other Total Group 
in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Net interest income 2566 3715 3160 3332 225 181 5951 7228 
Net fee and commission income 1396 1482 1134 1269 -77 -111 2452 2640 
Dividend income 18 23 4 3 7 12 29 38 
Net trading result -128 77 326 359 -977 319 -779 754 
Gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL 52 12 -67 43 747 -360 731 -306 
Net result from equity method investments 3 0 7 16 8 7 18 23 
Rental income from investment properties & other operating leases 141 150 42 38 -15 -13 168 175 
General administrative expenses -2195 -2401 -2118 -2338 -262 -281 -4575 -5020 

 thereof depreciation and amortization -160 -168 -277 -275 -114 -117 -551 -560 
Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets at AC -1 0 -50 -12 -1 -1 -52 -13 
Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not at FVPL 0 -3 -25 -39 2 -87 -23 -128 
Impairment result from financial instruments -158 -101 -134 -21 -8 -6 -300 -128 
Other operating result -56 -87 -285 -308 -58 -72 -399 -468 

Levies on banking activities -41 -22 -124 -137 -22 -25 -187 -183 
Pre-tax result from continuing operations 1639 2867 1994 2341 -410 -413 3222 4795 
Taxes on income -418 -642 -376 -434 237 202 -556 -874 
Net result for the period 1221 2225 1618 1906 -173 -211 2666 3921 

Net result attributable to non-controlling interests 442 836 57 82 2 5 502 923 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 779 1390 1561 1824 -175 -217 2165 2998 

                  
Operating income 4048 5459 4606 5059 -83 34 8571 10552 
Operating expenses  -2195 -2401 -2118 -2338 -262 -281 -4575 -5020 
Operating result   1853 3058 2488 2721 -345 -247 3996 5532 
                  
Risk-weighted assets (credit risk eop) 62673 63405 53151 56872 3458 2465 119282 122742 
Average allocated capital 9712 9236 9913 10707 4660 7058 24284 27001 
Cost/income ratio  542% 440% 460% 462% >100% >100% 534% 476% 
Return on allocated capital 126% 241% 163% 178% -37% -30% 110% 145% 
Total assets (eop) 204979 210346 142554 151733 -23669 -24924 323865 337155 
Total liabilities excluding equity (eop) 166197 161196 129479 137345 2884 10113 298560 308654 
                  
Impairments -157 -103 -196 -83 -24 -20 -377 -206 
Net impairment loss on financial assets AC/FVTOCI and finance lease receivables -159 -190 -93 -21 -20 14 -272 -198 
Net impairment loss on commitments and guarantees given 1 89 -41 0 12 -20 -28 70 
Impairment of goodwill 0 0 -5 -9 0 0 -5 -9 
Net impairment on investments in subsidiaries joint ventures and associates 0 0 -6 -1 -15 -4 -21 -5 
Net impairment on other non-financial assets 0 -2 -51 -52 -1 -11 -52 -64 
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Operating segments: Geographical area Austria 

  EBOe & Subsidiaries Savings Banks Other Austria Austria   
in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Net interest income 709 1200 1223 1892 634 623 2566 3715 
Net fee and commission income 480 505 623 656 293 321 1396 1482 
Dividend income 6 7 8 6 3 10 18 23 
Net trading result -58 29 -70 53 0 -5 -128 77 
Gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL 57 -21 16 11 -22 21 52 12 
Net result from equity method investments 3 -1 0 0 0 1 3 0 
Rental income from investment properties & other operating leases 52 60 43 41 45 50 141 150 
General administrative expenses -689 -747 -1143 -1259 -363 -394 -2195 -2401 

 thereof depreciation and amortization -42 -46 -85 -84 -32 -39 -160 -168 
Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets at AC -1 0 0 0 0 0 -1 0 
Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not at FVPL 0 0 1 -4 -1 1 0 -3 
Impairment result from financial instruments -31 -53 -62 -182 -64 135 -158 -101 
Other operating result -35 -68 -26 -34 5 15 -56 -87 

Levies on banking activities -23 -16 -18 -5 0 0 -41 -22 
Pre-tax result from continuing operations 495 910 614 1180 530 778 1639 2867 
Taxes on income -140 -202 -157 -261 -121 -178 -418 -642 
Net result for the period 355 707 456 919 410 599 1221 2225 

Net result attributable to non-controlling interests 35 26 399 797 8 13 442 836 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 320 681 57 122 402 586 779 1390 

                  
Operating income 1250 1778 1844 2660 954 1021 4048 5459 
Operating expenses  -689 -747 -1143 -1259 -363 -394 -2195 -2401 
Operating result   562 1031 701 1401 591 626 1853 3058 
                  
Risk-weighted assets (credit risk eop) 15454 15157 27280 27433 19939 20815 62673 63405 
Average allocated capital 2433 2172 4665 4456 2615 2608 9712 9236 
Cost/income ratio  551% 420% 620% 473% 381% 386% 542% 440% 
Return on allocated capital 146% 326% 98% 206% 157% 230% 126% 241% 
Total assets (eop) 59249 58667 80471 81594 65259 70085 204979 210346 
Total liabilities excluding equity (eop) 56574 55524 74399 74586 35223 31085 166197 161196 
                  
Impairments -31 -53 -62 -185 -65 135 -157 -103 
Net impairment loss on financial assets AC/FVTOCI and finance lease receivables -34 -76 -67 -198 -58 84 -159 -190 
Net impairment loss on commitments and guarantees given 3 23 5 16 -7 51 1 89 
Impairment of goodwill 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Net impairment on investments in subsidiaries joint ventures and associates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Net impairment on other non-financial assets 0 0 0 -2 0 0 0 -2 
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Operating segments: Geographical area Central and Eastern Europe 

  Czech Republic   Slovakia   Romania   Hungary   Croatia   Serbia   
Central and Eastern 

Europe 
in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Net interest income 1417 1320 450 514 530 637 396 357 285 403 83 101 3160 3332 
Net fee and commission income 387 454 192 208 191 205 223 255 117 124 23 24 1134 1269 
Dividend income 3 2 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 3 
Net trading result 152 174 24 22 123 111 -18 29 40 15 6 7 326 359 
Gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL -18 -74 2 2 5 1 -54 113 -2 1 0 0 -67 43 
Net result from equity method investments 3 9 3 4 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 7 16 
Rental income from investment properties & other operating leases 9 9 0 0 18 9 8 10 8 7 0 2 42 38 
General administrative expenses -868 -964 -307 -332 -381 -418 -247 -270 -240 -264 -74 -91 -2118 -2338 

 thereof depreciation and amortization -111 -116 -35 -34 -52 -50 -41 -35 -33 -31 -6 -10 -277 -275 
Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets at AC -50 -11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -50 -12 
Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not at 
FVPL -26 0 0 0 0 0 1 -17 0 -21 0 0 -25 -39 
Impairment result from financial instruments -26 -34 -32 -15 -80 -9 -18 1 42 46 -20 -9 -134 -21 
Other operating result -68 -71 -11 -9 -37 -33 -139 -174 -27 -22 -3 1 -285 -308 

Levies on banking activities 0 0 0 0 0 0 -124 -137 0 0 0 0 -124 -137 
Pre-tax result from continuing operations 914 812 320 395 370 503 151 304 224 292 15 35 1994 2341 
Taxes on income -156 -133 -71 -88 -73 -120 -26 -39 -50 -52 -1 -3 -376 -434 
Net result for the period 759 680 249 307 297 383 125 265 174 240 14 32 1618 1906 

Net result attributable to non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 54 75 3 6 57 82 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 758 679 249 307 297 383 125 265 120 164 11 26 1561 1824 

                              
Operating income 1952 1894 671 751 868 964 554 763 449 552 112 134 4606 5059 
Operating expenses  -868 -964 -307 -332 -381 -418 -247 -270 -240 -264 -74 -91 -2118 -2338 
Operating result   1084 929 364 419 487 546 307 494 209 289 38 43 2488 2721 
                              
Risk-weighted assets (credit risk eop) 22374 24550 9232 10039 8529 9246 5116 4833 6071 6246 1829 1958 53151 56872 
Average allocated capital 3848 4412 1488 1524 1800 1851 1248 1532 1232 1077 297 311 9913 10707 
Cost/income ratio  445% 509% 458% 442% 439% 433% 446% 353% 534% 477% 665% 677% 460% 462% 
Return on allocated capital 197% 154% 168% 201% 165% 207% 100% 173% 142% 223% 47% 103% 163% 178% 
Total assets (eop) 68002 72716 23752 26469 19972 21877 12717 12512 14980 14752 3132 3408 142554 151733 
Total liabilities excluding equity (eop) 62292 66871 21566 23995 17738 19369 11601 11043 13519 13077 2763 2989 129479 137345 
                              
Impairments -72 -67 -36 -15 -86 -10 -24 -27 41 46 -20 -9 -196 -83 
Net impairment loss on financial assets AC/FVTOCI and finance lease 
receivables -30 -45 -36 -24 -67 -6 -14 4 71 60 -17 -11 -93 -21 
Net impairment loss on commitments and guarantees given 4 10 4 9 -13 -4 -4 -3 -28 -14 -3 1 -41 0 
Impairment of goodwill 0 0 0 0 0 0 -5 -9 0 0 0 0 -5 -9 
Net impairment on investments in subsidiaries joint ventures and 
associates 0 0 -6 -1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -6 -1 
Net impairment on other non-financial assets -46 -33 2 2 -6 -1 0 -20 -1 0 0 0 -51 -52  
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Business segments (1) 

  Retail Corporates Group Markets ALM&LCC 
in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Net interest income 2643 3263 1542 1931 526 386 -283 -558 
Net fee and commission income 1270 1391 370 410 289 312 -84 -96 
Dividend income 0 0 0 2 3 8 11 10 
Net trading result 158 169 149 116 56 106 -915 359 
Gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL -59 111 4 9 -33 13 818 -464 
Net result from equity method investments 3 7 3 8 0 0 3 0 
Rental income from investment properties & other operating leases 6 9 111 113 0 0 26 28 
General administrative expenses -2227 -2429 -592 -665 -246 -265 -122 -138 

 thereof depreciation and amortization -259 -266 -69 -70 -13 -14 -11 -9 
Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets at AC -2 -1 0 0 0 0 -50 -11 
Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not at FVPL 0 0 1 0 0 1 -26 -125 
Impairment result from financial instruments -135 -56 -105 104 1 0 6 15 
Other operating result -101 -111 -57 -82 -34 -33 -155 -163 

Levies on banking activities -80 -84 -39 -54 -10 -16 -18 0 
Pre-tax result from continuing operations 1557 2354 1426 1945 561 528 -770 -1144 
Taxes on income -306 -424 -281 -374 -113 -102 125 166 
Net result for the period 1251 1931 1145 1571 448 426 -644 -977 

Net result attributable to non-controlling interests 33 35 62 75 5 5 0 7 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 1218 1896 1083 1496 444 422 -644 -984 

                  
Operating income 4022 4950 2179 2589 841 826 -422 -721 
Operating expenses  -2227 -2429 -592 -665 -246 -265 -122 -138 
Operating result   1795 2521 1587 1923 595 560 -545 -859 
                  
Risk-weighted assets (credit risk eop) 22458 24311 55858 57264 3600 4009 7269 8037 
Average allocated capital 3791 3708 5841 6178 1102 975 5917 6701 
Cost/income ratio  554% 491% 272% 257% 292% 321% -290% -192% 
Return on allocated capital 330% 521% 196% 254% 407% 437% -109% -146% 
Total assets (eop) 74941 77127 76016 80486 47665 51885 84692 85702 
Total liabilities excluding equity (eop) 113825 113509 41625 44875 44638 41871 65218 74491 
                  
Impairments -154 -56 -121 99 1 0 -20 -42 
Net impairment loss on financial assets AC/FVTOCI and finance lease receivables -148 -73 -44 58 1 -5 3 10 
Net impairment loss on commitments and guarantees given 13 17 -61 46 -1 5 3 5 
Impairment of goodwill -5 0 0 0 0 0 0 -9 
Net impairment on investments in subsidiaries joint ventures and associates 0 0 0 0 0 0 -6 -1 
Net impairment on other non-financial assets -14 0 -16 -5 0 0 -21 -46 
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Business segments (2) 

  Savings Banks Group Corporate Center Intragroup Elimination Total Group 
in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Net interest income 1223 1892 138 247 162 67 5951 7228 
Net fee and commission income 623 656 12 -3 -28 -30 2452 2640 
Dividend income 8 6 7 12 0 0 29 38 
Net trading result -70 53 -17 0 -140 -49 -779 754 
Gains/losses from financial instruments at FVPL 16 11 -15 13 0 0 731 -306 
Net result from equity method investments 0 0 8 7 0 0 18 23 
Rental income from investment properties & other operating leases 43 41 -18 -14 -1 -2 168 175 
General administrative expenses -1143 -1259 -964 -1075 720 812 -4575 -5020 

 thereof depreciation and amortization -85 -84 -134 -138 21 22 -551 -560 
Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets at AC 0 0 0 -1 0 0 -52 -13 
Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not at FVPL 1 -4 2 -1 0 0 -23 -128 
Impairment result from financial instruments -62 -182 -4 -8 0 0 -300 -128 
Other operating result -26 -34 687 754 -713 -798 -399 -468 

Levies on banking activities -18 -5 -22 -25 0 0 -187 -183 
Pre-tax result from continuing operations 614 1180 -165 -69 0 0 3222 4795 
Taxes on income -157 -261 175 120 0 0 -556 -874 
Net result for the period 456 919 10 51 0 0 2666 3921 

Net result attributable to non-controlling interests 399 797 2 5 0 0 502 923 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent 57 122 8 46 0 0 2165 2998 

                  
Operating income 1844 2660 115 262 -7 -14 8571 10552 
Operating expenses  -1143 -1259 -964 -1075 720 812 -4575 -5020 
Operating result   701 1401 -849 -813 713 798 3996 5532 
                  
Risk-weighted assets (credit risk eop) 27280 27433 2818 1688 0 0 119282 122742 
Average allocated capital 4665 4456 2968 4983 0 0 24284 27001 
Cost/income ratio  620% 473% >100% >100% >100% >100% 534% 476% 
Return on allocated capital 98% 206% 03% 10%     110% 145% 
Total assets (eop) 80471 81594 5464 3973 -45385 -43611 323865 337155 
Total liabilities excluding equity (eop) 74399 74586 4281 2978 -45426 -43656 298560 308654 
                  
Impairments -62 -185 -21 -23 0 0 -377 -206 
Net impairment loss on financial assets AC/FVTOCI and finance lease receivables -67 -198 -16 11 0 0 -272 -198 
Net impairment loss on commitments and guarantees given 5 16 12 -19 0 0 -28 70 
Impairment of goodwill 0 0 0 0 0 0 -5 -9 
Net impairment on investments in subsidiaries joint ventures and associates 0 0 -15 -4 0 0 -21 -5 
Net impairment on other non-financial assets 0 -2 -1 -11 0 0 -52 -64 
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2. Net interest income 

Net interest income is broken down into line items of interest income, other similar income, interest expenses and other similar ex-

penses. The distinguishing factor is whether the EIR method is mandatorily applied for recognition of interest income or expense in 

accordance with IFRS 9. 

 

‘Interest income’ relates to interest revenue from financial assets measured at amortised cost and at fair value through other compre-

hensive income. It is calculated using the EIR method as discussed in chapter ‘Financial instruments – Material accounting policies’. 

 

‘Other similar income’ captures interest-like sources of income resulting from non-derivative financial assets measured at fair value 

through profit or loss, held for trading derivatives, hedge accounting derivatives, finance lease receivables and negative interest on 

financial liabilities. Negative interest on financial liabilities also includes fees which are charged on deposits from corporate custom-

ers based on a specific percentage of outstanding balances. 

 

‘Interest expenses’ relate to interest expense from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated using effective interest 

rate. 

 

‘Other similar expenses’ capture interest-like sources of expense resulting from non-derivative financial liabilities measured at fair 

value through profit or loss, held for trading derivatives, hedge accounting derivatives, negative interest on financial assets, lease 

liabilities, provisions recognised under IFRS 9 and IAS 37 (unwinding of the time value of the money effect due to passage of time) 

and net defined liabilities (net interest cost on severance payments, pensions and jubilee obligations) under IAS 19. 

 

As regards types of financial instruments, interest income and other similar income include interest income on loans and advances 

to banks and customers, on cash balances, on debt securities in all measurement categories of financial assets, on trade and other re-

ceivables and on finance lease receivables. Interest expenses and other similar expenses include interest paid on deposits from cus-

tomers, deposits from banks, debt securities issued and other financial liabilities in all measurement categories of financial liabilities 

and interest paid on lease liabilities. Net interest income also includes interest on derivative financial instruments. 

 

Interest income also includes modification gains and losses recognised on financial assets in Stage 1. Further, the unamortised bal-

ance of the origination fees/transaction costs upon derecognition of assets in Stage 1 and 2 considered in the effective interest rate is 

presented as interest income at the derecognition date. 

 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Financial assets at AC 8378 14663 
Financial assets at FVOCI 244 382 

Interest income 8623 15045 
Non-trading financial assets at FVPL 66 84 
Financial assets HfT 2345 4177 
Hedge accounting derivatives interest rate risk -119 -80 
Other assets 131 247 
Negative interest from financial liabilities 195 17 

Other similar income 2618 4446 
Interest and other similar income 11240 19490 
      

Financial liabilities at AC -2569 -6873 
Interest expenses -2569 -6873 

Financial liabilities at FVPL -257 -342 
Financial liabilities HfT -2367 -4509 
Hedge accounting derivatives interest rate risk 38 -480 
Other liabilities -30 -57 
Negative interest from financial assets -104 -2 

Other similar expenses -2720 -5389 
Interest and other similar expenses -5290 -12262 
      
Net interest income 5951 7228 

 

An amount of EUR 168 million (2022: EUR 100 million) relating to impaired financial assets is included in interest income.  

 

The amounts disclosed in the line items ‘Negative interest from financial liabilities’ and ‘Negative interest from financial assets’ 

largely relate to the interbank business, deposits and refinancing with central banks.  

 

In 2022 negative interest from financial liabilities at AC includes catch-up gains from TLTRO III in the amount of EUR 129 million. 

For more details refer to Note 18 Financial liabilities at amortised costs. 
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3. Net fee and commission income 

Erste Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services that it provides to its customers. Fee and commission 

income is measured based on the consideration specified in the contract with a customer. Erste Group recognises revenue when it 

transfers a promised service to a customer. 

 

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include commitment fees, 

premiums received for financial guarantees and other fees from lending business, commission income from asset management, cus-

tody and other management and advisory fees. Services provided over a period of time also include certain payment services like 

periodic card fees. 

 

Fee income earned from providing transaction services, such as arranging the acquisition and sale of shares or other securities on 

behalf of customers or foreign exchange transactions, as well as commission income earned from services such as the sale of collective 

investments and insurance products, are recognised upon completion of the underlying transaction. Transaction based services also 

include certain payment services like withdrawal fees. 

 

A contract with a customer that results in the recognition of a financial instrument in the Group’s financial statements may be par-

tially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then Erste Group first applies IFRS 9 to separate 

and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual. For example, loan servicing 

fees agreed in a loan contract that are not integral to the effective interest rate of a financial instrument are included in the net fee 

and commission income. 

 

  1-12 22 1-12 23 
in EUR million Income Expenses Income Expenses 

Securities 282 -56 275 -60 
Issues 47 -1 52 -1 
Transfer orders 217 -43 212 -46 
Other 18 -12 12 -13 

Clearing and settlement 2 -4 4 -1 
Asset management 524 -49 574 -50 
Custody 123 -16 135 -17 
Fiduciary transactions 1 0 1 0 
Payment services 1340 -236 1473 -269 

Card business 406 -158 452 -178 
Other 934 -79 1021 -91 

Customer resources distributed but not managed 274 -8 286 -11 
Collective investment 24 -2 23 -2 
Insurance products 211 -1 235 -2 
Foreign exchange transactions 37 -3 25 -2 
Other 3 -3 3 -5 

Structured finance 1 0 1 0 
Servicing fees from securitization activities 0 -1 0 0 
Lending business 218 -38 250 -32 

Guarantees given guarantees received 94 -3 100 -5 
Loan commitments given loan commitments received 43 -1 51 -1 
Other lending business 81 -33 99 -26 

Other 123 -27 105 -25 
Total fee and commission income and expenses 2889 -436 3104 -464 
          

Net fee and commission income 2452 2640 

 

Asset management, custody and fiduciary transactions fees relate to fees earned by Erste Group on trust and other fiduciary activities 

in which Erste Group holds or invests assets on behalf of its customers and amount to EUR 644 million (2022: EUR 584 million). Net 

fee and commission income above include income of EUR 1,186 million (2022: EUR 1,086 million) relating to financial assets and 

financial liabilities not measured at FVPL. 

 

The total amount of revenue from administrative and agency services to third parties amounts to EUR 919 million (2022: 

EUR 850 million). 
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4. Dividend income 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established. This line item includes dividends from all shares 

and other equity investments, i.e. from those that are held for trading, non-trading equity instruments at FVPL and at FVOCI. 

 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Financial assets HfT 3 9 
Non-trading financial assets at FVPL 18 20 
Financial assets at FVOCI 9 9 
Dividend income 29 38 

5. Net trading result  

Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in the fair value (clean price) of financial assets and 

financial liabilities classified as held for trading, including all derivatives not designated as hedging instruments and gains and losses 

from their derecognition. Further, the net trading result includes any ineffective portions recorded in fair value and cash flow hedge 

transactions. Also, foreign exchange gains and losses on all monetary assets and liabilities and from spot currency conversions are 

included here. 

 

The accounting policy for recognition of foreign exchange gains and losses is described in the chapter ‘Material accounting policies’, 

b) ‘Foreign currency translations’, i. ‘Transactions and balances in foreign currency’. Detailed information relating to hedge account-

ing can be found in Note 27 Hedge accounting. 

 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Securities and derivatives trading -853 343 
Foreign exchange transactions 86 407 
Result from hedge accounting -11 4 
Net trading result -779 754 

6. Gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or 
loss 

Changes in fair value (clean price) of non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, including gains and losses on 

their derecognition, are presented under this line item. This concerns both non-trading financial assets designated and those man-

datorily measured at FVPL. Gains and losses (clean price) of financial liabilities designated at FVPL, including gains and losses on 

their derecognition, are also presented under this line item. However, the fair value changes resulting from own credit risk of the 

liability are recognised in OCI. 

 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Result from measurement/sale of financial assets designated at FVPL -19 7 
Result from measurement/repurchase of financial liabilities designated at FVPL 940 -480 
Result from financial assets and liabilities designated at FVPL 921 -473 
Result from measurement/sale of financial assets mandatorily at FVPL -189 168 
Gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss 731 -306 

7. Rental income from investment properties & other operating leases 

Rental income from investment properties and other operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Oper-

ating expenses for investment properties are reported in line item ‘Other operating result’. For further details we refer to Note 12 

Other operating result. 

 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Investment properties 113 129 
Other operating leases 54 46 
Rental income from investment properties & other operating leases 168 175 
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8. General administrative expenses 

PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

Personnel expenses include wages and salaries, expenses for variable remuneration, statutory and voluntary social security contribu-

tions, staff-related taxes and levies. They also include service costs for severance payments, pension and jubilee obligations and re-

measurements of jubilee obligations. Furthermore, restructuring provision expenses may be part of personnel expenses. 

 

Information about remuneration of management including performance-linked remuneration can be found in Note 60 Related-party 

transactions. Information about share-based payments to the management board and to employees can be found in Note 61 Share-

based payments. 

OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  

Other administrative expenses include primarily information technology expenses, expenses for office space, office operating ex-

penses, advertising and marketing, and expenditures for legal and other consultants. Furthermore, the line item contains deposit 

insurance contributions. Restructuring provision expenses may also be presented in other administrative expenses. 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION  

This line item comprises depreciation of property and equipment, depreciation of investment property and amortisation of intangible 

assets. In the line item ‘Depreciation and amortisation’, also the depreciation of right-of-use assets according to IFRS 16 is disclosed. 

General administrative expenses  

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Personnel expenses -2668 -2991 
Wages and salaries -2049 -2286 
Compulsory social security -488 -530 
Long-term employee provisions  1 -24 
Other personnel expenses  -131 -152 

Other administrative expenses -1356 -1468 
Deposit insurance contribution -143 -114 
IT expenses -488 -549 
Expenses for office space -186 -208 
Office operating expenses -152 -160 
Advertising/marketing -193 -222 
Legal and consulting costs -126 -134 
Sundry administrative expenses -69 -81 

Depreciation and amortisation -551 -560 
Software and other intangible assets  -192 -190 
Owner occupied real estate -161 -167 
Investment properties -29 -31 
Customer relationships -7 -7 
Office furniture and equipment and sundry property and equipment  -161 -163 

General administrative expenses -4575 -5020 

 

Personnel expenses include expenses of EUR 54 million (2022: EUR 48 million) for defined contribution plans.  
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Average number of employees during the financial period (weighted according to the 
level of employment) 

  1-12 22 1-12 23 

Austria 15686 16047 
Erste Group Bank AG Erste Bank Oesterreich and subsidiaries 8561 8884 
Savings banks 7125 7163 
Outside Austria 29271 29662 
Česká spořitelna Group 9846 9975 
Banca Comercială Română Group 5303 5495 
Slovenská sporiteľňa Group  3618 3559 
Erste Bank Hungary Group 3272 3340 
Erste Bank Croatia Group 3240 3273 
Erste Bank Serbia Group 1212 1301 
Savings banks subsidiaries 1523 1537 
Other subsidiaries and foreign branch offices   1257 1181 
Total 44957 45709 

9. Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost 

This line item includes selling and other derecognition gains or losses on financial assets measured at amortised cost. However, if 

such gains/losses relate to derecognition of financial assets in Stage 3, they are included in the line item ‘Impairment result from 

financial instruments’. 

 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Gains from derecognition of financial assets at AC 0 1 
Losses from derecognition of financial assets at AC -52 -14 
Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost  -52 -13 

10. Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss  

This line item includes selling and other derecognition gains or losses on financial assets at FVOCI, financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost and other financial instruments not measured at FVPL, such as finance lease receivables or financial guarantees. 

However, if such gains/losses relate to financial assets in Stage 3 they are included in the line item ‘Impairment result from financial 

instruments’. 

 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Sale of financial assets at FVOCI -24 -139 
Derecognition of financial liabilities at AC 1 10 
Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss  -23 -128 

11. Impairment result from financial instruments  

Net impairment losses on financial instruments comprise impairment losses and reversals of impairment on all kinds of financial 

instruments, to which the IFRS 9 expected credit loss impairment model applies. The impairment result also includes recoveries on 

written-off financial assets. Modification gains and losses recognised on financial assets in Stage 2 and Stage 3 and POCI assets are 

also included in this line item. Moreover, gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets in Stage 3 and POCI assets are presented 

as part of the impairment result. 
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in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Financial assets at FVOCI -1 9 
Financial assets at AC -293 -202 

allocation/reversal to credit loss allowances (net) -355 -259 
Direct write-offs  -9 -7 
Recoveries recorded directly to the income statement 79 79 
Modification gains or losses -8 -15 

Finance lease receivables 22 -5 
allocation/reversal to credit loss allowances (net) 19 -5 
Recoveries recorded directly to the income statement 3 1 

Credit loss allowances for loan commitments and financial guarantees given -28 70 
Impairment result from financial instruments -300 -128 

 

In the following table, the change of the credit loss allowance recognised in balance sheet is compared to the impairment result from 

financial instruments. 

 

  Changes of credit loss allowances 

in EUR million 

Impairment result 
of financial 

instruments 

Other changes 
through  

profit or loss 

Changes  
not affecting  
profit or loss Total 

Credit loss allowances Jan 23       -4506 
Net allocation to credit loss allowances  -236     -236 
Increase due to passage of time (unwinding correction)   -108   -108 
Derecognition due to sales     40 40 
Write-offs     289 289 
Changes in scope of consolidation     3 3 
Foreign exchange differences   17   17 
Other   -29   -29 

Credit loss allowances Dec 23       -4530 
Impairment gains or losses on POCIs without CLA 50       
Direct write-offs  -7       
Recoveries recorded directly to the income statement 80       
Modification gains or losses -15       

Impairment result from financial instruments -128       

 

  Changes of credit loss allowances 

in EUR million 

Impairment result 
of financial 

instruments 

Other changes 
through  

profit or loss 

Changes  
not affecting  
profit or loss Total 

Credit loss allowances Jan 22       -4447 
Net allocation to credit loss allowances  -379     -379 
Increase due to passage of time (unwinding correction)   -91   -91 
Derecognition due to sales     44 44 
Write-offs     381 381 
Changes in scope of consolidation     -2 -2 
Foreign exchange differences   -11   -11 
Other   -1   -1 

Credit loss allowances Dec 22       -4506 
Impairment gains or losses on POCIs without CLA 14       
Direct write-offs  -9       
Recoveries recorded directly to the income statement 82       
Modification gains or losses -8       

Impairment result from financial instruments -300       

12. Other operating result  

The other operating result reflects all other income and expenses not directly attributable to Erste Group’s ordinary activities. 

 

It includes expenses for allocations to and income from release of provisions in scope of IAS 37. Further, impairment losses or any 

reversal of impairment losses as well as results on the sale of property and equipment, investment property and intangible assets are 

presented as other operating result. Any impairment losses on goodwill are also included in this line item. 

 

In addition, the other operating result encompasses the following: resolution fund contributions, expenses for other taxes as well as 

selling gains and losses on equity investments accounted for using the equity method and gains or losses from derecognition of 

subsidiaries. 
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Furthermore, levies on banking activities are considered as part of the other operating result. Erste Group recognises a liability or a 

provision for the levy when the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. 

 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Other operating expenses -520 -475 
Allocation to other provisions -176 -162 
Levies on banking activities -187 -183 

Banking tax -128 -112 
Financial transaction tax -59 -71 

Other taxes -13 -7 
Resolution fund contributions -139 -113 
Impairment of goodwill -5 -9 

Other operating income 222 140 
Release of other provisions  222 140 

Result from properties and equipment investment properties and other intangible assets -19 -55 
Result from other operating expenses/income -82 -77 
Other operating result -399 -468 

 

Operating expenses (including repair and maintenance) for investment properties held for rental income totalled to EUR 42 million 

(2022: EUR 36 million). 

 

No income from reversal of impairment for assets held for sale has been recognized under ‘Result from other operating expenses/in-

come’ in 2022 or 2023. 

13. Taxes on income  

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period. However, they are 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they arise from a transaction or event which itself is recognised in 

OCI or equity. 

 

Coupon payments made to the holders of Additional Tier 1 equity instruments issued by Erste Group Bank AG are tax-deductible 

interest payments under the Austrian Tax Regulations. Since the AT1 coupons are considered as distributions of profit the income 

tax effects are recognised in profit or loss. 

PILLAR 2 

In December 2022, the EU-wide minimum taxation system Pillar 2 was adopted as an EU directive and is also relevant for Erste 

Group as an international banking group. At 31 December 2023 Erste Group applied the temporary exception to the requirements of 

IAS 12 under which a company discloses limited information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to the proposed 

OECD/G20 BEPS Pillar 2 model rules. 

  

Expected Effect. Pillar 2 legislation has been enacted or substantively enacted in certain jurisdictions in which Erste Group operates. 

The legislation will be effective for Erste Group’s financial year beginning 1 January 2024. Erste Group is in scope of the enacted or 

substantively enacted legislation and has performed an assessment of the Group’s potential exposure to Pillar 2 income taxes. This 

assessment is based on the most recent information available regarding the financial performance of the constituent entities in the 

Group. Based on the assessment, the Pillar 2 effective tax rates in most of the jurisdictions in which Erste Group operates are above 

15%. However, there are a limited number of jurisdictions where the Pillar 2 effective tax rate is close to 15%. The Group does not 

expect a material exposure to Pillar 2 income taxes in those jurisdictions. 

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES  

Judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level 

of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies. For this purpose a planning period of 5 years is used. Income 

tax uncertainties in accounting have been considered by weighting possible outcome scenarios. 

 

Taxes on income are made up of current taxes on income calculated in each of the Group companies based on the results reported 

for tax purposes, corrections to taxes on income for previous years and the change in deferred taxes. 
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in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Current tax expense/income -578 -801 
current period -569 -819 
prior period -9 18 

Deferred tax expense/income 22 -73 
current period 16 -74 
prior period 6 2 

Total -556 -874 

 

The following table reconciles the income taxes reported in the income statement to the pre-tax result from continuing operations 

multiplied by the nominal Austrian tax rate. 

 

in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 

Pre-tax result from continuing operations 3222 4795 
Income tax expense for the financial year at the Austrian statutory tax rate (24%) -806 -1151 
Impact of different foreign tax rates  161 207 
Impact of tax-exempt earnings of investments and other tax-exempt income  179 178 
Tax increases due to non-deductible expenses additional business tax and similar elements -216 -220 
Impact on deferred taxes from topics on Group level  13 -91 
Current period's recognition through P&L of DTA from tax losses assessed non-recoverable at the end of the prior period 108 141 
Current period's recognition through P&L of DTA from temporary differences assessed non-recoverable at the end of 
the prior period 72 34 
Impact of current non-recoverable fiscal losses and temporary differences for the year -3 -4 
Tax expense/income not attributable to the reporting period -3 19 
Tax expense/income from changes of the tax rate or the imposition of new taxes -21 15 
Tax expense/income attributable to other effects -39 -2 
Total -556 -874 

 

The positive impact of EUR 15 million reported in the above effective tax reconciliation table for the financial year 2023 as ‘tax ex-

pense/income from changes of the tax rate or the imposition of new taxes’ (2022: EUR -21 million) is triggered by the upcoming 

increase in the corporate income tax rate in the Czech jurisdiction from 19% to 21%, that come into force in January 2024 and on the 

other hand from the reduction of the Austrian corporate tax to 23% from January 2024 on. Consequently, the deferred tax income 

and expenses related to temporary differences arising during the financial year 2023 at the level of the Group entities that are fiscal 

subjects of the respective jurisdiction - as well as the deferred tax positions already recognized by the Czech entities in previous years 

and expected to become tax effective starting with the year 2024 onwards - have been calculated - and respectively recalculated - using 

the newly applicable tax rates accordingly. The main reason the tax effect is positive despite the increasing applicable tax rate in 

Czechia consists of the fact that the deferred tax position of Czech entities resulting from previous years was a deferred tax asset that 

was upwards adjusted based on the newly applicable future tax rate of 21%. 

 

The total amount of the ‘tax expense attributable to other effects’ for 2023 additionally includes a positive effect of EUR 5 million 

arising from the internal offsetting of the single-level current and prior taxable results of the Austrian member entities of the tax 

group headed by Erste Group Bank AG. 

 

The following table shows the income tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income: 

  

  1-12 22 1-12 23 

in EUR million 
Pre-tax 
amount Income tax 

Net-of-tax 
amount 

Pre-tax 
amount Income tax 

Net-of-tax 
amount 

Fair value reserve of equity instruments -33 8 -25 10 -1 9 
Fair value reserve of debt instruments -560 113 -447 401 -66 335 
Own credit risk reserve 239 -57 182 -50 8 -42 
Cash flow hedge reserve 10 -1 9 205 -40 166 
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 99 -17 82 -59 14 -46 
Currency reserve 79 0 79 -101 0 -101 
Other comprehensive income -166 47 -119 406 -85 321 

 

Taxes on income within other comprehensive income are influenced by the consideration of the result of recoverability assessments 

allocated against OCI-related deferred tax assets. The allocation of the result of recoverability assessments is based on Erste Group’s 

methodology of allocating non-recoverable deferred tax assets per P&L and OCI. This approach proportionately reflects how the 

underlying temporary differences arose from IFRS-based adjustments of the accounting values of the related items. 

 

Besides, the income tax related to the fair value reserve and the cash flow hedge reserve is influenced by differences of tax rates 

applicable on contrary changes within the fair value reserve. 
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Major components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities  

  Tax assets Tax liabilities Net variance 2023 

in EUR million Dec 23 Jan 23 Dec 23 Jan 23 Total 
Profit  

or loss 

Other 
comprehen

sive income 

Temporary differences related to the following items               
Financial assets and liabilities HfT and non-trading 
financial assets and liabilities at FVPL 214 219 -292 -317 20 12 8 
Financial assets at FVOCI 20 115 -16 -6 -105 -37 -68 
Financial assets at AC and finance lease receivables 504 636 -41 -211 38 38 0 
Hedge accounting derivatives 56 80 -31 -51 -5 35 -40 
Property plant and equipment 26 22 -118 -114 0 1 0 
Equity Investments in subsidiaries associates and 
joint-ventures 49 47 -1 -3 4 4 0 
Financial liabilities at AC 92 274 -298 -395 -86 -84 0 
Long-term employee provisions (tax valuation 
different) 105 114 -5 -3 -11 -25 14 
Other provisions (tax valuation different) 44 58 -5 -2 -17 -16 0 
Customer relationships brands and other intangibles 3 3 -72 -78 6 5 0 
Other 155 146 -48 -47 7 7 0 
Non-recoverable tax position from temporary 
differences -52 -94 0 0 42 41 1 
Deferred tax position from accumulated tax loss 
carried forward after recoverability considerations 167 219 0 0 -52 -52 0 
Effect of netting according IAS 1271 -914 -1211 914 1211 0 0 0 
Total deferred taxes 468 629 -14 -16 -160 -72 -85 
Current taxes 72 109 -265 -127 -174 -801 0 
Total taxes 540 738 -279 -143 -334 -874 -85 

 

  Tax assets Tax liabilities Net variance 2022 

in EUR million Dec 22 Jan 22 Dec 22 Jan 22 Total 
Profit  

or loss 

Other 
comprehen

sive income 

Temporary differences related to the following items               
Financial assets and liabilities HfT and non-trading 
financial assets and liabilities at FVPL 219 202 -317 -233 -68 -11 -57 
Financial assets at FVOCI 115 4 -6 -61 167 44 123 
Financial assets at AC and finance lease receivables 636 273 -211 -149 301 299 0 
Hedge accounting derivatives 80 120 -51 -32 -58 -57 -1 
Property plant and equipment 22 20 -114 -111 -2 -2 0 
Equity Investments in subsidiaries associates and 
joint-ventures 47 28 -3 -8 23 23 0 
Financial liabilities at AC 274 201 -395 -31 -290 -290 0 
Long-term employee provisions (tax valuation 
different) 114 130 -3 -3 -16 0 -17 
Other provisions (tax valuation different) 58 72 -2 -2 -14 -14 0 
Customer relationships brands and other intangibles 3 3 -78 -86 8 8 0 
Other 146 227 -47 -53 -75 -74 0 
Non-recoverable tax position from temporary 
differences -94 -147 0 0 53 53 0 
Deferred tax position from accumulated tax loss 
carried forward after recoverability considerations 219 178 0 0 42 42 0 
Effect of netting according IAS 1271 -1211 -750 1211 750 0 0 0 
Total deferred taxes 629 562 -16 -19 70 22 48 
Current taxes 109 135 -127 -144 -10 -578 0 
Total taxes 738 697 -143 -162 60 -556 48 

 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented prior to subsidiary-level balance-sheet netting of attributable gross deferred tax 

assets and gross deferred tax liabilities. The amounts shown in the table are gross amounts before recoverability assessments except 

for the position deferred tax assets resulting from tax loss carry-forward. The remaining non-recoverable amounts are considered in 

line ‘Non-recoverable tax position from temporary differences’ in the table. The position ‘Other’ comprises all deferred tax positions 

not being shown as separate positions in the table above. 

 

Out of the total net deferred tax decrease of EUR 160 million (2022: increase EUR 70 million) an amount of EUR 72 million (2022: 

EUR 22 million) is reflected as deferred tax expense in the Group’s income statement for the year 2023, whilst an expense amount of 

EUR 85 million (2022: EUR 48 million) represents the impact in the Group’s other comprehensive income for the year. Furthermore, 

deferred tax income in the amount of EUR 1 million (2022: EUR 1 million) representing accumulated OCI in respect of deferred tax 

recognised for cumulative changes in own credit risk attributable to own issues repurchased during the year has been transferred 

into retained earnings, consequent to the related temporary differences reversing upon repurchase. 

 

The Group's consolidated deferred tax asset position in amount of EUR 468 million as of 31 December 2023 (2022: EUR 629 million) 

is expected to be recoverable in the foreseeable future. This is also expected to be the case for deferred tax assets exceeding their 
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deferred tax liabilities by an amount of EUR 5 million as of 31 December 2023 (2022: EUR 10 million) incurred by subsidiaries re-

porting losses in the current or prior period. These expectations result from year-end recoverability assessments undertaken by the 

Group's entities, either at individual level, or at relevant tax group level. Such assessments are comparing net temporary deductible 

differences and available fiscal losses at year-end - after offsetting with deferred tax liabilities at individual level or at relevant tax 

group level - with fiscal profit forecasts for a group-wide unified and unchanged time horizon of a maximum 5 years depending on 

the fiscal jurisdiction and applicable facts and circumstances. If the result of these assessments is negative, the deferred tax asset 

positions are correspondingly not recorded and the already existing deferred tax asset positions are correspondingly depreciated. 

 

In accordance with IAS 12.39, no deferred tax liabilities were recognised for temporary differences relating to investments in subsid-

iaries with an amount of EUR 3,261 million (2022: EUR 2,545 million), as they are not expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

As of 31 December 2023, no deferred tax assets were recognised for tax loss carry-forward and deductible temporary differences with 

a total amount of EUR 2,155 million (2022: EUR 2,926 million), of which EUR 653 million (2022: EUR 1,385 million) relates to tax 

loss carry-forward, as they are not expected to be realized in the foreseeable future. The figure comprises an amount of EUR 1,287 mil-

lion (2022: EUR 1,125 million) representing temporary differences in connection with investments in subsidiaries no deferred tax 

assets have been recognised for in accordance with IAS 12.44. 

 

From the total of the not recorded deferred tax assets related to tax loss carry-forward in the following period EUR 0 million will 

expire (2022: EUR 0 million) and in later periods EUR 11 million (2022: EUR 5 million), EUR 124 million (2022: EUR 307 million) 

will not expire. 

14. Appropriation of profit  

In the reporting period, Erste Group Bank AG posted a post-tax profit of EUR 1,818 million under the Austrian accounting regula-

tions, which increased its distributable capital accordingly (2022: EUR 1,591 million). 

 

The management board of Erste Group Bank AG will propose a 2023 dividend of EUR 2.70 per share to the 2024 Annual General 

Meeting (2022: EUR 1.90 per share).  
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Financial instruments – Material accounting policies 

Accounting and measurement methods for financial instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract giving rise to a financial asset of one party and a financial liability or equity instrument of 

another party. In accordance with IFRS 9, all financial assets and liabilities – which also include derivative financial instruments – 

have to be recognised on the balance sheet and measured in accordance with their assigned categories. 

 

Regular way (spot) purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised at the settlement date, which is the date that an asset is 

delivered. 

 

Measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities is subject to two primary measurement methods: at amortised cost and fair 

value. 

i. Amortised cost and effective interest rate 
Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal 

repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial 

amount and the maturity amount. For financial assets the amount is adjusted for any loss allowance. 

 

The effective interest rate (‘EIR’) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected 

life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before adjusting 

for any loss allowance) or to the amortised cost of the financial liability. The estimated cash flows consider all the contractual terms 

of the financial instrument but disregard the expected credit losses. The calculation includes transaction costs, origination fees that 

are an integral part of the EIR and all other premiums and discounts to the par amount. 

ii. Fair Value 
Details on valuation techniques applied for fair value measurement and on the fair value hierarchy are disclosed in Note 26 Fair value 

of financial instruments. 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets  
In accordance with IFRS 9, the classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets depend on the following two criteria: 

— The business model for managing the financial assets; and 

— The cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 

 

For further details refer to part ‘Material accounting judgements, assumptions and estimates’ in this chapter. 

 

Application of these criteria leads to classification of financial assets into three measurement categories described in the respective 

note. 

— Financial assets at amortised cost (AC) 

— Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

— Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost unless they are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Interest 

expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of a financial liability. Further details on financial liabilities at amor-

tised cost and financial liabilities at FVPL are in the respective notes: Note 18 Financial liabilities at amortised costs and Note 25 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.  

Impairment of financial instruments  
Erste Group recognises loss allowances for impairment on its debt instrument financial assets, other than those measured at FVPL, 

its lease receivables, and its off-balance credit risk exposures arising from financial guarantees and certain loan commitments. 

 

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised as a loss allowance. For the purpose of the measurement of the amount of expected 

credit loss and recognition of interest income, Erste Group distinguishes between three stages of impairment. 

 

Stage 1 relates to financial instruments for which no significant increase in credit risk has been recorded since their initial recognition 

or which are subject to the ‘low credit risk exemption’ allowed by IFRS 9. The impairment is measured in the amount equal to the 

portion of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Interest income is recog-

nised by EIR applied to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 
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Financial instruments in Stage 2 are subject to significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition (and the ‘low credit 

risk exemption’ does not apply). Stage 2 also includes trade receivables without significant financing component to which the ‘sim-

plified approach’ is applied mandatorily based on IFRS 9 requirements. The impairment is measured in the amount of the lifetime 

expected credit loss. Interest income is recognised by EIR applied to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset (as for Stage 1). 

In the case of drawings by non-defaulted customers on previously committed credit lines, the whole exposure (on-balance and off-

balance) is categorised as either Stage 1 or Stage 2, depending on the development of credit risk between the commitment date and 

the drawing date.  

 

Financial instruments in Stage 3 are credit-impaired. In respect of applying the ‘credit-impaired’ concept of IFRS 9, Erste Group 

adopted the approach of aligning it with the regulatory concept of ‘default’ in accordance with guidelines of the European Banking 

Authority EBA/GL/2016/07 and Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2018/171. Erste Group generally applies a customer view 

for the default definition, which leads to Stage 3 classification of all transactions with the customer even if the customer defaults only 

on one of several transactions (‘pulling effect’). On the other hand, an upgrade to a non-defaulted rating grade implies that all the 

transactions with the customer cease to be impaired. The impairment of financial instruments in Stage 3 is measured in the amount 

of the lifetime expected credit loss. Interest income is calculated by EIR applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the net carrying amount) 

of the financial asset. From a balance sheet perspective, interest is accrued based on the financial assets’ gross carrying amount. The 

difference between the interest accrued on the assets and the interest income recognised is reflected through the allowance account 

(without impacting the impairment loss). 

 

For financial assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition (purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets ’POCI’) 

lifetime expected credit losses are initially reflected in the credit-adjusted EIR. As a result, no loss allowance is recognised at inception. 

Subsequently, only adverse changes in lifetime expected credit losses after the initial recognition are recognised as loss allowance, 

whilst favourable changes are recognised as impairment gains increasing the gross carrying amount of the POCI financial assets. No 

impairment stages are distinguished for the POCI financial assets. 

 

Measurement of expected credit losses includes cash flows expected from collateral and those financial guarantees held by Erste 

Group which are considered as integral to the contractual terms of financial assets whose risk is guaranteed. Erste Group considers 

as integral those guarantees which are entered into at or close to the inception of the guaranteed financial assets. If the bank has in 

a loan contract an option to require provision of a guarantee, it is also considered as integral. Premiums paid for integral financial 

guarantees and other credit enhancements are considered in the EIR of the related financial assets. 

 

Reimbursement assets from financial guarantees which are not considered integral are recognised under ‘Other assets’ in the balance 

sheet. In the statement of income they reduce the impairment loss incurred on guaranteed financial assets under ‘Impairment result 

from financial instruments’. A precondition for this treatment is that it must be virtually certain that the guarantee would reimburse 

the bank for the loss. Premiums paid for non-integral financial guarantees are presented in the statement of income under the line 

item ‘Fee and commission expense’ under ‘Net fee and commission income’. 

 

More detailed information about identification of significant increases in credit risk including collective assessment and estimation 

techniques used to measure 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses is provided in Note 34 Credit risk. For further information 

on the definition of default refer to Note 37 Measurement of expected credit loss. 

 

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the net carrying amount of the financial asset presented on the balance sheet is the 

difference between the gross carrying amount and the cumulative loss allowance. However, for financial assets measured at FVOCI, 

the loss allowance is recognised in the accumulated OCI, specifically under ‘Fair value reserve’ in the statement of changes in equity. 

Loss allowances for loan commitments and financial guarantees are presented under the balance sheet line item ‘Provisions’. 

 

Information about the development of the expected credit loss of the respective financial instruments is provided in Note 37 Meas-

urement of expected credit loss. 

 

In the statement of income, impairment losses and their reversals (gains) on all kinds of financial instruments are presented in the 

line item ‘Impairment result from financial instruments’. 

Derecognition of financial instruments including treatment of contractual modifications  

i. Derecognition of financial assets  
The difference between the carrying amount of the derecognised asset and the consideration received is presented in the statement 

of income in the line ‘Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost’ or, for financial assets at FVOCI, 

in the line ‘Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss‘. For 

financial assets measured at FVPL the derecognition gains or losses are recognised together with the measurement result in the lines 

‘Net trading result’ or ‘Gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss’. 
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ii. Derecognition criteria with respect to contractual modifications of financial assets 

In the normal course of running its lending business and in agreement with the respective debtors, Erste Group may renegotiate or 

otherwise modify some terms or conditions of the underlying contracts. This can involve either market-driven commercial renegoti-

ations or contractual changes aimed at alleviating or preventing borrower’s financial difficulty. For the purpose of capturing the 

economic substance and financial effect of such contractual modifications, Erste Group has developed a set of criteria to assess 

whether or not the modified terms are substantially different from the original terms and thus the financial asset has to be derecog-

nised. 

 

Commercial interest rate adjustments fulfilling specific conditions do not trigger the modification significance assessment. Instead, 

they result in a recalculation of the EIR of related loans. Such interest rate adjustments relate to performing non-forborne financial 

assets for which a prepayment/early termination option and a sufficiently competitive refinancing market exist. Furthermore, the 

costs that the debtor would incur in case of prepayment/early termination would have to be assessed as low. Such conditions intro-

duce an implicit floating rate element to the contract. This kind of interest rate adjustments rarely applies to loan assets in Stage 2. 

 

Substantial modifications lead to derecognition of the original financial asset and initial recognition of the modified financial asset 

as a new financial instrument. They include following events: 

— change of the contractual counterparty (unless this is a formal change such as changes in legal name); 

— change in the currency of the contract (unless the change results from exercising an embedded option in the original contract 

with pre-agreed conditions of the change, or if the new currency is pegged to the original currency); 

— introduction of a non-SPPI contractual feature (unless it is intended to improve recoveries from debtors by granting concessions 

supporting them to recover from financial difficulties); or 

— removal of a non-SPPI contractual feature. 

 

Some derecognition criteria distinguish whether contractual modifications are applied to debtors facing financial difficulties. Appli-

cation of certain modifications to debtors in financial difficulties is not considered as substantial since they are aimed at improving 

the prospects of the bank to recover the claims by tailoring the repayment schedules to specific financial conditions of those debtors. 

On the other hand, such contractual modifications applied to performing debtors may be considered as substantial enough to warrant 

the derecognition, as further detailed below. 

 

From this perspective, the following criteria lead to derecognition unless they are considered as forbearance measures or they are 

applied to customers in default or they trigger default (i.e. the derecognition occurs if the modification does not relate to financial 

difficulties): 

— repayment schedule changed in a way that the weighted remaining maturity of the assets is modified by more than 100% and at 

least two years compared to the original asset; 

— change in timing/amount of contractual cash flows resulting in the present value of the modified cash flows (discounted at pre-

modification effective interest rate) being different by more than 10% of the gross carrying amount of the asset immediately before 

the modification (cumulative assessment considering all modifications occurring over the last twelve months); or 

— altering a floating interest rate into a fixed interest rate or vice versa for the entire remaining life of the financial asset. 

 

If contractual modifications that qualify as forbearance measures or they are applied to customers in default or they trigger default 

(i.e. they relate to customers in financial difficulties) are so significant that they are qualitatively assessed as an extinguishment of 

original contractual rights, they result in derecognition. Examples of such modifications are: 

— a new agreement with materially different terms signed up as part of distressed restructuring following a standstill agreement 

suspending the rights of the original assets; 

— consolidation of multiple original loans into one with substantially different terms; or 

— transformation of a revolving loan into non-revolving. 

 

Contractual modifications leading to derecognition of the related original assets result in the initial recognition of new financial 

assets. If the debtor is in default or the significant modification leads to the default, then the new asset will be treated as POCI. The 

difference between the carrying amount of the derecognised asset and initial fair value of the new POCI asset is presented in the 

statement of income in the line ‘Impairment result from financial instruments’. 

 

If the debtor is not in default or the significant modification does not lead to default, the new asset recognised after derecognition of 

the original asset will be in Stage 1. For loans measured at amortised cost, the unamortised balance of the origination fees/transaction 

costs considered in the effective interest rate is presented in the line item ‘Interest income’ under ‘Net interest income’ at the derec-

ognition date. The release of the credit loss allowance attached to the original asset at the date of that significant modification as well 

as the credit loss allowance recognised for the new asset are presented in the line ‘Impairment result from financial instruments’. The 

remaining difference is presented in the line ‘Gains/losses from derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost’. 

 

For debt instrument assets not measured at FVPL that are subject to contractual modifications that do not result in derecognition, 

the gross carrying amount of the asset is adjusted against recognising a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The modification 
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gain or loss equals the difference between the gross carrying amount before the modification and the present value of the cash flows 

based on the modified terms discounted with the original EIR. In the statement of income, the modification gain or loss is presented 

in the line ‘Interest income’ under ‘Net interest income’ if the modification relates to financial assets in Stage 1. For financial assets 

in Stage 2 and 3 and POCI financial assets, the modification gain or loss is presented in the line ‘Impairment result from financial 

instruments’. However, to the extent that the contractual modification involves the bank giving up its rights of collecting cash flows 

in respect of an outstanding amount of the asset, such as waiving (part of) principal or accrued interest amount, it is treated as a 

write-off. 

iii. Write-offs  
Erste Group writes off a financial asset or a part of it when it has no reasonable expectations of recovering the respective cash flows. 

When performing the write-off, the gross carrying amount of the asset is reduced simultaneously with the related loss allowance 

balance. 

 

Erste Group has specified criteria for writing off the unrecoverable balances in its loan business. Write-off can result from forbearance 

measures whereby the bank contractually waives part of the existing balance in order to help the customers overcome financial 

difficulties and thus improve the prospects of recovering the remaining loan balance (normally this relates to going concern scenarios 

for corporate customers). For more information on Forbearance please refer to Note 41 Restructuring, renegotiation and forbearance. 

 

In gone concern scenarios with corporate customers, write-offs of the unrecoverable exposure parts are triggered by enforcement 

activities such as filing or termination of legal proceedings (bankruptcy, liquidation, court case). Other write-off triggers may result 

from decisions about no enforcement due to worthlessness of the claim/collateral or generally from assessment that the receivable is 

economically lost. For retail customers, the non-recoverability and the timing and amounts of write-off crystallise during the collec-

tion process when it becomes evident that the amount due cannot be collected, e.g. due to ongoing bankruptcy proceedings. Residual 

uncollectable balances are written off after the collection process.  

iv. Derecognition of financial liabilities  
In the statement of income, the difference between the carrying amount of the derecognised financial liability and the consideration 

paid is presented in the line ‘Other gains/losses from financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss‘, 

‘Gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss’ and ‘Net trading result’ depending on the 

measurement category of the derecognised financial liability.  

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES  

i. SPPI assessment 
The assessment of whether the contractual cash flows of financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest (SPPI) is subject to the application of significant judgements which rely on the guidance in IFRS 9. These judgements 

are crucial in the IFRS 9 classification and measurement process, as they determine whether the asset must be measured at FVPL or, 

depending on the business model assessment, at amortised cost or at FVOCI. When taking into consideration specific features of 

financial assets in the business of Erste Group, significant areas of judgement are prepayment fees, project financing loans and inter-

est rate adjustments based on the fulfilment of certain ESG-related targets. 

 

The assessment whether the prepayment fees applied to loans can be considered as a reasonable compensation for early terminations 

or prepayments is based on comparing the level of the fees with the economic costs incurred by the bank upon the early termination. 

For these purposes, Erste Group uses a quantitative test where the costs relate to the lost interest margin and the lost interest differ-

ential due to a potential decrease in the interest rates upon early termination or prepayment. The adequacy of the fees can also be 

defended on a qualitative basis, such as common market practice regarding the level of prepayment fees and their acceptance by 

authorities. 

 

For project financing loans Erste Group assesses whether they represent basic loan agreements rather than investments in the fi-

nanced projects. In this respect, credit rating, level of collateralisation, existing sponsor guarantees and the extent of equity funding 

of the financed projects are considered. 

 

In the last years financial assets whose interest is adjusted based on meeting certain ESG-linked targets by the borrowers (e.g. meeting 

specified CO2 emission targets) became part of Erste Group’s business. No specific guidance currently exists in IFRS 9 for assessing 

the SPPI compliance of such features. Erste Group has concluded that ESG-related interest adjustments have a de minimis effect on 

the contractual cash flows. As a result, they do not affect the SPPI assessment.  

ii. Business model assessment 
For each SPPI-compliant financial asset at initial recognition, Erste Group must assess whether it is part of a business model where 

the assets are held in order to collect contractual cash flows, to both collect the contractual cash flows and sell the assets, or they are 
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held in other business models. As a consequence, the critical aspect in distinguishing the business models is frequency and signifi-

cance of sales of assets in the respective business model. Since asset allocation to business models is based on the initial assessment, 

it may happen that in subsequent periods cash flows are realised differently than originally expected, and a different measurement 

method may seem to be appropriate. In accordance with IFRS 9, such subsequent changes do not generally lead to reclassifications 

or prior period error corrections in respect of existing financial assets. The new information on how cash flows are realised may, 

however, indicate that the business model, and thus the measurement method changes for newly acquired or newly originated fi-

nancial assets. 

 

At Erste Group, certain sales or other derecognition events are considered as not contradicting the held to collect contractual cash 

flows business model. Examples are sales due to increases in credit risk, sales close to assets’ maturity, infrequent sales triggered by 

a non-recurring event (such as changes in regulatory or tax environment, major internal reorganisation or a business combination, 

severe liquidity crisis, etc.) or derecognitions resulting from replacements of bonds based on an issuer’s offer. Other kinds of sales 

carried out in the ‘held to collect’ business model are assessed retrospectively, and if they exceed certain quantitative thresholds, or 

whenever it is considered necessary with regard to new expectations, Erste Group performs a prospective test. If the outcome was 

that the carrying amount of assets expected to be sold over the expected life of the current business model portfolio, for reasons other 

than the cases above, exceeds 10% of the carrying amount of the portfolio, any new acquisitions or originations of assets would be 

classified in a different business model. 

iii. Impairment of financial instruments 
The expected credit loss impairment model is inherently based on judgement since it requires assessment of significant increases in 

credit risk and measurement of expected credit losses without providing detailed guidance. In respect of significant increases in credit 

risk, Erste Group has determined specific assessment rules consisting of qualitative information and quantitative thresholds. Another 

area of complexity relates to establishing groups of similar assets when credit risk deterioration has to be assessed on a collective 

basis before specific information is available at individual instrument level. Measurement of expected credit losses involves complex 

models relying on historical statistics of probabilities of default and loss rates in case of defaults, their extrapolations in case of 

insufficient observations, individual estimates of credit-adjusted cash flows and probabilities of various scenarios including forward-

looking information. In addition, the life of the instruments has to be modelled in respect of behavioural life of revolving credit 

facilities. 

 

Detailed disclosures about identification of significant increases in credit risk including collective assessment and estimation tech-

niques used to measure 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses are provided in Note 34 Credit risk. For further information on 

the definition of default refer to Note 37 Measurement of expected credit loss. The development of loan loss provisions is described 

in Note 39 Development of credit loss allowances. 

iv. Financial liabilities stemming from the TLTRO programme of the ECB  
Regarding assessments of whether the TLTRO III liabilities contain government grants, how the effective interest rate is determined 

and how changes in estimated cash flows based on expected fulfillment of eligibility conditions are considered see Note 18 Financial 

liabilities at amortised cost.  
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Financial instruments held at amortised cost  

Financial assets are classified as measured at amortised cost if they are held in a business model whose objective is to collect contrac-

tual cash flows, and their contractual cash flows are SPPI. 

 

On the balance sheet, these assets are carried at amortised cost, i.e. the gross carrying amount net of the credit loss allowance. They 

are presented under the line ‘Financial assets at amortised cost’, ‘Trade and other receivables’ and ‘Cash and cash balances’. 

 

Interest income on these assets is calculated by effective interest method and is included under the line ‘Interest income’ under ‘Net 

interest income’ in the statement of income. Impairment gains or losses are included in the line ‘Impairment result from financial 

instruments’. Gains and losses from derecognition (such as sales) of the assets are reported under the line item ‘Gains/losses from 

derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost’. 

 

At Erste Group, financial assets at amortised cost constitute the largest measurement category, which includes the vast majority of 

loan business to customers (except for certain loans measured at fair value through profit or loss), interbank lending business (in-

cluding reverse repo transactions), deposits with central banks, investments in debt securities, amounts in the course of settlement, 

trade and other receivables. 

 

For description of financial liabilities at measured amortised cost refer to Note 18 Financial liabilities at amortised costs. 

15. Cash and cash balances  

Cash balances include only claims (deposits) against central banks and credit institutions that are repayable on demand. Repayable 

on demand means that they may be withdrawn at any time or with a term of notice of only one business day or 24 hours. A part of 

‘Cash balances at central banks’ represents the mandatory minimum reserve requirement deposits which amounted to 

EUR 5,176 million (2022: EUR 3,990 million) at the reporting date. The mandatory minimum reserve requirement is calculated from 

defined balance sheet items and has to be fulfilled in average through an extended period of time. Therefore, the mandatory minimum 

reserve requirement deposits are not subject to restraints. 

 

in EUR million Dec 22 Dec 23 

Cash on hand 3796 3200 
Cash balances at central banks 31167 32586 
Other demand deposits at credit institutions 722 899 
Cash and cash balances 35685 36685 

16. Financial assets at amortised cost 

DEBT SECURITIES 

Investments in debt securities measured at amortised cost may be acquired with different business objectives (such as fulfilling in-

ternal/external liquidity risk requirements and efficient placement of the structural liquidity surplus, strategic positions decided by 

the board of directors, initiation and fostering of client relationships, substitution of loan business or other yield generating activities). 

Their common attribute is that significant and frequent sales of such securities are not expected. For a description of what sales are 

considered as compliant with the held to collect contractual cash flows business model, see paragraph ‘Business model assessment’ 

in chapter ‘Financial instruments - Material accounting policies’. 
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Gross carrying amounts and credit loss allowances per impairment buckets 

  Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowances   

in EUR million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Carrying 

amount 

Dec 23                   
Central banks 15 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 15 
General governments 34693 100 0 34793 -4 0 0 -5 34788 
Credit institutions 7813 11 0 7824 -4 0 0 -4 7820 
Other financial corporations 364 30 1 395 0 -1 -1 -2 392 
Non-financial corporations 949 84 4 1037 -1 -2 -3 -6 1031 
Total 43834 225 5 44064 -10 -3 -4 -17 44047 
                    
Dec 22                   
Central banks 15 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 15 
General governments 32880 8 0 32889 -9 0 0 -9 32880 
Credit institutions 6505 91 0 6596 -3 -2 0 -5 6591 
Other financial corporations 263 36 1 300 0 -1 -1 -2 298 
Non-financial corporations 669 161 3 834 -1 -3 -2 -6 828 
Total 40333 296 4 40633 -13 -5 -3 -22 40612 

 

For information about the development of credit loss allowances refer to Note 39 Development of credit loss allowances. 

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS 

Gross carrying amounts and credit loss allowances per impairment buckets 

  Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowances   

in EUR million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Carrying 

amount 

Dec 23                   
Central banks 14741 0 0 14741 0 0 0 0 14741 
Credit institutions 6541 162 0 6703 -8 -3 0 -12 6692 
Total 21282 162 0 21444 -8 -3 0 -12 21432 
                    
Dec 22                   
Central banks 13514 0 0 13514 0 0 0 0 13513 
Credit institutions 4859 69 0 4928 -5 0 0 -6 4922 
Total 18373 69 0 18441 -6 0 0 -6 18435 

 

For information about the development of credit loss allowances refer to Note 39 Development of credit loss allowances. 

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 

Gross carrying amounts and credit loss allowances per impairment buckets 

  Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowances   

in EUR million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 
Carrying 

amount 

Dec 23                       
General governments 7706 302 59 10 8077 -5 -19 -5 0 -29 8048 
Other financial 
corporations 4475 697 61 0 5233 -9 -10 -28 0 -47 5186 
Non-financial 
corporations 65767 24730 2452 287 93235 -188 -835 -1082 -60 -2165 91070 
Households 83524 11144 1821 121 96611 -155 -536 -957 -25 -1673 94938 
Total 161472 36873 4393 418 203156 -357 -1401 -2072 -85 -3915 199241 
                        
Dec 22                       
General governments 8456 642 10 2 9110 -4 -28 -1 0 -32 9078 
Other financial 
corporations 4160 1017 101 10 5288 -8 -20 -37 0 -64 5224 
Non-financial 
corporations 63081 24039 2084 238 89443 -162 -773 -1043 -65 -2043 87401 
Households 80691 11821 1689 100 94301 -161 -594 -913 -22 -1690 92611 
Total 156388 37519 3885 350 198143 -335 -1415 -1994 -86 -3830 194313 
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For information about the development of credit loss allowances refer to Note 39 Development of credit loss allowances. 

17. Trade and other receivables 

Gross carrying amounts and credit loss allowances per impairment buckets 

  Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowances   

in EUR million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 
Carrying 

amount 

Dec 23                       
Central banks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
General governments 48 18 0 0 66 0 0 0 0 0 66 
Credit institutions 35 4 0 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 39 
Other financial 
corporations 66 20 0 0 87 0 0 0 0 0 86 
Non-financial 
corporations 1504 781 41 1 2326 -9 -5 -29 -1 -44 2283 
Households 91 20 13 0 125 -2 -5 -12 0 -19 106 
Total 1743 843 55 1 2642 -11 -10 -41 -1 -63 2579 
                        
Dec 22                       
Central banks 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 
General governments 48 15 0 0 63 0 0 0 0 0 63 
Credit institutions 43 2 0 0 44 0 0 0 0 0 44 
Other financial 
corporations 87 8 0 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 95 
Non-financial 
corporations 1364 720 42 1 2127 -7 -6 -31 -1 -45 2082 
Households 100 23 15 0 137 -2 -5 -12 0 -19 118 
Total 1643 768 57 1 2469 -9 -11 -44 -1 -65 2404 

 

For information about development of credit loss allowances refer to Note 39 Development of credit loss allowances. 

18.  Financial liabilities at amortised costs  

The line item ‘Financial liabilities at amortised cost’ is further broken down into ‘Deposits from banks’, ‘Deposits from customers’, 

‘Debt securities issued’ and ‘Other financial liabilities’. 

 

Interest expenses incurred are calculated using effective interest method are reported in the line item ‘Interest expenses’ under ‘Net 

interest income’ in the statement of income. Gains and losses from derecognition (mainly repurchase) are reported under the line 

item ‘Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss’. 

 

Financial liabilities stemming from the TLTRO programme of the ECB are presented under ‘Deposits from banks’. Erste Group as-

sessed an appropriate accounting treatment of the TLTRO. The conclusion was that such instruments do not qualify as below-market 

interest rate loans and therefore are not related to IAS 20 government grants accounting. The reason was that the TLTRO is considered 

as a separate market organised by the ECB as part of its monetary policy. As a result, the IFRS 9 amortised cost accounting treatment 

applies. 

 

Erste Group treats TLTRO as floating rate instruments in respect of changes in the ECB key rates which are the deposit facility rate 

(DFR) and the main refinancing operation rate. Whenever the ECB changes the key rates the effective interest rate of the TLTRO is 

recalculated assuming that the current ECB rate will apply until the end of the respective TLTRO tranche life. If the ECB brings any 

unconditional changes to the TLTRO interest rate other than changes in the key rates, they are treated as catch-up adjustments and 

presented in the net interest income. This also includes changes in the calculation of interest rates. 

 

In October 2022 the ECB announced a change in the method for applying the key ECB rates for TLTRO III tranches. For Erste Group 

this means that the current DFR applied from 23 November 2022 (instead of the average DFR calculated over the entire 3-year life of 

the TLTRO III tranches). This resulted in a recognition of a catch-up loss in the amount of EUR 129 million in 2022. Early redemp-

tions of the tranches in November 2022 resulted in a positive catch-up effect amounting to EUR 6 million. 
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The carrying amount of the TLTRO III liabilities was EUR 6,408 million at the end of 2023 (2022: EUR 15,567 million). The main 

reason for the decrease in 2023 were maturities of TLTRO III tranches in the nominal amount of EUR 8,405 million and early re-

demptions in the nominal amount of EUR 750 million. At 2023 year end Erste Group considered that additional early redemptions 

are not likely. 

 

In 2023 the interest expense recognised for TLTRO III financial liabilities was EUR 242 million. In 2022 the interest expense was 

EUR 141 million and included mainly the catch-up adjustment loss in the amount of EUR 129 million. The negative interest expense 

related to the period of 2022 when the effective interest rate was negative amounted to EUR 91 million. 

Deposits from banks 

in EUR million Dec 22 Dec 23 

Overnight deposits 1951 1969 
Term deposits 25066 16934 
Repurchase agreements 1803 4007 
Deposits from banks 28821 22911 

Deposits from customers 

in EUR million Dec 22 Dec 23 

Overnight deposits 171576 161382 
Savings deposits 46558 51650 

Other financial corporations 222 270 
Non-financial corporations 2050 3268 
Households 44286 48112 

Non-savings deposits 125018 109732 
General governments 7070 7532 
Other financial corporations 7991 5421 
Non-financial corporations 37420 32531 
Households 72537 64248 

Term deposits 49646 67496 
Deposits with agreed maturity 43331 65384 

Savings deposits 21312 29643 
Other financial corporations 1056 783 
Non-financial corporations 1813 2997 
Households 18444 25864 

Non-savings deposits 22019 35741 
General governments 3967 4225 
Other financial corporations 4605 11480 
Non-financial corporations 6924 9723 
Households 6523 10313 

Deposits redeemable at notice 6315 2112 
General governments 5 1 
Other financial corporations 118 132 
Non-financial corporations 278 292 
Households 5913 1687 

Repurchase agreements 1398 3345 
General governments 12 845 
Other financial corporations 1386 2484 
Non-financial corporations 0 16 

Deposits from customers 222620 232223 
General governments 11054 12603 
Other financial corporations 15378 20570 
Non-financial corporations 48485 48826 
Households 147702 150223 
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Debt securities issued 

in EUR million Dec 22 Dec 23 

Subordinated debt securities issued 2945 2549 
Senior non-preferred bonds 1667 4393 
Other debt securities issued 21981 26388 

Bonds  7308 10517 
Certificates of deposit 4008 1988 
Other certificates of deposits/name certificates 121 113 
Mortgage covered bonds 10544 13769 

Debt securities issued 26593 33330 

SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES 

Issued subordinated capital and supplementary capital are either reported in the item Financial liabilities at amortised costs or Fi-

nancial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Securitized and non-securitized assets are subordinated if the claims can only 

be satisfied after the claims of other, non-subordinated creditors in the event of liquidation or bankruptcy. Supplementary capital is 

defined in accordance with Art. 63 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (CRR). Corresponding instruments have an original maturity of 

at least five years, are of a subordinated nature and may not, among other things, contain any incentive for early repayment, grant 

the holder the right to accelerate repayment or include interest or dividend payments that are influenced in their amount by the 

creditworthiness of the issuer. 

Material subordinated liabilities 

Issuer ISIN Nominal value 
 
Currency 

Initial  
fixed rate 

Reset rate after the 
first call date Due 

Call Redemption 
Date 

ERSTE GROUP BANK AG AT0000A2J645 500 million EUR 1625% 5Y swap +2100% 08092031 01042026 
ERSTE GROUP BANK AG AT0000A2YA29 500 million EUR 4000% 5Y swap +2550% 07062033 25012028 
ERSTE GROUP BANK AG XS2083210729 500 million EUR 1000% 5Y swap +1300% 10062030 18032025 

 

In the reporting period, expenses for subordinated liabilities of all measurement categories amounted to EUR 158 million. 
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Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

19. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – debt 
instruments 

Debt instrument financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) if their contractual cash 

flows are SPPI-compliant and they are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both to collect contractual cash 

flows and sell the assets. On the balance sheet, they are included as ‘Debt securities’ under the line ‘Financial asset at fair value 

through other comprehensive income’. 

 

Interest income on these assets is calculated using the effective interest method and is included in the line ‘Interest income’ under 

‘Net interest income’ in the statement of income. Impairment gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the line ‘Impairment 

result from financial instruments’ with opposite loss allowance entry in OCI rather than against the asset value. As a result, the 

measurement impact recognised in profit or loss is the same as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. 

 

The difference between the fair value at which the assets are carried in the balance sheet and the amortised cost component is recog-

nised as accumulated OCI in equity specifically under ‘Fair value reserve’ in the statement of changes in equity. The change for the 

period is reported as OCI in the statement of comprehensive income in the line ‘Fair value reserve of debt instruments’ which also 

includes the loss allowance OCI entry. When the financial asset is derecognised, the amount previously accumulated in OCI is re-

classified to profit or loss and reported under the line ‘Other gains/losses from derecognition of financial instruments not measured 

at fair value through profit or loss’. 

 

Erste Group classifies investments in debt securities as measured at FVOCI, i.e. no loan business is included in this measurement 

category. Similarly to investments in debt securities measured at amortised cost, they relate to various business objectives such as 

fulfilling internal/external liquidity risk requirements and efficient placement of the structural liquidity surplus, strategic positions 

decided by the board of directors, initiation and fostering of client relationships, substitution of loan business or other yield-enhance-

ment activities. The common attribute for investments in debt instruments at FVOCI is that an active yield optimisation via sales is 

integral to achieving the objectives. The sales are carried out in order to optimise the liquidity position or to realise fair value gains 

or losses. As a result, the business objectives are achieved through both collecting contractual cash flows and sales of the securities. 

Gross carrying amounts and credit loss allowances per impairment buckets  

  Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowances       

in EUR million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Amortised 

cost 

Accumu-
lated OCI 
changes 

Fair 
value 

Dec 23                       
General 
governments 6259 14 0 6273 -2 0 0 -2 6271 -31 6240 
Credit institutions 1465 5 0 1470 -2 0 0 -2 1469 11 1479 
Other financial 
corporations 226 4 1 231 0 0 -1 -1 230 -5 225 
Non-financial 
corporations 626 248 2 877 0 -9 0 -9 867 -18 850 
Total 8577 271 3 8851 -5 -9 -1 -14 8837 -43 8794 
                        
Dec 22                       
General 
governments 7079 242 0 7321 -4 -7 0 -10 7311 -295 7016 
Credit institutions 1293 18 0 1311 -2 0 0 -3 1308 -60 1249 
Other financial 
corporations 197 99 1 297 0 0 -1 -2 295 -11 285 
Non-financial 
corporations 548 449 2 1000 -1 -8 -1 -10 990 -79 911 
Total 9117 808 3 9929 -7 -16 -1 -24 9904 -444 9460 

 

For information about the development of credit loss allowances refer to Note 39 Development of credit loss allowances. 



 

 

62

20. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – equity 
instruments 

For certain investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, Erste Group makes use of the option to measure them at 

FVOCI. This election is applied to strategic, significant banking business relationship investments (except for insurance business). 

The fair value gains or losses for the period are reported as OCI in the line ‘Fair value reserve of equity instruments’ of the statement 

of comprehensive income. The cumulative gains or losses are included under ‘Fair value reserve’ in the statement of changes in 

equity. The amount recognised in OCI is never reclassified to profit or loss. However, upon derecognition of the investments in equity 

instruments at FVOCI the amount accumulated in OCI is transferred to retained earnings. Dividends received on these investments 

are reported under the line ‘Dividend income’ of the statement of income. On the balance sheet, financial assets measured at fair 

value through OCI are included as ‘Equity instruments’ under the line ‘Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive 

income’. 

 

The carrying amount of Erste Group’s equity instruments at FVOCI as at 31 December 2023 amounts to EUR 110 million (2022: 

EUR 99 million), the cumulative fair value change for equity instruments FVOCI before taxes recognised in other comprehensive 

income amounted to EUR 66 million (2022: EUR 56 million). During the year 2022 and 2023, no equity instruments FVOCI were 

sold due to strategic business decisions and therefore there was no reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income 

into retained earnings from this circumstance. 
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Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

There are various reasons for assigning the fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) measurement category to debt instrument finan-

cial assets. 

 

FVPL measurement relates to that are part of residual business models, i.e. they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor 

held to either collect contractual cash flows or sell the assets. These financial assets are generally expected to be sold before their 

maturity or they are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. In the business of Erste Group, such business 

models are typical of assets that are held for trading (i.e. financial assets held by the trading function of the bank), of assets whose 

value is expected to be primarily realised through sales, such as loan syndications when the loan is offered for sale on the market. 

Further subject to FVPL measurement are financial assets held by funds consolidated by Erste Group since they are managed and 

their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. 

 

Another reason for the FVPL measurement are financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not considered as SPPI. At Erste 

Group, this concerns certain debt securities and loans to customers. 

 

Erste Group also makes use of the option to designate some financial assets as measured at FVPL at initial recognition. Such a clas-

sification is used if it eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch between fixed interest rate financial assets, which 

in the absence of such a classification would be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI, and related derivatives measured at FVPL. 

 

On the balance sheet, debt instrument financial assets measured at FVPL are presented as ‘Financial assets held for trading’, sub-

item ‘Other financial assets held for trading’ and ‘Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’, sub-items ‘Debt 

securities’ and ‘Loans and advances to customers’. Non-trading financial assets at FVPL consist of two sub-categories disclosed in 

Note 23 Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which are ‘mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss’ 

and ‘designated at fair value through profit or loss’. Financial assets are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 

either because they are held as part of residual business models that are other than held for trading or their contractual cash flows 

are not SPPI. 

 

Investments in equity instruments that are held for trading (i.e. financial assets held by the trading function of the bank) are measured 

at FVPL. They are included in the balance sheet under the line ‘Financial assets held for trading’, sub-item ‘Other financial assets 

held for trading’. Investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading are also measured at FVPL (unless they are desig-

nated at FVOCI). They are presented in the balance sheet under ‘Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’, sub-

item ‘Equity instruments’, sub-category ‘mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss’ in Note 23 Non-trading financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss. 

 

From IFRS 9 perspective all derivatives which are not designated as hedging instruments are considered as held for trading. As a 

result, they are measured at FVPL. They are described in more detail in Note 21 Derivative financial instruments. 

 

In the statement of income, the profit or loss effects of non-derivative financial assets measured at FVPL are split into interest income 

or dividend income and fair value gains and losses. The interest income on debt instruments is presented in the line ‘Other similar 

income’ under ‘Net interest income’ and is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost component of the financial assets. 

The dividend income on equity instruments is presented in the line ‘Dividend income’. The fair value gains or losses are calculated 

net of the interest or dividend income, and they also include transaction costs and origination fees. They are reported in the line ‘Net 

trading result’ for financial assets held for trading and in the line ‘Gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value 

through profit or loss’ in case of non-trading financial assets at FVPL. For investments in funds, which are not consolidated by Erste 

Group, the interest or dividend component is not separated from the fair value gains or losses. 

 

Financial liabilities at FVPL consist of financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated at FVPL. 

 

On the balance sheet, financial liabilities at FVPL are presented as ‘Financial liabilities held for trading’, sub-items ‘Derivatives’ and 

‘Other financial liabilities held for trading’ and as ‘Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ which are further broken 

down into ‘Deposits from customers’, ‘Debt securities issued’ and ‘Other financial liabilities’. Accounting policy related to financial 

liabilities at FVPL can be found in Note 21 Derivative financial instrument, Note 24 Other financial liabilities held for trading and 

Note 25 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
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21. Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are used by Erste Group to manage exposures to interest rates, foreign currencies and other market 

price risks. Derivatives used by Erste Group include mainly interest rate swaps, futures, forward rate agreements, interest rate options, 

currency swaps and currency options as well as credit default swaps. 

 

For presentation purposes, derivatives are split into:  

— Derivatives – held for trading; and  

— Derivatives – hedge accounting. 

 

Hedge accounting derivatives are discussed in Note 27 Hedge accounting. 

 

Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value (dirty price) on the balance sheet. Derivatives are carried as assets if their 

fair value is positive and as liabilities if their fair value is negative. 

 

Derivatives – held for trading are those that are not designated as hedging instruments for hedge accounting. They are presented in 

the line item ‘Derivatives’ under the heading ‘Financial assets/Financial liabilities held for trading’. All kinds of non-hedging deriv-

atives without regard to their internal classification, i.e. both derivatives held in the trading book and banking book, are presented in 

this line item. 

 

Changes in the fair value (clean price) of derivatives – held for trading are reported in the statement of income in the line item ‘Net 

trading result’. Interest income/expense related to held for trading derivatives is presented in the statement of income in the line item 

‘Other similar income’ or ‘Other similar expenses’ under ‘Net interest income’. Interest income/expense recognition is based on EIR-

like accruals in respect of the derivative notional amount and includes amortisation of the inception value of the derivative (e.g. 

upfront fees, if any). 

Embedded derivatives 
Erste Group issues certain financial liabilities which contain structured features. Structured features mean that a derivative is em-

bedded in non-derivative host instruments.  

 

Embedded derivatives that are separated are accounted for as stand-alone derivatives and presented on the balance sheet under the 

line item ‘Derivatives’ in financial assets held for trading and financial liabilities held for trading. At Erste Group, these relate to 

bonds and deposits whose payments are linked to equity prices or FX rates.  

 

In the business of Erste Group, the majority of non-closely related embedded derivatives relates to bonds issued for which fair value 

option has been applied. As a result, these embedded derivatives are part of the measurement of the entire hybrid instrument at 

FVPL and thus are not separated.  

Derivatives held for trading 

  Dec 22 Dec 23 

in EUR million 
Notional  

value 
Positive  

fair value 
Negative  
fair value 

Notional  
value 

Positive  
fair value 

Negative  
fair value 

Derivatives held in the trading book 244708 6490 6607 224717 4699 4737 
Interest rate 178235 5788 5508 165404 4017 3959 
Equity 669 10 10 468 7 22 
Foreign exchange  64992 686 1084 58384 668 744 
Credit 551 5 5 229 4 11 
Commodity 9 0 0 7 0 0 
Other 253 1 1 225 3 1 

Derivatives held in the banking book 25626 554 1003 23988 462 568 
Interest rate 19178 374 850 17760 346 458 
Equity 1334 57 80 1257 66 43 
Foreign exchange  4769 122 68 4663 49 63 
Credit 155 1 1 118 1 0 
Other 190 0 4 190 0 4 

Total gross amounts 270334 7045 7610 248706 5161 5305 
Offset   -5326 -4983   -3899 -3691 
Total   1719 2626   1262 1614 
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Erste Group undertakes a part of interest rate derivative and credit derivative transactions via Clearing Houses. These derivatives and 

related cash margin balances fulfil the requirements for balance sheet offsetting. For more details on balance sheet offsetting please 

refer to Note 28 Offsetting of financial instruments. 

22. Other financial assets held for trading 

in EUR million Dec 22 Dec 23 

Equity instruments 70 146 
Debt securities 5977 7365 

Central banks 3045 3129 
General governments 1575 2200 
Credit institutions 1133 1670 
Other financial corporations 160 286 
Non-financial corporations 64 80 

Other financial assets held for trading 6047 7511 

23. Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

  Dec 22 Dec 23 
in EUR million Designated Mandatorily Designated Mandatorily 

Equity instruments 0 347 0 415 
Debt securities 327 1223 178 1373 

General governments 35 170 0 308 
Credit institutions 286 119 146 125 
Other financial corporations 5 864 33 869 
Non-financial corporations 0 70 0 71 

Loans and advances to customers 1 839 0 1038 
General governments 0 1 0 1 
Other financial corporations 0 26 0 0 
Non-financial corporations 1 33 0 27 
Households 0 779 0 1010 

Financial assets designated and mandatorily at FVPL  328 2408 178 2826 
Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   2735   3004 

 

Erste Group has designated debt securities at FVPL. The maximum exposure to credit risk on these securities is its fair value. The 

cumulative change in fair value due to credit risk of debt securities held at the reporting date amounts to EUR 1 million (2022: 

EUR 6 million) and EUR 0 million (2022: EUR -1 million) for the change in fair value due to credit risk in the reporting period. 

24. Other financial liabilities held for trading 

Non-derivative held for trading liabilities largely comprise short sales. These arise from obligations to return securities, which are 

purchased under agreements to resell or are borrowed through securities lending transactions and subsequently sold to third parties. 

On the balance sheet such liabilities are presented under the line ‘Financial liabilities held for trading’, sub-item ‘Other financial 

liabilities’. The gains or losses on financial liabilities held for trading are reported in the line ‘Net trading result’ in the statement of 

income. 

 

in EUR million Dec 22 Dec 23 

Short positions 585 637 
Equity instruments 129 95 
Debt securities 456 542 

Debt securities issued 52 53 
Other financial liabilities held for trading 637 690 

25. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Erste Group makes use of the option to designate some financial liabilities as measured at FVPL at initial recognition (referred to as 

fair value option) if: 

— such classification eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch between fixed interest rate financial liabilities 

otherwise measured at amortised cost and related derivatives measured at FVPL. Erste Group assesses quantitatively that the 
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designation actually eliminates or significantly reduces the accounting mismatch in respect of fair value changes attributable to 

interest rate risk; or 

— the entire hybrid contract contains a non-closely related embedded derivative. 

 

Financial liabilities designated at FVPL are reported on the balance sheet under the line item ‘Financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss’ and are further broken down into ‘Deposits from customers’, ‘Debt securities issued’ and ‘Other financial liabilities’. 

Other financial liabilities relate to fund units issued by funds consolidated by Erste Group. Interest incurred is calculated by applying 

the EIR to the amortised cost of the financial liability and is reported in the statement of income under in line item ‘Other similar 

expenses’ under ‘Net interest income’. Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value are recognised net of the interest expense 

under the line item ‘Gains/losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss’. 

 

The amount of the fair value change resulting from the credit risk of the financial liability for the period is presented as OCI in the 

statement of comprehensive income in the line ‘Own credit risk reserve’. The cumulative amount is recognised as accumulated OCI, 

specifically under ‘Own credit risk reserve’ in the statement of changes in equity. The amount recognised in OCI is never reclassified 

to profit or loss. However, upon derecognition (mainly repurchases) of the financial liabilities designated at FVPL the amount accu-

mulated in OCI is transferred to retained earnings. 

 

The cumulative amount of the credit risk recognised as accumulated OCI is calculated as the difference between the present value 

of the liability determined by using the original credit spread and the fair value of the liability. The amount of fair value change 

attributable to changes in credit risk of the liability for the period which is recognised in OCI is the difference between the cumulative 

amount of the credit risk at the end of the period and at the beginning of the period. When calculating the present value of the 

liability by using the original credit spread, the rate used for discounting is the sum of the observed interest rate (swap yield curve) 

and the original credit spread. The original credit spread is determined at initial recognition of the liability and it equals the difference 

between the total yield of the liability and the observed interest rate (swap yield curve) at that time. 

Delta between carrying amount and amount repayable for financial liabilities at FVPL  

  Carrying amount Amount repayable  
Delta between carrying amount 

and amount repayable  
in EUR million Dec 22 Dec 23 Dec 22 Dec 23 Dec 22 Dec 23 

Deposits  1353 593 1356 583 -3 10 
Debt securities issued 9310 10429 10268 10869 -958 -440 
Other financial liabilities 151 130 151 130 0 0 
Financial liabilities at FVPL 10814 11152 11775 11583 -960 -430 

Fair value changes that are attributable to changes in own credit risk  

  For reporting period Cumulative amount 
in EUR million 1-12 22 1-12 23 Dec 22 Dec 23 

Deposits  -4 3 -3 -1 
Debt securities issued -234 48 31 81 
Financial liabilities at FVPL -238 51 27 80 

 

The line ‘Other financial liabilities’ contains fund units issued by investment funds fully consolidated by Erste Group. Their fair value 

changes are subject to asset-specific performance risk only and are not dependent on changes in the individual own credit risk of the 

respective investment funds. 

Debt securities issued 

in EUR million Dec 22 Dec 23 

Subordinated debt securities issued 1991 2016 
Other debt securities issued 7319 8413 

Bonds  5416 6128 
Other certificates of deposits/name certificates 815 1069 
Mortgage covered bonds 962 1089 
Public sector covered bonds 126 126 

Debt securities issued 9310 10429 

 

In the reporting period, a gain of EUR 2 million (2022: loss of EUR 4 million) before taxes was transferred from own credit risk reserve 

to retained earnings due to the repurchase of debt securities (own issues) issued.  
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Financial instruments – other disclosure matters  

26. Fair value of financial instruments 

The measurement of fair value at Erste Group is based primarily on external sources of data (stock market prices or broker quotes in 

highly liquid market segments). Financial instruments for which the fair value is determined on the basis of quoted market prices 

are mainly listed securities and listed derivatives as well as liquid OTC bonds. 

 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the balance sheet cannot be derived from active markets, 

they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models 

are derived from observable market data where possible, but where observable market data is not available judgement is required to 

establish fair values. Using of unobservable inputs is particularly relevant for models used for valuations of loans and unquoted 

equity investments. Disclosures on valuation models, the fair value hierarchy and fair values of financial instruments can be found 

subsequently. 

 

For all financial instruments the fair value is measured on recurring basis.  

Financial instruments carried at fair value 

DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION MODELS AND PARAMETERS 

Erste Group uses valuation models that have been tested internally and for which the valuation parameters (such as interest rates, 

exchange rates, volatilities and credit spreads) have been determined independently. 

 

Loans. Not SPPI compliant loans are to be valued at fair value. The methodology to compute fair value of these loans corresponds to 

the basic present value technique. The credit risk is recognized by adjusting contractual cash flows to come to expected cash flows 

accounting for customer’s probability of default (‘PD’) and loss given default (‘LGD’). These adjusted cash flows are then discounted 

by a yield curve which consists of a risk-free rate and a funding spread for senior unsecured issues. 

 

Debt securities. For plain vanilla (fixed and floating rate) debt securities the fair value is calculated by discounting the future cash 

flows using a discounting curve depending on the interest rate for the respective issuance currency and a spread adjustment. The 

spread adjustment is usually derived from the credit spread curve of the issuer. If no issuer curve is available the spread is derived 

from a proxy instrument and adjusted for differences in the risk profile of the instruments. If no close proxy is available, the spread 

adjustment is estimated using other information, including estimation of the credit spread based on internal ratings and PDs or 

management judgment. For more complex debt securities (e.g. including option-like features such as callable, cap/floor, index-linked) 

the fair value is determined using combinations of discounted cash flow models and more sophisticated modeling techniques includ-

ing methods described for OTC-derivatives. 

 

Equity instruments. For non-trading equity instruments which do not have quoted market prices in an active market the fair value 

is determined by standard valuation models using also unobservable input parameters. These models include the adjusted net asset 

value method, the simplified income approach, the dividend discount model and the comparable company multiple method. 

 

The adjusted net asset method requires an investor to measure the fair value of the individual assets and liabilities recognized in an 

investee’s statement of financial position as well as the fair value of any unrecognized assets and liabilities at the measurement date. 

The resulting fair values of the recognized and unrecognized assets and liabilities should therefore represent the fair value of the 

investee’s equity. 

 

The dividend discount model assumes that the price of equity instruments issued by an entity equals the present value of all its 

expected future dividends in perpetuity. Similar to the dividend discount model, the simplified income approach estimates the fair 

value based on the future income. However, it can be used also when only one year planned income is available. The simplified 

income approach and the dividend discount model discount future income and dividends using the cost of equity. The cost of equity 

is dependent on the risk-free rate, the market risk premium, the levered beta and the country risk premium. The levered beta is 

derived from the industry classification which is published and maintained by Damodaran. 

 

In rare cases, techniques for non-trading equity instruments may also include comparable company multiple methods. These are 

valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving comparable company 
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peers of an investee to derive a valuation multiple from which the indicated fair value of the investee’s equity or enterprise value can 

be inferred. 

 

Liabilities. For issued debt securities where the fair value cannot be retrieved from quoted market prices, the fair value is calculated 

by discounting the future cash flows. Significant input factors for the spread adjustment of Erste Group’s own credit risk for the 

respective seniority class are credit spreads derived from liquid benchmark bonds and additional indications from external invest-

ments banks, which are provided on a regular basis. The applied spreads are validated on a regular basis from an independent Risk 

Management unit. In case of issued securities with structured features, optionality is taken into account as well when calculating the 

fair value. 

 

OTC-derivative financial instruments. Derivative instruments traded in liquid markets (e.g. interest rate swaps and options, for-

eign exchange forward and options, options on listed securities and indices, credit default swaps and commodity swaps) are valued 

by using standard valuation models. These models include discounting cash flow models, option models of the Black-Scholes and 

Hull-White type as well as hazard rate models. Models are calibrated on quoted market data (including implied volatilities). Valuation 

models for more complex instruments also use Monte-Carlo simulation. For instruments in less liquid markets, data obtained from 

less frequent transactions or extrapolation techniques are used. For determining the fair value of collateralised derivatives a discount-

ing interest rate reflecting the interest rate of the corresponding cash collateral is used. 

 

Erste Group values derivatives at mid-market levels. To reflect the potential bid-ask-spread of the relevant positions an adjustment 

based on market liquidity is performed. The adjustment parameters depend on product type, currency, maturity, liquidity and no-

tional size. Parameters are reviewed on a regular basis or in case of significant market moves.  

 

Credit value adjustments (CVA) for counterparty risk and debit value adjustments (DVA) for own default credit risk are applied to 

OTC derivatives. For the CVA the adjustment is driven by the expected positive exposure of the derivative and the probability of 

default of the counterparty. The DVA is driven by the expected negative exposure of the derivative and Erste Group’s probability of 

default. The modeling of the expected exposure is based on option replication strategies or Monte-Carlo simulation techniques. 

 

The accumulated CVA-adjustments amounted to EUR 14 million (2022: EUR 11 million) and the total DVA-adjustment amounted to 

EUR 12 million (2022: EUR 21 million). 

 

Based on an analysis carried out by Erste Group it was decided that for the valuation of OTC derivatives no Funding Value Adjustment 

(‘FVA’) would be considered. 

VALIDATION AND CONTROL 

The responsibility for valuation of financial instruments measured at fair value is independent of the trading units. In addition, Erste 

Group has implemented an independent validation function in order to ensure separation between units responsible for model de-

velopment, fair value measurement and validation. The aim of independent model validation is to evaluate model risks arising from 

the models’ theoretical foundation, the appropriateness of input data (market data) and model calibration. 

Fair value hierarchy 

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value are categorized under the three levels of the IFRS fair value hierarchy. 

LEVEL 1 OF THE FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 

Level 1 measurements include exchange traded derivatives (options), shares, government bonds as well as other bonds and funds, 

which are traded in highly liquid and active markets. 

LEVEL 2 OF THE FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 

In case a market quote is used for valuation but due to restricted liquidity the market does not qualify as active (derived from available 

market liquidity indicators) the instrument is classified as Level 2. If no market prices are available the fair value is measured by 

using valuation models which are based on observable market data. For Level 2 valuations typically yield curves, credit spreads and 

implied volatilities are used as observable market parameters. 

 

Level 2 measurements include OTC derivatives, theoretically priced exchange traded derivatives, less liquid shares, bonds and funds 

as well as asset backed securities (ABS), collateralized debt obligations (CDO), own issues and deposits. 
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LEVEL 3 OF THE FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 

If any unobservable input in the valuation model is significant or the price quote used is updated infrequently the instrument is 

classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Typically credit spreads derived from internally calculated historical probability of 

default (PD) and loss given default (LGD) measures are used as unobservable parameters. Furthermore, internally calculated cost of 

equity and adjustments made on the equity (in the adjusted net asset value method) are unobservable parameters for the valuation 

of non-trading equity instruments. 

 

The volume of Level 3 financial assets can be allocated to the following categories: 

— Derivatives where the credit value adjustment (CVA) has a material impact and is calculated based on unobservable parameters 

(i.e. internal estimates of PDs and LGDs). 

— Illiquid bonds, shares, participations and funds not quoted in an active market where either valuation models with non-observable 

parameters have been used (e.g. credit spreads) or broker quotes have been used that cannot be allocated to Level 1 or Level 2. 

— Loans which do not comply with the contractual cash flow criteria. 

— Fund units issued by investment funds fully consolidated by Erste Group as well as own issues, if price updates are not provided 

on a regular basis 

 

The allocation of the appropriate level of positions is determined at the end of the reporting period. 

 

A reclassification from Level 1 into Level 2 or Level 3 as well as vice versa will be performed if the financial instrument does no longer 

meet the criteria described above for the respective level. 

Classification of financial instruments carried at fair value by levels of the fair value 
hierarchy 

  Dec 22 Dec 23 
in EUR million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Assets                 
Financial assets HfT 1829 5624 313 7766 2816 5817 139 8773 

Derivatives 10 1677 32 1719 1 1186 75 1262 
Other financial assets HfT 1820 3947 281 6047 2816 4631 64 7511 

Non-trading financial assets at FVPL 1337 200 1198 2735 1404 156 1444 3004 
Equity instruments 37 33 277 347 65 17 333 415 
Debt securities 1300 167 82 1549 1339 139 73 1551 
Loans and advances 0 0 839 839 0 0 1038 1038 

Financial assets at FVOCI 7878 1284 398 9560 7319 1194 392 8905 
Equity instruments 1 0 98 99 1 0 109 110 
Debt securities 7877 1283 300 9460 7318 1193 283 8794 

Hedge accounting derivatives 0 155 3 159 0 183 0 183 
Total assets 11044 7263 1912 20219 11540 7350 1975 20864 
                  
Liabilities                 
Financial liabilities HfT 585 2667 12 3264 607 1687 10 2304 

Derivatives 8 2608 11 2626 3 1600 10 1614 
Other financial liabilities HfT 578 59 1 637 603 86 0 690 

Financial liabilities at FVPL 0 10663 151 10814 0 11152 0 11152 
Deposits from customers 0 1353 0 1353 0 593 0 593 
Debt securities issued 0 9310 0 9310 0 10429 0 10429 
Other financial liabilities 0 0 151 151 0 130 0 130 

Hedge accounting derivatives 0 372 0 372 0 286 0 286 
Total liabilities 585 13702 163 14451 607 13125 10 13742 

 

Derivatives transacted via Clearing Houses are presented after netting in compliance with their balance sheet treatment. The netted 

derivatives are allocated to Level 2. 

VALUATION PROCESS FOR FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CATEGORISED AS LEVEL 3 

The valuation of financial instruments categorized as Level 3 involves one or more significant inputs that are not directly observable 

on the market. Additional price verification steps need to be done. These may include reviewing relevant historical data and bench-

marking for similar transactions, among others. This involves estimation and expert judgment. Further details regarding input pa-

rameters used and the results of the sensitivity analysis are disclosed in the sub-chapter Unobservable inputs and sensitivity analysis 

for Level 3 measurements below. 


































































































































































































































































